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PREFACE

et

ToE following list represents the works of the last
century which I have consulted to write this Life of
Lord Clive :

Orme’s History of Indostan (original edition);
The Siyarw-l Muta-akherin of Ghuldm Husain Khan
(Review of Modern Times), translated copy; Cam-
bridge’s War in India (containing the Journal of
Stringer Lawrence); The Memoir of Dupleix (in
French); Grose’s Voyage to the East Indies; Ive's
Voyage and Historical Narrative; Transactions im
India from the commencement of the French War in
1756 (published in 1786); Caraccioli's Life of Lord
Clive; Vansittart's Narrative of the Tramsactions
in Bengal; Ironside’s Narrative of the Military
Transactions in Bengal in 1760-1; Verelst’'s
English Government in Bengal; some numbers of
the Asiatic Annual Register ; Kindersley’s Letters ;
and Scrafton’s Letters ; and, for the earlier period—
that displaying the period immediately preceding and
following the dawn of genius—the recently written
extracts from the Madras records by Mr. G. W. Forrest.

Of works of scarcely less value published during
the present century, I have consulted the admirable
volumes by Colonel Mark Wilks, which bring the
History of Southern India down to the storming of
Seringapatam in1799; The Journal of Captain Dalton,



6 PREFACE

one of the heroes of Trichinopoli, written at the period
of Clive’s early victories, but only given to the world,
with a memoir of his career, in 1886 ; Lord Stanhope’s
History of England; Maleolm’s Life of Clive; and
above all, that mine of wealth to a searcher into the
details of Clive’s services in Bengal, Colonel Broome’s
History of the Bengal Avmy. Colonel Broome was
my intimate and valued friend. He knew more about
the history of the rise of the English in India than
any man I ever met. He had made the subject a life-
study. He had read every tract, however old, every
letter, however difficult to decipher, every record of the
period up to and beyond the time of Job Charnock,
and he was a past-master of his subject. He had col-
lected an enormous mass of materials, the more bulky
of which were dispersed at his untimely death. But I
have seen and handled them, and I can state most
positively, from my own knowledge, that every item
of importance culled from them is contained in the
admirable volume to which I have referred, and which
was published in 1850. There is, alas, only that
volume. Colonel Broome had set apart a vast mass of
materials for his second, and had resolved to complete
the work at Simla, to which place he was proceeding
for the summer of, I think, 1870. But, in the course
of transit, the box containing the materials was myste-
riously spirited away, and I have not heard that it
was ever found. From the nature of the documents
collected I cannot but regard the loss as irreparable.

(. B. MALLESON.



CHAP.

I
11
III.

IV

VI.

VLI
VIII.
IX.

XI.
XII.
XIII.

CONTENTS

EARLY YEARS.
SouTHERN INDIA IN 1744

How THE WAR IN THE KARNATIK AFFECTED THE
FRENCH AND ENGLISH SETTLEMENTS

How THE FORTUNES OF ROBERT CLIVE WERE AFFECTED
BY THE HOSTILITIES BETWEEN THE FRENCH AND
ENGLISH IN SOUTHERN INDIA

COLIVE DECIDES FOR THE CAREER OF A SOLDIER

Tue First YEAR OF SOLDIERING AT TRICHINOPOLI
AND ARCOT

¢Tur SWELL AND DasH or A MieHty WAVE’
CLIVE IN ENGLAND; AND IN BENGAL
Tue BATTLE OoF PLASSEY

How CLIVE DEALT WITH THE SPOILS OF PLASSEY:
HIS DEALINGS WITH MiR JAFAR; WITH THE
PRINCES OF SOUTHERN INDIA ; WITH THE DUTCH

TaE SEcoND VIsiT oF CLiveE 10 ENGLAND
Tre REleN oF MISRULE IN BENGAL

TaE PURIFYING OF BENGAL

PAGES
9-15

16~-22

3241
42-50

51-59
6o-74
75-89
90—-106

107-137
138-148
149-158
159-17



8 CONTENTS

CHAP,

XIV. TaE Poumican AND ForereN Poricy or LorD CLIVE :
H1s ARMY-ADMINISTRATION AND ITS CONSE-
QUENCES

XV. THE RETURN OF THE CONQUEROR-STATESMAN, AND THE
RECEPTION ACCORDED TO HIM BY HIS COUNTRY-
MEN : HIS STRUGGLES ; AND HIS DEATH

INDEX

NOTE

PAGES

171-191

192-212

213-229

The orthography of proper names follows the system adopted by
the Indian Government for the Imperial Gazetteer of India. That
system, while adhering to the popular spelling of very well-known
places, such as Punjab, Poona, Deccan, &c., employs in all other

cases the vowels with the following uniform sounds :—

a, as in woman: d, as in father: ¢, as in kin: 4, as in intrigue :

0, as in cold : u, as in bull : 4%, as in rural.



LORD : CLIFKE

e

CHAPTER I
EARLY YEARS

TowARDS the close of the year 1744 there landed at
Madras, as writer in the service of the East India
Company, a young Englishman just entering the
‘twentieth year of his existence, named Robert Clive.

The earlier years of the life of this young man had
not been promising. Born at Styche, near Market
Drayton, in Shropshire, he had been sent, when three
years old, to be cared for and educated at Manchester,
by a gentleman who had married his mother’s sister,
Mr. Bayley of Hope Hall. The reason for this
arrangement, at an age so tender, is not known. One
seeks for it in vain in the conduct and character of
his parents; for although his father is described as
iragseible and violent, his mother was remarkable for
her good sense and sweet temper. To her, Clive was
wont to say, he owed more than to all his schools.
But he could have seen but little of her in those early
days, for his home was always with the Bayleys, even
after the death of Mr. Bayley, and he was ever treated
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there with kindness and consideration. After one or
two severe illnesses, which, it is said, affected his con-
stitution in after life, the young Robert, still of tender
years, was sent to Dr. Eaton’s private school at Lostocke
.in Cheshire : thence, at eleven, he was removed to Mr.
Burslem's at Market Drayton. With this gentleman
he remained a few years, and was then sent to have
a brief experience of a public school at Merchant
Taylors’. Finally, he went to study at a private
school kept by Mr. Sterling in Hertfordshire. There
he remained until, in 1743, he was nominated to be
a writer in the service of the East India Company.

The chief characteristics of Robert Clive at his
several schools had been boldness and insubordination.
He would not learn: he belonged to a ¢ fighting caste’;
he was the leader in all the broils and escapades of
schoolboy life ; the terror of the masters; the spoiled
darling of his schoolmates. He learned, at all events,
how to lead: for he was daring even to recklessness ;
never lost his head; was calmest when the danger
was greatest ; and displayed in a hundred ways his
predilection for a career of action.

It is not surpriging, then, that he showed the
strongest aversion to devote himself to the study
which would have qualified him to follow his father’s
profession. A seat at an attorney’s desk, and the
drudgery of an attorney’s life, were to him as distaste-
ful as they proved to be, at a later period, to the
eldest son of Isaac Disraeli. He would have a career
which promised action. If such were not open to him
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in his native land, he would seek for it in other parts
of the world. When, then, his father, who had some
interest, and who had but small belief in his eldest
son, procured for him the appointment of writer in
the service of the East India Company, Robert Clive
accepted it with avidity.

Probably if he had had the smallest idea of the
nature of the duties which were associated with that
office, he would have refused it with scorn. He panted,
I have said, for a life of action: he accepted a career
which was drudgery under a tropical sun, in its most
uninteresting form. The Company in whose service
he entered was simply a trading corporation. Its
territory in India consisted of but a few square miles
round the factories its agents had established, and for
which they paid an annual rental to the native govern-
ments. They had but a small force, composed prin-
cipally of the children of the soil, insufficiently armed,
whose chief duties were escort duties and the manning
of the ill-constructed forts which protected the Com-
pany’s warehouses. The idea of aggressive warfare
had never entered the heads even of the boldest of the
English agents. They recognized the native ruler of
the province in which lay their factories as their over-
lord, and they were content to hold their lands from
him on the condition of protection on his part, and of
good behaviour and punctual payment of rent on their
own. For the combative energies of a young man
such as Robert Clive there was absolutely no field on
Indian soil. The duties devolving on a writer were
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the duties of a clerk ; to keep accounts ; to take stock;
to make advances; to ship cargoes; to see that no
infringement of the Company’s monopoly should occur.
He was poorly paid ; his life was a life of dull routine ;
and, although after many years of toil the senior
clerks were sometimes permitted to trade on their
own account and thus to make large fortunes, the
opportunity rarely came until after many years of
continuous suffering, and then generally when the
climate had exhausted the man’s energies.

To a young man of the nature of Robert Clive such
a life could not be congenial. And, in fact, he hated
it from the outset. He had left England early in
1743 ; his voyage had been long and tiring: the ship
on which he sailed had put in at Rio, and was de-
tained there nine months ; it remained anchored for
ashorter period in St. Simon’s Bay ; and finally reached
Madras only at the close of 1744. The delays thus
occurring completely exhausted the funds of the young
writer : he was forced to borrow at heavy interest
from the captain: the friend at Madras, to whom he
had letters of introduction, had quitted that place.
The solitary compensating advantage was this, that
his stay at Rio had enabled him to pick up a smatter-
ing of Portuguese.

We see him, at length arrived, entering upon those
hard and uninteresting duties to undertake which he
had refused a life of far less drudgery in England in
a congenial climate and under a sun more to be desired
than dreaded. Cast loose in the profession he had
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selected, separated from relatives and friends, he had
no choice but to enter upon the work allotted to him.
This he did sullenly and with no enthusiasm. How
painful was even this perfunctory performance ; how
keenly he felt the degradation—for such he deemed it
—may be judged from the fact recorded by his contem-
poraries and accepted by the world, that for a long time
he held aloof from his companions and his superiors.
These in their turn ceased after a time to notice
a young man so resolute to shun them. And although
with time came an approach to intercourse, there
never was cordiality. It is doubtful, however, whether
in this description there has not mingled more than
a grain of exaggeration. We have been told of
his wayward nature: we have read how he insulted
a  superior functionary, and when ordered by the
Governor to apologize, complied with the worst pos-
sible grace: how, when the pacified superior, wishing
to heal the breach, asked him to dinner, he refused
with the words that although the Governor had ordered
him to apologize, he did not command him to dine
with him: how, one day, weary of his monotonous
existence, and suffering from impecuniosity, he twice
snapped a loaded pistol at his head; how, on both
occasions; there was a misfire; how, shortly after-
wards, a companion, entering the room, at Clive’s
request pointed the pistol outside the window and
pulled the trigger; how the powder ignited, and how
then Clive, jumping to his feet, exclaimed, ¢ I feel I am
reserved for better things.’
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These stories have been told with an iteration which
would seem to stamp them as beyond contradiction.
But the publication of Mr. Forrest's records of the
Madras Presidency (1890) presents a view altogether
different. The reader must understand that the Board
at Fort St. David—at that time the ruling Board in
the Madras Presidency—is reporting, for transmission
to Europe, an account of a complaint of assault made
by the Rev. Mr. Fordyce against Clive.

Tt would appear from this that Mr. Fordyce was
a coward and a bully, besides being in many other
respects an utterly unfit member of society. It had
come to Clive’s ears that this man had said of him, in
the presence of others, that he, Clive, was a coward
and a scoundrel ; that the reverend gentleman had
shaken his cane over him in the presence of Mr. Levy
Moses ; and had told Captain Cope that he would
break every bone in his (Clive's) skin. In his deposi-
tion Clive stated that these repeated abuses so irritated
him, ¢ that he could not forbear, on meeting Mzr. For-
dyce at Cuddalore, to reproach him with his behaviour,
which, he told him, was so injurious he could bear it
no longer, and thereupon struck him two or three
times with his cane, which, at last, Mr. Fordyce
returned and then closed in with him, but that they
were presently parted by Captain Lucas.’

The Board, in giving its judgement on the case,
recapitulated the many offences committed by
Mr. Fordyce, the great provocation he had given to
(Clive, and suspended him. With regard to Clive they
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recorded: ‘lest the same,” the attack on Fordyece, ‘should
be to Mr. Clive’s prejudice, we think it not improper
to assure you that he is generally esteemed a very
quiet person and no ways guilty of disturbances.’” It
is to be inferred from this account that, far from
deserving the character popularly assigned to him,
Clive, in the third year of his residence in India, was
regarded by his superiors as a very quiet member of
society.

Still, neither the climate nor the profession suited
him. ‘I have not enjoyed, he wrote to one of his
cousins, ‘a happy day since I left my native country.’
In other letters he showed how he repented bitterly
of having chosen a career so uncongenial. Gradually,
however, he realized the folly of kicking against the
pricks. He associated more freely with his colleagues,
and when the Governor, Mr. Morse, sympathizing with
the young man eating out his heart from ennui, opened
to him the door of his considerable library, he found
some relief to his sufferings. These, at last, had reached
their term. Before Clive had exhausted all the books
thus placed at his disposal, events occurred which
speedily opened to. him the career for which he had
panted.



CHAPTER II
SOUTHERN INDIA IN 1744

It will contribute to the better understanding of
the narrative of the events which plunged the English
into war in 1745, if we take a bird’s-eye view of the
peninsula generally, particularly of the southern por-
tion, as it appeared in the year preceding.

Of India generally it is sufficient to say that from
the year 1707, when the Emperor Aurangzeb died,
authority had been relaxing to an extent which was
rapidly bringing about the disruption of the bonds
that held society together. The invasion of Nadir
Shéh followed by the sack of Delhi in 1739 had given
the Mughal dynasty a blow from which it never
rallied. Thenceforward until 1761, when the third
battle of Pénipat completed the catastrophe, the
anarchy was almost universal. Authority was to
the strongest. The Sallustian motto, ¢ Alieni appetens
sui profusus, was the rule of almost every moble;
the agriculturists had everywhere abundant reason
to realize ‘that the buffalo was to the man who held
the bludgeon!’

1 The late Lord Lawrence used to tell me that when he was
Acting Magistrate and Collector of Pdnipat in 1836, the natives

were in the habit of describing the lawlessness of the period which
ceased in 1818 by using the expressive phrase I have quoted.
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The disorder had extended to the part of India
south of the Vindhyan range which was then known
under the comprehensive term of the Deccan. When
Aurangzeb had conquered many Stibahs, or provinces,
of Southern India, he had placed them under one
officer, to be nominated by the Court of Delhi, and
to be called Stibahd4r, or chief of the province. As
disorder spread after his death the Sibahdérs and
inferior chiefs generally began to secure themselves
in the provinces they administered. The invasion of
Nadir Shdh made the task generally easy. In the
Deccan especially, Chin Kilich Khén, the chief of
a family which had served with consideration under
Akbar and his successors, whose father had been
a favourite of Aurangzeb, who had himself served
under that sovereign, and who had obtained from
the successors of Aurangzeb the titles of Nizém-ul-
Mulk and Asaf J4h, took steps to make the Sibahdér-
ship of Southern India hereditary in his family. The
territories comprehended under the term ¢Deccan’
did not, it must be understood, include the whole of
Southern India. Mysore, Travancore, Cochin were
independent. But they comprehended the whole of
the territories known now as appertaining to the
Nizém, with some additions; the country known as
the ¢ Northern Ciredrs’; and the Karnatik.

But the Karndtik was not immediately under the
government of the Stibahddr. It was a subordinate
territory, entrusted to a Nawéb, bounded to the north
by the river Gundlakamma ; on the west by the chain

" B
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of mountains which separate it from Mysore; to the
south by the possessions of the same kingdom (as it
then was) and by Tanjore; to the east by the sea.
I have not mentioned the kingdom of Trichinopoli
to the south, for the Nawédbs of the Karndtik claimed
that as their own, and, as we shall see, had occupied
the fortress of that name during the period, prior to
1744, of which I am writing.

It will be seen then, that, at this period, whilst the
nominal ruler of the Deccan was Chin Kilich Khén,
better known as Nizdm-ul-Mulk, as I shall hereafter
style him, the Nawdb of the Karnétik, who ruled the
lands bordering on the sea, including the English
settlement of Madras and the French settlement of
Pondicherry, was a very powerful subordinate. The
office he held had likewise come to be regarded as
hereditary. And it was through the failure of the
hereditary line, that the troubles came, which gave to
Robert Clive the opportunity to develop the qualities
which lay dormant within him.

Before I proceed to describe those events, it seems
advisable to say a few words regarding the two settle-
ments to which I have just referred ; of the principles
which actuated their chiefs; and of the causes which
brought them into collision.

The English had made a first settlement on the
Coromandel coast in the year 1625 at a small place,
some thirty-six miles to the south of Madras, known
now as Armagon. Seven years later they obtained
from the Réja of Bisnagar a small grant of land, called
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by the natives Chennapatanam from the village con-
tained thereon. They re-named the place Madras,
and built there a fort round their storehouses which
they named Fort St. George. In 1653 the Company
in London raised the agency at Madras to the position
and rank of a Presidency. Towards the end of the
seventeenth century the establishment there counted
a population of 300,000 souls. In 1744 the town con-
sisted of three divisions: that to the south (the White
Town) extending about four hundred yards in length
from north to south, and about one hundred yards in
breadth. There resided the Europeans, mainly English.
They had there about fifty houses, two churches, one
of them Catholic; likewise the residence of the chief
of the factory. All these were within the enclosure
called Fort St. George. That somewhat pompous title
represented merely a slender wall, defended by four
bastions and as many batteries, very slight and de-
feetive in their construction, and with no outworks to
defend them. This division was generally known as
the ‘White Town.” To the north of it, and contiguous,
was another division, much larger and worse fortified,
principally tenanted by Armenian and Indian mer-
chants, called the Black Town. Beyond this, again to
the north, was a suburb, where the poorer natives
resided. These three divisions formed Madras. There
were likewise to the south, about a mile distant from
the White Town, two other large villages, inhabited
solely by natives ; but these were not included within
that term. The English at this period did not exceed
B2
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three hundred in number, and of these two-thirds were
soldiers, but few of whom had seen a shot fired %

The English colony in Madras was a trading colony.
Not one of its members, up to this period, had the
smallest thought of embroiling their presidency in the
disputes which were frequent amongst the native
chieftains. They wished to be let alone; to remain
at peace; to conciliate friendship and goodwill. They
were content to acknowledge the lords of the soil as
their masters ; to pay for the protection they enjoyed
at their hands by a willing obedience; to ward off
their anger by apologies and presents.

But there was a French colony also on the same
coast, and in that a different policy had begun to pre-
vail. In the year 1672 the King of Bijapur had sold
to some French traders, led by a very remarkable man,
Francis Martin, a tract of land on the Coromandel
coast, eighty-six miles to the south-south-west of
Madras. On this tract, close to the sea, was a little
village called by the natives Puducheri. This the
French settlers enlarged and beautified, and made
their chief place of residence and trade. By degrees
the name was corrupted to Pondicherry, a title under
which it became famous, and under which it is still
known.

So long as M. Martin lived, the policy of the French
settlers was similar to that of the English at Madras.
Nor did it immediately change when Martin died
(December 30, 1706). Up to 1735, when M. Benoit

' Vide Orme’s History of Indostan (Edition 1773), vol. i. p. 65,
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Dumas was appointed Governor-General of the French
possessions in India (for they had besides possessions
on the Malabar coast and at Chandranagar, on the
Hfagli, in Bengal) it was in no way departed from.
M. Dumas, however, almost immediately after his
assumption of office, adopted the policy of allying
himself closely with native princes; of taking part
in their wars; with the view of reaping therefrom
territorial and pecuniary advantage. This policy,
of which he was the inventor, was, we shall see,
carried to the most extreme length by his successor,
M. Dupleix. »

Tt will clear the ground for the reader if we add
that the prosperity of the rival settlements was greatly
affected by the action of their respective principals in
Europe. On this point all the advantages lay with
the English. For, whilst the Company of the Indies
at Paris, and, it must be added, the French Govern-
ment likewise, starved their dependency in India, and
supplied them with inefficient and often ill-timed
assistance, the East India Company, and the Govern-
ment of the King of England, made a far better
provision for the necessities of Madras.

Tt must, however, in candour be admitted that at
the outset the French were better supplied with men
and money than the English. Until the importance
of the quarrel was recognized in Europe it became
then a contest between the natural qualities of the
men on the spot—a test of the capabilities of the
races they represented.
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1 turn now, after this brief explanation of the posi-
tion in Southern India in 1744, to describe the causes
which led to the catastrophe which supervened very
shortly after the arrival in India of the hero of this
history.



CHAPTER III

How THE WAR 1IN THE KARNATIK AFFECTED THE
FrENCH AND ENGLISH SETTLEMENTS

THE trouble came from the Karndtik. The family
of the chief who had held the position of Nawéb at
the time of the death of Aurangzeb had adopted the
new fashion, then becoming universal, of making the
post hereditary in his family. Saédat-ulli Khén,
the Naw4b in question, had himself been regularly
appointed in 1710 by the court of Delhi. After a
peaceful rule of twenty-two years he had died (1732)
without issue, after having appointed his nephew,
Dost Alf, to succeed him as Nawdb, the younger
brother of Dost Ali, Bakar Ali, to be governor of the
fort and distriet of Vellore; and Ghuldm Husén, the
nephew of his favourite wife, better known as Chénda
S#hib, to be Diwén, or prime minister, to his suc-
Cessor, v

These dispositions were carried out. But they
were by no means pleasing to the Stbahdar of the
Deccan, the Nizdm-ul-Malk to whom the reader has
been introduced. That eminent nobleman was not
content that his subordinates should act as he was
prepared to act himself. His sanction had not been
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obtained to the transaction. He used then his influence
at Delhi to prevent the confirmation which, even in
those disturbed times, every chieftain sought to
obtain for every act of spoliation. For the moment
he proceeded no further, He was content to leave
Dost Ali in the position of a nobleman ruling without
“the authority of his liege lord, himself, or of the
master of both, the court of Delhi.

Nizdm-ul-Mlk had justly thought that time would
avenge him. Four years after his accession, the
death of the ruler of Trichinopoli induced Dost
Ali to send an army under his son Safdar Ali and
his Diwén Chdnda Séhib, to capture that fortress.
Under the pretence of collecting revenue these two
princes visited Madras and Pondicherry in their pro-
gress southwards, and at the latter place Chénda
Séhib entered into those intimate relations with the
French which were to influence greatly the events
which were to follow. They proceeded thence to
Trichinopoli and took possession of the fortress, the
widowed queen having, it is said, fallen in love with
Chénda Séhib. The latter remained there as governor,
whilst Safdar Ali returned to his father at Arcot.

The new Diwén appointed in the place of Chénda
Sahib, Mir Asad, began at once to insinuate charges
of ambition against his predecessor, and expressed
his opinion that Chanda S#hib, once ruler of Trichi-
nopoli, would not easily let go his hold. In this
opinion he was supported by the Naw4b’s eldest son,
Safdar Jang. Doubtless they were right, but their
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utterances, freely expressed, served only to put
Chdnda Sahib on his guard; and he commenced to
store the fortress with provisions.

The acquisition of Trichinopoli by the Nawib of
the Karnatik had served only to inflame the mind
of hig liege lord, Nizdm-ul-Mdalk, against him. For
a time, however, the disorders in Northern India, the
threatened invasion of Nadir Shah, and, finally, that
invasion, held his hand. At last, however, his wrath
over-mastered his judgement, and, in 1739, at the very
time when the invasion of Nadir Shdh was in full
swing, he gave permission to the Maréthds to attack
Trichinopoli. In May of the following year, 1740,
consequently, a Mardthd army of 10,000 men, led by
Raghuji Bhonsla, entered the Karndtik, met the
hurriedly raised force of Dost Alf at the Damalcherri
Pass, defeated it with great slaughter, and took
prisoner the Diwén, Mir Asad. Dost Ali was among
the slain. The vietors, then, listening to the per-
suasions of their prisoner, the Diwén, agreed to quit
the province on receiving a payment, at stated
intervals, of a total sum of ten million of rupees.
Safdar Ali was then proclaimed Nawdb at Arcot,
and Chdnda Sshib proceeded thither to do him
homage.

During the preceding two years the French
governor of Pondicherry, M. Dumas, had so strength-
ened the fortifications of that town, that it had come
to be regarded by the natives as impregnable.
During the Mardthd invasion, then, Chénda Séhib
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had sent thither his family, and his example had
been followed by Safdar Ali. After the installation
of the latter at Arcot, the two princes proceeded to
vigit the French governor, who gave them a mag-
nificent reception. On leaving, Safdar Ali took with
him his family, whilst Chénda Séhib, still suspecting
danger, directed his own wives to remain at Pondi-
cherry until events should more clearly develop
themselves.

He had not to wait long. Safdar Ali, jealous of
his prosperity, had induced the Mardthéds, never un-
willing, to make a fresh incursion into the Karnétik,
and to dispose of Chdnda S&hib. In December of
the same year then, just four years before Clive
landed in India, those warriors entered the province,
so deceived Chdnda Sahib as to induce him to sell
them the ample stores of grain he had collected, and,
as soon as they had received them, laid siege to
Trichinopoli. Chénda Sahib sustained a siege of
nearly three months with great resolution, but then,
his remaining stores of grain having been exhausted,
was forced to surrender (March 26, 1741). The
Mar4thds, having plundered the town, departed for
Sétéra, taking with them Chénda Séhib in close
custody, and leaving one of their most famous leaders,
of whom we shall hear further, Mordri Rdo, with
14,000 of their best troops, to guard the place, and
to act as discretion or greed might suggest.

The events I have recorded had encouraged among
the nobles of the province a spirit of disorder in
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sympathy with the times. No man felt quite safe.
Safdar Ali himself, but half reassured, sent for safety
his family to the custody of the English at Madras,
whilst, quitting the comparatively defenceless Arcot,
he took up his abode in the strong fortress of Vellore.
There his treasures had been stored, and there Mur-
tizd Ali, who had married his sister, was governor.
This man was treacherous, cowardly, and very am-
bitious. No sooner had he understood that his
relationship by marriage did not shield him from
the payment of money due to the Nawib, than he
proceeded to debauch the army, and to enlist on his
side the neighbouring nobles. He then poisoned his
brother-in-law. The poison not taking immediate
effect, he persuaded a Patdn to stab the Nawéb to
the heart. He then declared himself Nawdb.

He was proclaimed alike at Vellore and Arcot.
But his usurpation did not last long. Even in those
days there was a public conscience, and the murder
he had committed had been too brutal not to arouse
indignation. The army rose against him. Fearing
for his life, he disguised himself in woman’s clothes,
and escaped to Vellore. ‘

On the flight of Murtizé Ali becoming known the
army proclaimed Saiyud Muhammad Khén, the son
of Safdar Ali, then residing at Madras under the
protection of the English, to be Nawéb. The young
prince and his mother were at once removed to the
fort of Wandiwash, the ruler of which had married
his father’s sister.
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It was this moment that Nizdm-ul-Malk chose as
the time to intervene. Entering Arcot at the head
of a large army (March, 1743) he completely pacified
the province; then, marching on Trichinopoli, com-
pelled the Mardthds to yield it and to evacuate the
Karnitik. Possessing himself of the person of the
newly proclaimed Nawdb, whom he declined to
recognize, he proclaimed his own commander-in-chief,
Khoja Abdullah, to be Nawdb of the Karndtik, and
then returned to Goleonda.

Unfortunately for the peace of the province Khoja
Abdullah, a strong man, never took up the govern-
ment of the Karndtik. He had returned with his
master to Goleconda, and had made there his prepara-
tions to set out. On the very morning which he had
chosen for that purpose he was found dead in his
bed. It was clear that he had been poisoned. Sus-
picion fell at once upon the nobleman who had
originally been an urgent candidate for the office, and
who now obtained it. He was an experienced soldier
of good family, whose name was Anwar-ud-din.

Nizdm-ul-Malk knew that the appointment would
not be popular in the provinee so long as there
should remain alive any member of the family of
Saddat-ulld. He had therefore announced that the
appointment of Anwar-ud-din was provisional, and
that the young prince, Saiyud Muhammad, already
proclaimed Nawéb, should succeed to that post on his
arriving at the age of manhood, remaining during
the interval under the guardianship of Anwar-ud-din,
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to be by him instructed in the art of governing.
Anwar-ud-din promised to carry out the will of his
liege lord, and on his arrival in the Karntik, assigned
to the young prince the fort of Arcot, with a sufficient
retinue of Patén soldiers. There the boy remained,
treated with the deference due to his position.

But he was doomed. A few weeks after his arrival
at Arcot it devolved upon him to preside at the
wedding of one of his near relations. Amongst those
who came to the ceremony was the murderer of his
father, Murtiz4 Ali, laden with presents for the bride-
groom. Strange as it may seem, the murderer was
courteously received. But shortly after his entrance
within the fort an unseemly disturbance was created by
the disorderly entrance into the presence of thirteen
Patén soldiers, who insolently demanded payment
of the arrears they alleged to be due to them. With
some difficulty they were forcibly ejected. But in
the evening, as Anwar-ud-din approached, attended by
his courtiers and preceded by his guards, these thir-
teen Patdns managed to mingle with the latter, and
one of them, rushing towards the dais on which was
the chair occupied by the young prince, ascended the
steps leading to it, and, in a supplicatory attitude,
made as though he would throw himself at his feet
and demand pardon for the offence of the morning.
But instead of this he plunged his dagger, which he
had concealed on his person, into the prince’s heart.
He was almost instantly cut down by the attendants.
The confusion was extreme. Suddenly it was dis-
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covered that Murtizd Ali had quitted the fort, had
mounted his horse, and, accompanied by his armed
followers, had galloped towards Vellore. Suspicion
naturally fell upon this proved murderer, and the
nobles generally endeavoured to exculpate themselves
at his expense.

But suspicion fell likewise upon Anwar-ud-din.
Who, so much as he, would benefit by the death of
Saiyud Muhammad? He was practically only guardian
to the young prince, bound to resign his office as soon
as the latter should attain his majority. Nor were
these suspicions lessened when it was found that
Nizdm-ul-Mtlk at once transmitted to Anwar-ud-din
a complete commission as Nawib of Arcot. Vainly
did the Naw4b deny all complicity in the bloody
deed. Murtizd Ali was silent. ‘It was supposed,
wrote Mr. Orme, ¢ that the only proofs he could have
brought against Anwar-ud-din would at the same time
have condemned himself.” And this probably was true.

Such then was the political position in Southern
India when Clive landed at Madras in 1744. The
titular Emperor of Delhi was Muhammad Shéh, still
recling under the consequences of the invasion of
Nadir Shah and the sack of Delhi but five short years
previously. The Stbahdér of the Deccan was still
Nizdm-ul-Malk, possessing sufficient influence to
have secured the succession in Southern India for his
second son, Nasir Jang!. The Nawéb of the Karndtik,

1 Elliot’s History of India as told by its own Historians, vol. viii.
p. 113.
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styled officially, of Arcot, was a stranger to the
province, the unpopular and suspected Anwar-ud-din.
His authority there was not very secure. There were
many pretenders waiting for the first mishap: amongst
them his confederate in the murder of Saiyud Mu-
hammad ; Chénda S&hib, still in confinement at
Sétéra; and many others. The elements of danger
abounded everywhere. There were few petty chiefs
who did not dub themselves ¢ Nawébs, and aspire to
positions higher than those held by them at the
moment. The match alone was wanting to produce
a general flame.

Under ordinary circumstances this state of affairs
would not necessarily have affected the European
settlers on the coast. But for them, too, the crisis
was approaching. In 1740 the death of the Emperor,
Charles VI, had thrown the greater part of Kurope
into a blaze. Three years later England had entered
the field as an upholder of the Pragmatic Sanction.
The news of this intervention, which necessitated war
with France, reached India towards the close of 1744,
and immediately affected the relations towards one
another of the rival settlements on the Coromandel
coast.



CHAPTER IV

How THE ForTUNES OF ROBERT CLIVE WERE AFFECTED
BY THE HOSTILITTES BETWEEN THE FRENCH AND
ENGLISH IN SOUTHERN INDIA

THE events narrated in the second and third
chapters must be studied by the reader who wishes to
understand the India of 1744-65—the India which
was to be the field for the exercise of the energies of
the hero of this biography. It was an India, he will
see, differing in all respects from the India of the
present day: an India which may not improperly be
termed an Alsatia, in which, as we have seen, murder
was rampant, and every man fought for his own
hand. What it then was it would be again were the
English to leave the people to their own devices.

In the autumn of 1744 the Governor of Pondicherry,
M. Dupleix, who had succeeded Dumas in October,
1741, received a despatch from his Directors notifying
that a war with England was impending; requiring
him to diminish his expenditure ; to cease to continue
to fortify Pondicherry ; and to act with the greatest
caution. A little later they wrote to say that war
had actually been declared, that they had instructed
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the Governor of the Isle of France to proceed to the
Indian Seas with a squadron he was preparing ; and
that they required him to second that officer, M. de
la Bourdonnais, in his enterprise. Fearing, however,
that La Bourdonnais might arrive off the coast only
after some mischief had been done, they specially
urged Dupleix to endeavour to arrange with the
Governor of Madras that the war in Europe should not
extend to the two settlements in India.

Similarly, the Governor of Madras, Mr. Morse, had
received information and instructions from his masters.
They were, however, of a nature differing in some
respects from those received by the French authorities.
They were to the effect that war had been declared :
that he might at any moment expect the arrival of
Commodore Barnett with a strong squadron off Madras,
and that that squadron would be employed for the
annihilation of the French commerce and the destruc-
tion of their possessions. It is easy to see, then, that
~ when Morse received from the French Governor a
proposal that the two settlements should preserve
neutrality, he was compelled to decline it.

Thus threatened, for the reply of Mr. Morse led him
to believe that the English would use their advantage
to the utmost, Dupleix appealed to the common suze-
rain of the two settlements, to the Nawdb Anwar-ud-
din. He reminded him of the long-standing friendship
between the rulers of the French settlement and his
predecessors ; how the French, in times of danger and
difficulty, had ever extended their hospitality to the

v
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Nawdbs and their friends ; and represented in a strik-
ing manner the disadvantage which must accrue to the
rulers of the Karndtik if the foreign settlements were
to be permitted to wage war upon one another, for the
reason that their respective nations had quarrelled in
Europe. The mind of the Nawdb was much impressed
by this cogent reasoning. He had no idea of the
fighting qualities of the settlers. They had up to that
time behaved as peaceful traders, deferential to the
lords of the soil. He would that they should remain
so. He therefore informed Mr. Morse that he would
not permit an infraction of the peace hetween the two
nations on the soil of the Karnatik.

For the moment the plague was stayed. Commodore
Barnett’s squadron arrived, intercepted and captured
the French merchantmen, but could not attempt any-
thing against Pondicherry. In April, 1746, Barnett
died, and the command devolved upon Commodore
Peyton. In June of the same year Peyton heard
that some French vessels had been seen off Ceylon.
They must be, he thought, the squadron of La Bour-
donnais. He proceeded, then, to cruise off Negapatam
to intercept it. On July 6, the two squadrons came in
contact. They fought that afternoon and the next
morning. After an indecisive combat on the 7th, the
English commodore, finding that one of his best ships
had sprung a leak, sheered off, and made sail for
Trincomalee, leaving to the Frenchmen all the honours
and advantage of the day. On the evening of the 8th
of July the French squadron anchored off Pondicherry.
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The result of the conference between the Admiral of
the fleet and the Governor of Pondicherry was a reso-
lution that the former should attack Madras, aided by
the soldiers supplied by the latter. On the evening of
the 12th of September, 1745, the French fleet sailed for
Madras, arrived within cannon-shot of the English fort
on the 15th at mid-day ; La Bourdonnais then landed
1,100 European soldiers, some sipdhis, and a few
Africans, and summoned the place to surrender.

Madras was in no position to resist him. The
only chance possessed by Mr. Morse of saving the
fort had lain in his obtaining from the Nawédb the
protection which the latter had afforded to Pondi-
cherry when he himself had threatened that town. He
had applied for that protection, but in such a manner
as to ensure the rejection of his prayer. He had
sent his messenger empty-handed into the presence
of Anwar-ud-din, to demand as a right the pro-
tection which that nobleman had granted to Dupleix
as a favour. The Nawdb, probably waiting for the
presents which, as an Indian prince, he expected from
the petitioner, had given no reply when the fleet of La
Bourdonnais appeared before Madras on the 15th of
September.

On the evening of the 1gth the Governor sent a
messenger to La Bourdonnais to treat. After much
negotiation it was agreed that at noon of the day at
which they had arrived, September 21, Fort St. George
and the town of Madras should be surrendered to the
French ; that the English garrison and all the English

C2
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in the town should become prisoners of war; that the
civil functionaries should be set free on their parole
that they should not carry arms against France until
they should be regularly exchanged. There were other
secret conditions, but it is unnecessary to the narrative
to refer to these’.

The capture of Madras by the French took com-
pletely by surprise the Nawib Anwar-ud-din. On
learning the movements of the French against that
place he had despatched a special messenger ordering
them to desist. The letter he conveyed reached
Dupleix after Madras had been conquered, but whilst
it remained still in the hands of La Bourdonnais.
For a time he temporized with the Nawdb, whilst he
endeavoured to bring La Bourdonnais, with whom he
had difficulties as to the disposal of the place, to
reason. A terrific storm heralding the north-east
monsoon settled the second question by compelling the
French admiral to sail for the islands with the
remnant of the fleet it had scattered. On the 29th of
October, Dupleix was sole director of French interests
in India and on the Indian seas. His negotiations
with the Nawdb were of a more complicated character.
I lay particular stress upon them here because it was
his action with reference to that potentate which
inverted the position theretofore held between the
native of India and the European ; which called into
the field the brilliant military qualities of Clive:

U For a correct account of these see the author’s History of the
French in India, a new edition of whick is about to appear.
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which necessitated the long struggle for predominance
in Southern India between France and England.
When day succeeded day and the Nawib gradually
came to the conviction that the audacious ruler of the
French settlement had no real intention of transferring
to him the conquest La Bourdonnais had made, he
resolved to take it by force. He sent, therefore, his
eldest son, Ma’afuz Khén, with a force of about
10,000 men, mostly cavalry. to enforce his demand.
But, in face of the small French garrison occupying
the place, these men soon discovered that they were
powerless. When, with a great display of vigour,
~ they had mastered the positions which secured a supply
of water to the town, the garrison made a sortie and
retook them. That was the first awakening. The
second was more startling, more pregnant with conse-
quences. A small force of 230 Europeans and 700
natives, sent by Dupleix under the command of a
trusted officer named Paradis to relieve Madras,
encountered the entire army of Ma'afuz Khén on the
banks of the river Adyar, close to the village of
Maliapur, then and to the present day known as St.
Thomé?, defeated it with great slaughter, the French-
men wading breast-high through the water to attack
the soldiers of the Nawéb. This victory, few in num-
bers as were the victors, must ever be regarded as
pre-eminently a decisive battle. It brought into view,

1 From the fact identified by Bishop Heber and Professor H. H.
Wilson, that it is the place where the Apostle St. Thomas is said
to have been martyred on December 5, A.D. 58.
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silently but surely, the possibility of the conquest of
India by one or other of the two European powers on
the Coromandel coast.

In a narrower sense it confirmed the possession of
Madras to Dupleix. Thenceforth, as far as his eye
could see, he had nought to fear in India. On the gth
of November Paradis entered Madras; he made there
new provisions for the conquered English, confiscating
all the merchandize that had been found within the
town by La Bourdonnais. He then ordered all the
English who should decline to take an oath of alle-
giance to the French governor within four days to
quit the town; the English officials he permitted to
dispose of their property; then to remove to Pondi-
cherry as prisoners on parole. There were some amongst
them who, possibly prescient of the future, declined to
subscribe to terms which would tie their hands. These
escaped to Fort St. David, a small fort purchased by
the English in 1691, close to the important town of
Gradaltr, sixteen miles to the south of Pondicherry.
Amongst these was the young writer who had had but
two years’ experience of India, and who was called
Robert Clive.

Hardly had that young writer reached Fort St.
David than he was called upon to share in its defence.
It very soon became evident that the policy of Dupleix
was a root-and-branch policy ; that he was resolved
to expel the English from all their settlements, With
respect to Fort St. David, however, he was foiled
partly by the stupidity of his generals, partly by the
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island stubbornness of the defenders. Four times did
the French endeavour to take that small fort; four
times, owing to circumstances upon which it is not
necessary to enter, did they fail. Meanwhile there
arrived an English squadron under Admiral Griffin,
and later, to reinforce him, a fleet and army under
Admiral Boscawen (August 11,1748). By this arrival
the positions of the rivals on the coast became in-
verted. From being besiegers the French became the
besieged. For Boscawen at once laid siege to Pondi-
cherry.

Then began (August 19, 1748) the first siege of
Pondicherry by the English troops, assisted to a
certain extent by those of the Nawéb. Many gallant
deeds were performed on both sides. For a time
Paradis was the soul of the defence. When he was
killed, which happened whilst making a sortie on the
11th of September, the entire labour of directing the
necessary measures fell upon Dupleix. In the attack
were many good men and true. Boscawen himself
gave an example of daring which was universally
followed. Amongst those who were specially re-
marked was the hero of this book. A contemporary
writer, whose journal! of the siege is before me,
remarks regarding that young writer, that he*“served
in the trenches on this occasion, and by his gallant
conduct gave the first prognostic of that high military
spirit, which was the spring of his future actions,
and the principal source of the decisive intrepidity

I See Asiatic Annual Register for 1802,
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and elevation of mind, which were his characteristic
endowments.” The efforts of the besiegers shattered,
however, before the sturdy defence of the French.
On the 17th of October the English were forced to
raise the siege, leaving dead from the fire of the
enemy or from sickness 1065 men. The English fleet
remained for a year off the coast, and then sailed for
England: the garrison, formerly the garrison of Madras
and of Fort St. David, retired to the latter place,
carrying with it Robert Clive, soon to be joined there
by one of the most distinguished men whose careers
have illustrated the history of the English in India,
Major Stringer Lawrence ™.

It is probable that, after the raising of the siege of
Pondicherry, the French would have resumed their
operations against Fort St. David, for, early in 1749,
reinforcements in men and money had reached them.
But before they could move, information reached them
that, on the 7th of October, 1748, peace had been
signed between the two nations at Aix-la-Chapelle.
By the terms of this treaty the conquests made by
the two countries were to be restored. The French,

! Major Lawrence had arrived from England on the 13th of
January 1747, commissioned to command all the Company’s troops
in India. From Mr. Forrest’s Madras Records we find that his
salary as Major was £300 per annum, and 50 pagodas per month for
other allowances, besides £70 per annum as third in Council. It
was he who had repulsed the fourth attack made by the French on
Fort St. David in the spring of that year. In the early days of the
siege of Pondicherry he had had the misfortune to be taken
prisoner. Released by the conditions of the treaty of Aix-la-
Chapelle, he then resumed command at Fort St. David.
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therefore, instead of remewing their attack on Fort
St. David, were compelled to restore Madras, its for-
tifications undermined, and its storehouses empty '.
This restoration was the more distasteful to them, when
they found, as they very soon found, that from the
forece of events, the hostilities which had ceased in
Europe were, by virtue of a legal fiction, to be con-
tinued in India. They were still to fight the battle
for supremacy, not as principals, but as allies of the
native princes who, in the disorder accompanying the
catastrophe of the Mughal empire, fought for their
own hand, against the native allies of the English.

! Forrest, page 4. The report which he gives in extenso, minuted
by the Council of the Madras Presidency, runs as follows: ‘The
condition we have received it (Madras) in is indeed very indif-
ferent, the French having undermined the fortifications, and rifled
it of all useful and valuable stores.’

The official statement is quite opposed to the private accounts
hitherto accepted as true.



CHAPTER V
CLIVE DECIDES FOR THE CAREER OF A SOLDIER

BEFORE the conditions of the treaty of Aix-la-
Chapelle had become known in India, the English
governor of Fort St. David had despatched thence
a small force of 430 Englishmen and 1000 sipéhis to
assist the ex-R4j4 of Tanjore, who had been dethroned
for gross misconduct, to recover his kingdom. That,
at least, was the nominal reason. The ambition to
obtain for the English possession of Devikota, a fort
on the river Coleroon, at the point where that river
runs into the sea, was the true cause of the action.
The force was commanded by Captain Cope, an officer
of inferior merit. Clive accompanied it as a volunteer.
The expedition failed from causes which it was im-
possible to combat. The ex-Réjd had no partisans,
and the season was that of the monsoon-storms.

Still the idea was too popular to be abandoned.
After the treaty between the two nations had reached
India the expedition was therefore resumed. This
time Major Lawrence, released by the action of that
treaty, assumed the command. He took with him
the entire available European force of the Company,
leaving only a few to man the defences, and giving
(Clive a commission for the time only, to accompany
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him as lieutenant, proceeded to Devikota by sea, landed
his troops, and commenced to batter the place. On
the morning of the fourth day a practicable breach
was pronounced, and a storming party was ordered.
By his conduct Clive had already won the esteem of
Lawrence !, and it was to him that he gave command
of the party.

To lead a storming party is an honour full of
danger. So found Clive on this occasion. Of the
twenty-nine Europeans who composed it, twenty-
six were swept away by the enemy’s horsemen, the
sipahfs halting and witnessing the deed. Clive
with the three survivors managed to join the main
body which was advancing under Lawrence, and this
body, repulsing a charge of cavalry which endeavoured
to thwart it, pushed vigorously on, and stormed Devi-
kota. Abandoning the cause of the ex-Réj4, Lawrence
then made a treaty with the powers that were, in
virtue of which Devikota was ceded to the East India
Company, and the Réjd paid all the expenses of the

! The partiality which induced Lawrence to entrust Clive with
so important a duty is to be found under his own hand. ‘A man
of undaunted resolution,” he writes in his memoirs, ‘of a cool
temper, and a presence of mind which never left him in the
greatest danger. Born a soldier, for, without a military education
of any sort or much conversing with any of the profession, from
his judgement and good sense, he led an army like an experienced
officer and a brave soldier, with a prudence that certainly war-
ranted success. This young man’s early genius surprised and
engaged my attention, as well before as at the siege of Devikota,
where he behaved in courage and judgement much beyond what
could have been expected from his years, and his success after-
wards confirmed what I had said to so many people concerning
him.” Cambridge's War in India, pp. 18-19.
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war. The force returned to Fort St. David to find
the fleet of Admiral Boscawen still off the coast.

But, during the absence of the English troops, there
had occurred in the Karndtik one of those revolutions
which were not uncommon in the days of the dis-
solution of the Mughal empire.

On the 17th of April, 1748, the titular King of
Delhi, Muhammad Shéh, had died. His son, Ahmad
Shéh, had succeeded him. Rather less than a month
later, the Stbahdér of the Deccan, the famous Nizdm-
ul-Mulk, also died. He had in his lifetime arranged
that the succession to the inheritance of the Deccan
should devolve upon his second son, Nasir Jang, and
Ahmad Shéh at once confirmed the nomination®. But
those were not the days when a succession to vast
power and great territories went unopposed. A
claimant to the sovereignty of the Deccan soon ap-
peared in the person of Muzaffar Jang, grandson of
the late Sabahddr, and at the moment holding the
government of Bijapur. Not sufficiently powerful to
press his claim without assistance Muzaffar Jang
proceeded at once to Satdra, enlisted the Mardthds
in his cause, persuaded them to release Chénda S#hib,
and to supply him with troops. The arrangement
between the two princes was that, in case of success,
Muzaffar Jang should become Subahdér of the Deccan,
Chénda Séhib Nawib of the Karnatik. It is necessary
to state these facts clearly, because the war, thus
initiated, formed the basis of the continued hostilities

1 Rlliott's History of India, pp. 112-3, vol. viii.
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between the French and English after peace had been
proclaimed in Kurope.

The reader may recollect that in the earlier part of
this book! I have shown how Chénda Séhib had
formed a very high opinion of the French and how
he had cultivated their friendship. Resolving now
to avail himself of former favours, he made overtures
to Dupleix, and obtained from him promise of sub-
stantial assistance. These promises were kept, and,
towards the end of July, 1749, a detachment of
French soldiers joined the armies of the two con-
spirators at the Damalcherri Pass. A few days later
(August 3) they met at Ambir the army of Anwar-ud-
din, completely defeated it, slew Anwar-ud-din him-
self, took prisoner his eldest son, the Ma’afuz Khén
who had been defeated by Paradis at St. Thomé, and
forced the second son, Muhammad Ali, to save him-
self by flight to Trichinopoli. Marching straight
to Arcot, Muzaffar Jang proclaimed himself Subahdér
of the Deccan, and Chénda Sshib to be Nawéb of
Arcot. As the French had espoused the cause of
Chénda Séhib it was natural that the English should
sustain the claims of the rival This rival was
Muhammad Ali, the son of the late Nawéb, just
escaped from the field of Ambar. The two pre-
tenders, whose cause had been adopted by the French,
then proceeded to Pondicherry. There Dupleix,
whose vision on political matters was remarkably
clear, insisted that before committing themselves

! pp. 23-25-
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further, they should rid themselves of the only
possible rival then at large, and should march against
Trichinopoli. This they hesitated to do so long as
the English fleet should remain off the coast.

This was the situation when Lawrence and Clive
returned from the storming of Devikota. The chief
of the English settlement was then Mr. Floyer, a
gentleman who had a great dread of responsibility.
The fighting party in the Council of Fort St. David
urged that Muhammad Alf should be supported, that
the English fleet should remain off the coast, and that
Trichinopoli should be defended. The admiral de-
clared his willingness to remain if Mr. Floyer would
only ask him. But Floyer shrank from the responsi-
bility. Consequently the fleet sailed on the 1st of
November, leaving behind 300 men as an addition
to the garrison.

The very day after the disappearance of the English
fleet had become known (November 2), Muzaffar Jang
and Chéanda Sahib, with their French allies, marched
towards Trichinopoli. But the two Indian princes
had been most improvident. They had spent all their
funds. To obtain more they assailed the strong
fortress of Tanjore, captured one of the gates of the
fortress, and forced the R4j4 to agree to pay them
very large sums. But the wily prince, learning that
Nasir Jang was marching to his aid, managed to
delay the chief payment until he had ascertained
that the Stbahdir was within striking distance of
the place. He then point-blank refused to hand over



DECIDES FOR THE CAREER OF A SOLDIER 47

the money. The news of the approach of Nasir Jang
spread disorder in the ranks of the armies of Muzaffar
Jang and Chédnda Séhib, and they hurriedly retreated
on Pondicherry.

Scenes of indescribable turmoil followed. In one
of the skirmishes that ensued there occurred an
event which, unpromising as it appeared at the out-
set, proved the means of the temporary accomplish-
ment of the plans of the two conspirators. In a
skirmish Muzaffar Jang was taken prisoner and
placed in irons by the Stbahddr. When in that
position, however, he managed to corrupt three of
the principal chiefs who followed the banner of that
prince. Their schemes were communicated to Chinda
Séhib and to his French allies. The result was that
when the two rival armies joined battle at a place
sixteen miles from the strong fortress of Gingi, which,
meanwhile, the French under Bussy had captured,
Nasir Jang’'s.own levies turned against him and slew
him ; released Muzaffar Jang, and acknowledged him
Stbahdar of the Deccan.

This event occurred on the 16th of December, 1750.
Chédnda Sahib himself carried the news of the ac-
complished revolution from the battlefield to Pon-
dicherry. The new Stbahdér followed him, and, for
a while, French interests seemed predominant in the
Karndtik. Then, for a moment, the tide seemed to
ebb. On his way to Aurangdbdd Muzaffar Jang was
slain by the very three conspirators who had com-
passed the death of his predecessor. The French



48 LORD CLIVE

troops with the force, commanded by the energetic
Bussy, speedily avenged his death, and caused Saldbat
Jang, the third son of the late Nizdm-ul-Mlk, to be
proclaimed his successor. As Bussy with a force of
French troops was to remain with him as his pro-
tector, it seemed as though French influence was
destined to remain predominant in Southern India.

And so but for one man it would have remained,
increasing its strength until its roots had spread far
and wide below the surface. This, we believe, is the
true lesson of the early part of this biography. It was
one man’s genius which, meeting the French on the
ground of their own selection, seized their idea, made
it his own, and worked it to their destruction. It was
Clive who hoisted Dupleix with his own petard. We
shall now see how.

After the return of the troops from the conquest of
Devikota, the Government of Fort St. David had
appointed Clive to be Commissary of the forces.
Before, however, he could assume the duties of the
office he had fallen sick, and had been sent by the
doctors for a cruise in the Bay of Bengal. On his
return thence in the early days of 1751 he found great
demands on his activity. It devolved on him to equip
a force of 280 English and 300 sipshis, ordered, under
Cope, to proceed to Trichinopoli, still threatened by
the French and their allies. This accomplished, Clive
was directed to accompany, as Commissary, a larger
force of soo English, 1000 sipdhis, and 100 Africans,
ordered, under Captain Gingens, for Volkonda, 38 miles
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to the north-north-east of Trichinopoli, there to inter-
cept a French force marching in that direction.

Gingens was not a strong officer, and by gross mis-
management he allowed the French to get the better
of him. Clive, whose soldier’s eye and martial instinets
disapproved entirely of the evils he could not, from his
position, prevent?, then and there quitted the force and
returned to Fort St. David.

The return of Clive was opportune. The new
Governor, Mr. Saunders, a man of a large and com-
prehensive intellect, was waiting the arrival of troops
from England to fit out a new expedition of 8o
Englishmen and 300 sipshis to convoy provisions to
Trichinopoli. He had no officer, however, to whom he
dared entrust the command. A ecivilian of his Council,
Mr. Pigot, was then deputed to lead the force the first
forty miles, when it would be beyond the reach of
hostile attack, and Clive volunteered to go with him.
The force set out in July, 1751, and on the third day
reached Verdachelam, the point indicated. Thence
the two English civilians turned back as had been
arranged, and, though attacked on the way by aswarm
of native horsemen, reached Fort St. David in safety.
The detachment then marched through a safe country
to Trichinopoli.

A few days later fresh troops arrived from Eng-
land. Mr. Saunders was anxious to despatch these to

! Captain Dalton, who served under Captain Gingens, writes of
him in his journal as ‘a man of unfortunately jealous temper which
made him mistrust the goodwill of any who offered to give him
advice." Vide Memoir of Captain Dalton, 1886, pp. 93—4.
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reinforce the troops under Gingens, but again the same
difficulty presented itself. Meanwhile Clive had de-
liberately considered his position. As a civilian, he
had had a career which did not satisfy him. As
Commissary, it had been his fate to witness the
inefficient leading of others, without any autherity to
interfere. He felt within him the power to command.
His transfer to the military service would, he saw,
relieve the Governing Council from a great difficulty,
and give him, possibly, a command which he could
exercise for the benefit of his country. Very soon did
he decide. Mr. Saunders, whose appreciation of him
was not inferior to that of Major Lawrence, sanctioned
the transfer of his name to the military list, bestowed
upon him the commission of captain !, and directed him
to proceed at once, with a detachment of the few troops
available, to Devikota, to place himself there under the
orders of Captain Clarke, whose total force would thus
be augmented to 100 English, 50 sipdhis, and one field-
piece. The two officers were then to march with this
detachment to Trichinopoli. There Clive was to take
stock of the position and report to Mr. Saunders,
This happened towards the end of July, 1751.

1 The order of appointing Clive ran as follows :—‘ Mr. Robert
Clive, who has lately been very serviceable in conducting several
parties to camp, offering to go, without any consideration of pay,
provided we will give him a Brevet to entitle him to the rank of
a Captain, as he was an Officer at the Siege of Pondichery, and
almost the whole time of the War, and distinguished himself
on many occasions, it is conceived that this Officer may be of some
service, and, therefore, now ordered that a Brevet be drawn out,
and given him.” Forrest.



CHAPTER VI

TeE FirsT YEAR OF SOLDIERING AT TRICHINOPOLI
AND ARCOT

THE state of affairs in Trichinopoli was sufficient to
cause considerable alarm as to the result of the war.
Chénda S&hib was besieging that fortress with a very
large native force, aided by goo Frenchmen. His
rival, Muhammad Ali, depended solely on the 60o
English who were assisting him, for of his own troops
there were but 5000, and of these 2000 were horse-
men.

But that which most impressed Clive when he
arrived there with Captain Clarke early in August was
the depression which filled the minds of the native
prince and the English soldiers. The treasury of
Muhammad Ali was exhausted, and he despaired of
success. The English soldiers had no confidence in
their leaders, and, with a few exceptions?, the leaders
had no confidence in themselves. To rouse leaders
and men from their apathy Clive felt that something
startling must be attempted. Not indeed at Trichino-
poli, for Captain Gingens, who commanded there,
though a brave man, was scarcely equal to taking

1 One of these exceptions was Captain John Dalton, whose

journal, published in 1886 (Messrs. W. H. Allen & Co.), adds much
to our knowledge of the individuals engaged in the campaign.
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a bold initiative in face of the preponderating troops
of the enemy. Alike at school, and in his researches
in the Governor’s library at Madras, Clive had
read of the achievements of great commanders who,
pressed hard by enemies at home, had changed the
fate of the campaign by carrying the war into the
enemy’s country. What an opportunity for such
a strategy where he was! To take Trichinopoli
Chénda Sahib had massed all, or nearly all, his avail-
able troops before that place, leaving the capital of the
Karnitik, Arcot, absolutely denuded of trustworthy
fighting men. The true method of relieving the former
place was to seize and hold the latter. Impressed
with this idea, Clive returned to Fort St. David and
communicated it to Mr. Saunders. This large-minded
man embraced the plan with fervour, and although at
the two principal places held by the English, Madras
and Fort St. David, he had but 350 English soldiers,
he resolved to risk 200 of them on the expedition!.
The command of it he gave to Clive, but one month
before a simple civilian, and despatched him forthwith
to Madras, to march thence with his raw levies, most
of them recently arrived from England.

It was on the 26th of August, 1751, that Clive set
forth from Madras on the march which was to bring to
him immortal fame, and to secure for his countrymen
the first footing on the ladder which was to conduct
them to empire. He had with him 200 English

! Forrest, page 10. The Board unanimously concurred with Mr.
Saunders.
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soldiers, 300 sipéhfs, and three small field-pieces. Of
his eight officers, four were volunteers from the civil
service who, with two of the others, had never been
under fire. On the 2gth the little force reached
Kanchipuram, 42 miles from Madras and 27 from
Arcot. There he learned that that place was garrisoned
by about 1200 native soldiers, that the discipline was
lax, and that a surprise was quite feasible; but that
the place itself was capable of a good defence. He did
not wait longer. Setting out in a terrible storm, he
reached the vicinity of Arcot on the 31st, surprised
the fort, and compelled the town to surrender, without
losing a single man. Having taken measures to store
provisions, he marched on the 4th September to the
mud fort of Timerf, frightened the 600 native sol-
diers encamped there into retreating, and returned.
Two days later, having been informed that the enemy
had again gathered there to the number of 20c0, he
marched again against them, attacked and completely
defeated them. From want of heavy guns he did not
take the fort.

Relieved from the chances of immediate attack,
Clive returned to improve, as far as he could, the
defences of the place he had captured. One of his
first acts had been to write to Madras for some
18-pounder guns. These were at once despatched.
But the enemy, now fully awake, attempted to inter-
cept them at Kanchipuram. To save his guns Clive
marched thither with all his force except 8o men. He
did save the guns, but the enemy, profiting by his
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absence, attacked Arcot with all their available
numbers. The garrison, however, small as it was (30
Englishmen and 50 sipahis), had become imbued with
their leader’s spirit. They repulsed the attack, Clive
brought the guns into the fort, and the enemy dispersed.

Meanwhile the news of the brilliant enterprise had
spread far and wide; had brought hope to the de-
fenders of Trichinopoli, and alarm and irritation to
Chénda Séhib and his French allies. More even than
that. The important kingdom of Mysore, the ruler of
which had been long pressed by the rival combatants,
declared now in favour of Muhammad Ali, and sent
an army under its Dalwai (Prime Minister) to assist
him. The native chiefs who ruled the territories
which connected the beleaguered town with the eastern
coast followed the example of Mysore ;—an enormous
gain, for it ensured the safety of the English convoys
from the coast. Greatly impressed with these defec-
tions, Chdnda Sahib at once despatched 3000 of his
best troops to join the forces which his son, Réjd
Sahib, was commanding in North Arcot. There they
would be joined by 150 Frenchmen. One of Clive’s
objects had thus been already attained. The capture
of Arcot had enormously weakened the enemy’s
attack : had more than proportionately increased the
strength of the defence of Trichinopoli.

The eyes of India south of the great Vindhyan
range were now turned upon Arcot. Upon its success-
ful or unsuccessful defence depended the future in
India of the two European nations which, though
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nominally at peace, were warring desperately against
each other. The siege began on the 23rd of September.
Tt was characterized by extraordinary tenacity, great
daring, infinite powers of resource, on the part of Clive
and the defenders. The sipahis vied with the English
alike in courage and in capacity to withstand fatigue,
hunger, and thirst. Their self-denial, displayed when
they insisted that the water which was brought to
them under much difficulty should be offered first to
their European comrades, went the round of the world.
It gave evidence of the cordiality which was to exist
for a century, and to be renewed in 1861-2 under
conditions more favourable than ever. At length,
after more than seven weeks of continuous pound-
ing, the breach became practicable. The rumour
that the great Mardthd soldier, Mor4ari Rdo, was
approaching the place to lend a hand to Clive, deter-
mined R4j4 Séhib to utilize his advantage without
delay. On the 14th of November he sent every
available man to the breach. The garrison, enfeebled
though they were by privations, few in number from
their losses, separated by the necessities of the defence,
met their assailants with a courage as stern, a resolu-
tion as dogged, as that which, in difficult circum-
stances, English soldiers have always displayed. After
an hour's fierce fighting, in which the French took no
part, the besiegers fell back, beaten, baffled, and humi-
liated. At two o'clock that afternoon they begged to be
allowed to burytheir dead. At two o’clock the following
morning they disappeared in the direction of Vellore.
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Thus ended the siege of Arcot. It had lasted fifty
days. The manner in which it ended gave the
English, and especially the English leader, a prestige
which had an enormous effect on the campaigns that
followed. What a great thing this much-abused
¢ prestige ’ is in India was illustrated by the fact that
the minds of the native princes and peoples all over
the southern part of the peninsula turned to Clive as
to a master whom they would follow to the death.
He inverted the positions of the two nations, con-
founded by his brilliant action the schemes of Dupleix,
and, very soon afterwards, was able to impose his
will, representing the will of the English nation, upon
all the native princes who ruled or reigned in the
territories of Haidarabad and the Karnatik.

For—another great feature in the character of this
man—Clive never left a work half-finished. The
blow, he felt, was weak and paltry unless it were
driven home. So he felt, so he acted, on this occasion.
On the 1gth he took Timeri, the fort which had before
baffled him. Joined then by Mordri Réo with 1000
Mardthd horsemen, he marched on Arni, seventeen
miles south of Arcot, to attack R4ja S&hib, who had
taken post there with the army which had lately
besieged him, reinforced by French troops just ar-
rived from Pondicherry. The superiority in numbers
of the force of Réja Séhib was so great that, when he
noted the approach of Clive, he turned to meet him.
Clive halted where he was. He had recognized that
his position was excellent for defence, covered in front
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by rice-fields impracticable for guns, on the right
by a village, and on the left by a grove of palm-trees.
There he ranged his troops to meet the threatened
attagk.

It came very quickly, for the space between the
two forces was but 300 yards. The enemy had dis-
covered a narrow causeway leading across the marshy
ground to the village on Clive’s right. Heralding their
approach with an advance of cavalry, they directed
a portion of their horsemen to assail the village on
the right; another portion to drive Mordri Rdo from
the grove; whilst the main body of the infantry
should cross the causeway. The last-named was
a dangerous operation in the face of a man like
Clive, for whilst the narrowness of the causeway
rendered the advance slow, it gave time to Clive to.
concentrate upon it the fire of his guns. And this
he did. For a time the French, who led the attack,
marched boldly. At length they came under the full
fire of the guns. It was the story of the bridge of
Arcola, but there was no Bonaparte to lead them on.
They hesitated, halted, then fell back with precipita-
tion ; and, quitting the causeway, formed on the rice-
fields, almost touching the cavalry on their left, who
were fighting fiercely to gain an entrance into the
village. This was the supreme moment, and Clive's
genius utilized it to the utmost. Whilst the enemy
were busily engaged on the right and left, their centre
still reeling under the losses sustained on the cause-
way, he detached a body of English soldiers into the
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village, directing them to seize the head of the cause-
way, and, traversing it rapidly with a portion of the
sipdhis, to dash on the enemy’s centre, and seize their
guns. Well was he served. No sooner did the enemy
perceive the English on the causeway than a panic
struck their centre,and they hastened to fall back. The
panic communicated itself to the two wings, already
severely handled; they too let go their hold, and
turned to follow their comrades. True to the prin-
ciple referred to in a preceding page, Clive pressed
them hardly, not staying pursuit until darkness
rendered it fruitless. The record of this, his first
real battle, fought against more than double his
numbers, was a splendid one. Whilst his own losses
were but eight sipahis of his own force, and some
fifty horsemen of his Mardthd allies, there were killed
or wounded fifty Frenchmen and about three times
that number of the natives. Whilst the English had
fought mostly under cover, the enemy had had the
disadvantage of being exposed, especially on the
causeway.

Fit sequel to the defence of Arcot was this fight at
Arni. It dispersed the army of R4jd Séhib, caused
many of his soldiers, always in the East inclined to
side with the strongest, to desert to the victors ; it
induced the ruler of the fort of Arni to declare for
Muhammad Alf ; and it deprived the enemy of their
military chest. From its field Clive marched rapidly
on Kanchipuram, took possession, after a short siege,
of the strong pagoda which, meanwhile, had been
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seized by the enemy; then, having placed in Arcot
a sufficient garrison, returned to Madras, thence to
Fort St. David, having carried out to the letter the
programme he had submitted at the latter place to
Governor Saunders.

Well had he done it. The army of Chénda Sahib,
doubled up by the terrible blow struck in the very
centre of his possessions, still indeed held the position
before Trichinopeli, but, from an enemy confident,
boastful, certain of ultimate success, he had beecome an
enemy timid, irresolute, doubtful of the issue, shrinking
from his own shadow. The prestige gained by the
young Englishman paralyzed his vitality. It required
apparently but one more blow to complete his demo-
ralization. The one condition of that blow was that
it must be struck quiekly, suddenly, before the enemy
should have time to recover. Considerations such as
these, we may be sure, formed the staple of the con-
versations at Fort St. David between the young
captain and the Governor after the return of the
former from Arcot.



CHAPTER VII
‘Tug SWELL AND DAsH oF A Migury WAVE?!’

Bur there was one distinguished actor in the events
I have recorded who was by no means inclined to sit
passively under the severe blow which had but just
upset all his calculations. This man was Dupleix,
the Governor of Pondicherry. The plan of taking
Trichinopoli had been his plan. To take that place
he had used all the resources open to him: he had, in
fact, for that purpose pawned the resources of Pondi-
cherry. But one thing he had not done. He had not
removed from the court of the Stbahddr the one
competent general, Bussy-Castelnau, generally known
as Bussy, to carry out his ideas. He had bent all his
hopes on Law of Lauriston, nephew of the famous
Scotech financier, and who commanded the French
troops before Trichinopoli. He leant, however, on
a reed, on which, when a man leaneth, it pierces his
hand. As a soldier under command Law was ex-
cellent. As a Commander-in-chief he was pitiable,
dreading responsibility, timid, nervous, wanting in

I ¢The battle of Napoleon was the swell and dash of a mighty
wave before which the barrier yielded, and the roaring flood

poured onwards, covering all things” Sir W. Napier’s Peninsular
War.
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every quality of a general. At the moment Dupleix
did not know this. He had seen Law fight well and
gallantly at the siege of Pondicherry : he had known
him full of self-confidence, and he had believed him
capable of great things.

When, then, Clive struck that blow at the middle-
piece of the Karndtik dominion, which paralyzed the
army before Trichinopoli, Dupleix, whose brain had
not been paralyzed, sent the most pressing orders to
Law not to care for events passing at Arcot, but to
redouble his efforts against the fortress he was be-
sieging ; to use every effort to take the place before
Clive's unexpected blow should produce its natural
consequences. To accomplish this end he despatched
to him a battering-train and all the Frenchmen
he had available.

Dupleix could transmit his orders, but he could not
send with them the daring spirit which inspired them.
Law had before Trichinopoli goo French soldiers, of
excellent quality, 20c0 sipdhis trained in the French
fashion, and the army of Chdnda S&hib. It was a
force to attempt anything with in India. If a superior
officer on the spot had said to Law ‘Attack !” he would
have attacked with conspicuous courage. But it was
the weakness of his nature that, being in command,
he could not say the word himself. Therefore he did
nothing.

But to Clive, recognizing all that was possible,
ignorant only of the character of the KFrench com-
mander, the situation seemed full of danger. He
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must strike again, and strike immediately. The
successful blow at the middlepiece must be followed
up by a blow at the head. That head was Trichino-
poli. He prepared therefore, as soon as the recruits
expected from England should arrive, to march to that
place, and compel the raising of the siege.

Dupleix had divined all this. Once again was this
young Englishman to baffle him. As Law would not
act he must devise some other means to defeat him.
Why, he said to himself, should I not take a leaf from
the Englishman’s book, reconquer Arcot, possibly
attack Madras, and make it evident to the native
princes that Pondicherry is still the stronger? The
idea pleased him, and he proceeded, in the most secret
manner, to act upon it.

Incited by the urgent requests and promises of
Dupleix, R4jd Séhib, the beaten of Arni, quietly levied
troops, and joined by a body of 400 Frenchmen,
appeared suddenly before Punamallu on the 17th of
January. Punamallu is a town and fort in the
Chengalpat district, thirteen miles west-south-west
from Madras. The town, but not the fort, fell at
once into the hands of the enemy. Had the allies
then marched on Madras they might have taken it,
for it had but a garrison of 100 men. They preferred,
however, to march on Kanchipuram. There they
repaired the damages the English had done to the
defences of the great pagoda, and, leaving 300 sipdhis
to defend it, marched to Vendalir, twenty-five miles
to the south of Madras, and established there a forti-
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fied camp, whence they levied contributions on the
surrounding country. Their plan was so to coerce
northern Arcot as to compel the English to quit
Trichinopoli, to save it.

They had succeeded in thoroughly alarming alike
the English and the petty chieftains in alliance with
them when information of their action reached Fort
St. David. There Clive and Saunders were busily
engaged in preparing for the new expedition which
the former was to lead, as soon as the drafts from
England should arrive, to the relief of Trichinopoli.
The information changed all their plans. Saunders at
once sent a pressing message to Bengal to despatch all
available English soldiers to Madras. Thither Clive
proceeded ; took command of the 100 Englishmen
forming its garrison; and ordered from Arcot four-
fifths of the troops stationed there. On the 2oth of
February the troops from Bengal arrived: on the
21st the Arcot garrison was within a march of
Madras. On the following morning Clive quitted
that fort, and, joined as he marched forth by the
men from Arcot, took the direction of Vendalur,
having, all told, 380 Englishmen, 1300 sipéhis, and
six field-pieces. His movements, however, had be-
come known to the enemy. These, therefore, had
quitted Vendaldr on the night of the 21st; had
marched by various routes to Kanchipuram; and,
re-uniting there, had pushed with all speed towards
Arcot. There they had made arrangements to be
received, but their plot had been discovered. and
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finding their signals unanswered, they had marched to
Kéveripdk, a town ten miles to the east of Arcot.
There, in front of the town, they encamped, in a posi-
tion previously carefully chosen as the one most likely
to invite surprise, for which they proceeded to
thoroughly prepare themselves. _

Clive, meanwhile, had heen marching on Vendaltr.
He had made some way thither when scouts reached
him with the news that the birds had flown, and in
different directions. To gain further information he
continued his march and reached VendalGr. After
staying there five hours certain information reached
him that he would find the enemy at Kanchipuram.
Thither he proceeded, and there he arrived at four
o’clock on the morning of the 23rd, having made a
forced march, with a rest of five hours, of forty-five
miles. It was then nine o’clock in the morning, and
he resolved to rest for the day.

But, after his men had slept a few hours, the
anxiety of Clive regarding Arcot impelled him to
break their slumbers, and order them forward. They
set out accordingly about one o’clock, and about
sunset came in sight of Kéveripdk, but not of the
French hidden in front of it. The French leader, in
fact, had laid his plans with the greatest skill. A
thick mango-grove, covered along two sides by a
ditch and bank, forming almost a redoubt, roughly
fortified along the faces by which the English must
advance, covered the ground about 250 yards to the
left of the road looking eastwards. There the French
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had placed, concealed from view, their battery of
nine guns and a portion of their best men. About
a hundred yards to the right of the road, also looking
eastwards, was a dry watercourse, along the bed of
which troops could march, sheltered, to a great ex-
tent, from hostile fire. In this were massed the rest
of the infantry, native and European. The cavalry
wasg in the rear, hidden by the grove, ready to be
launched on the enemy when they should reach the
ground between the watercourse and the grove. The
men were on the alert, expecting Clive.

The space at my disposal will not permit me to
give the details of the remarkable battle’ which
followed. It must suffice to say that no battle that
was ever fought brought into greater prominence the
character of its commander. In the fight .before
Kéveripik we see Clive at his best. He had marched
straight into the trap, and, humanly speaking, was
lost. It was his cool courage, his calmness in danger,
his clearness of mind in circumstances of extraor-
dinary difficulty, his wonderful accuracy of vision,
the power he possessed of taking in every point of
a position, and of at once utilizing his knowledge,
that saved him. He was, I repeat, lost. He had
entered the trap, and its doors were fast closing upon
him. Bravely did his men fight to extricate him
from the danger. Their efforts were unavailing.
Soon it came about that the necessity to retreat

L The reader who would care to read such a detailed account will
find it in the writer’s Decisive Battles of India, ch. ii.
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entered almost every mind but his own. Even the
great historian of the period, Mr. Orme, wrote that
¢prudence counselled retreat’ But to the word
prudence Clive applied a different meaning. To him
prudence was boldness. What was to become of the
British prestige, of the British position in Southern
India, if he, without cavalry, were to abandon the
field to an enemy largely provided with that arm,
and who would be urged to extraordinary energy by
the fact that the unconquered hero of Arcot had fled
before them ?

No : he would think only of conquering ; and he
conquered. After four hours of fighting, all to his
disadvantage, he resolved to act, in petto, on the
principle he had put into action when he first seized
Arcot.. He would carry the war into the enemy’s
position. By a very daring experiment he discovered
that the rear of the wooded redoubt occupied by the
French had been left unguarded. With what men
were available he stormed it; took the ememy by
surprise, the darkness wonderfully helping him ; and
threw them into a panic. Of this panic he promptly
took advantage ; forced the Frenchmen to surrender;
then occupied their strong position, and halted,
waiting for the day. With the early morn he pushed
on and occupied Kéveripik. The enemy had - dis-
appeared. The corpses of fifty Frenchmen and the
bodies of 300 wounded showed how fierce had been
the fight. He had, too, many prisoners. His own
losses were heavy: forty English and thirty sipdhis.
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But he had saved Southern India. He had completely
baffled the cunningly devised scheme of Dupleix.

The consequences of the battle were immediately
apparent. Northern Arcot having been freed from
enemies, Clive returned to Fort St. David, reached
that place the 11th of March, halted there for three
days, and was about to march to strike a blow at the
other extremity, Trichinopoli, when there arrived
from England his old and venerated chief, Stringer
Lawrence. The latter naturally took command, and
two days later the force Clive had raised, and of
which he was now second in command, started with
a convoy for Trichinopoli. On the 26th it was met
eighteen miles from that fortress by an officer sent
thence to inform Lawrence that the French had
despatched a force to intercept him at Koilddi, close
to and commanding his line of advance. By great
daring, Lawrence made his way until he had passed
beyond the reach of the guns of the badly-commanded
enemy and the fort, and before daybreak of the
following morning was joined by a small detachment
of the garrison: another, of greater force, met him
a little later. He had, in fact, practically effected a
Jjunction with the beleaguered force at the outpost of
Elmiseram when he learned that the French were
marching against him. They contented themselves,
however, with a fierce cannonade: for, as Clive ad-
vanced to cover the movement of the rest of the
force, they drew back, and Lawrence, with his troops,
and the convoy he was escorting, entered Trichi-

E 2
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nopoli. The French commander was so impressed by
this feat of arms, which gave the defenders, now
assisted by Mordri Réo and the Dalwai of Mysore,
a strength quite equal to his own, that he fell back
into the island of Seringham. There he was faced on
one side by Lawrence. To cut off bis communications
with the country on the further side of the river
Kolrun, Lawrence despatched Clive® with 400 English
and some 700 sipihis, accompanied by some Marétha
and Tanjore cavalry, to occupy the village of Samié-
veram, a village commanding with three others the
exit from the island on the only practicable route.
Clive set out on the 7th of April, occupied Samié-
veram the same day, and, two days later, made his
position stronger by storming and occupying the
pagoda of Mansurpet, and the mud fort of Lalgudi.
There still remained Paichanda. The occupation of
this would complete the investment of the island on
that side. '

Meanwhile Dupleix, thoroughly disgusted with Law
had despatched M. d’Auteuil with a small force to
take command in his place. Whilst Clive was en-
gaged in occupying the two places he had stormed,
and was preparing to attack the third, d’Auteuil was
approaching the town of Utétur, fifteen miles heyond
Samidveram, the headquarters of Clive. He arrived

1 Tt is a striking testimony to the prestige Clive had already
acquired with the native princes that when Muhammad Ali, the
Dalwai, and Moriri Rédo were consulted by Lawrence as to co-

operating in the expedition, they consented only on the condition
that Clive should command.
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there on the 13th of April, and although his force—
120 Frenchmen, 5co sipdhis, and four field-pieces—
was far inferior to that of Clive, he resolved to make
a flank-march to the river and open communications
with Law. He sent messengers to warn that officer
of his intention, and to beg him to despatch troops
to meet him. But Clive captured one of these
messengers, and resolved to foil his plans.

D’Auteuil had set out on the morning of the
14th, but had mnot proceeded far when he noticed
the English force barring the way, and returned
promptly to Utdtur. Clive then fell back on Samid-
veram.

There was a strongly fortified pagoda, named
Paichanda, on the north bank of the Kolrun, forming
the principal gateway into the island of Seringham,
which Clive had intended to take, but which, owing
to the movements of d’Auteuil, he had not yet
attempted. On receiving the message from d’Auteuil
of which I have spoken, Law had resolved to debouch
by this gateway, and fall on Clive whilst he should
be engaged with d’Auteuil. But, when the time for
action came, unable to brace himself to an effort
which might have succeeded, but which possessed
some element of danger, he despatched only eighty
Europeans, of whom one-half were English deserters,
and 700 sipdhis, to march by the portal named, ad-
vance in the dark of the night to Samidveram, and
seize that place whilst Clive should be occupied
elsewhere. The knowledge of English possessed by
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the deserters would, he thought, greatly facilitate
the task. ;

His plan very nearly succeeded to an extent he
had never contemplated. Clive had returned from
his demonstration against d’Auteuil, and, worn out
and weary, had laid himself down to sleep in a
caravanserai behind the smaller of the two pagodas
occupied as barracks by his men. They also slept.
This was the position within the village when a spy,
sent forward by the leader of the surprising party,
returned with the information that Clive and his men
were there, and were sleeping. This news decided
the commander to press on and to seize the great
Englishman where he lay. By means of his deserters
he deceived the sentries. One of the former, an Irish-
man, informed the tired watchmen that he had been
sent by Lawrence to strengthen Clive. The party
was admitted, and one of the garrison was directed
to lead its members to their quarters. They marched
quietly through the lines of sleeping Maréithds and
sipahis till they reached the lesser pagoda. There
they were again challenged. Their reply was a volley
through its open doors on the prostrate forms within
it. They went on then to the caravanserai and
repeated their action there.

Again was Clive surprised. Once more were the
coolness, the clearness of intellect, the self-reliance,
of one man pitted against the craft and wiles of his
enemies. Once again did the one man triumph. He
was, I repeat, as much surprised as the least of his
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followers. Let the reader picture to himself the
situation. To wake up in darkness and find an
enemy, whose numbers were unknown, practically in
possession of the centre of the town, in the native inn
of which he had gone peacefully to sleep but two
hours before; his followers being shot down ; some
of them scared ; all just awakening; none of them
cognizant of the cause of the uproar; many of the
intruders of the same nation, speaking the same
language as himself; all this occurring in the sandy
plains of India: surely such a situation was sufficient
to test the greatest, the most self-reliant, of warriors.
Tt did not scare Clive. In one second his faculties
were as clear as they had ever been in the peaceful
council chamber. He recognized, on the instant, that
the attackers had missed their mark. They had in-
deed fired a volley into the caravanserai in which he
had lain with his officers, and had shattered the box
which lay at his feet and killed the sentry beside
him, but they had not stopped to finish their work.
Instantly Clive ran into one of the pagodas, ordered
the men there, some two hundred, to follow him, and
formed them alongside of a large body of sipéhis
who were firing volleys in every direction, whom
he believed to be his own men. To them he went,
upbraided them for their purposeless firing, and
ordered them to cease. But the men were not his
men, but French sipdhis. Before he had recognized
the fact, one of them made a cut at him with his
talwar, and wounded him. Still thinking they werc
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his own men, Clive again urged them to cease fire.
At the moment there came up six Frenchmen, who
summoned him to surrender. Instantly he recognized
the situation. Instantly his clear brain asserted itself.
Drawing himself up he told the Frenchmen that it
was for them and mot for him to talk of surrender ;
bade them look round and they would see how they
were surrounded. The men, scared by his bearing,
ran off to communicate the information to their
commander. Clive then proceeded to the other pagoda
to rally the men posted there. The French sipahis
took advantage of his absence to evacuate the town.
The Frenchmen and the European deserters meanwhile
had occupied the lesser pagoda. They had become
by this time more scared than the surprised English.
Their leader had recognized that he was in a trap.
His mental resources brought to him no consolation
in his trouble. He waited quietly till the day broke,
and then led his men into the open. But Clive had
waited too; and when the Frenchmen emerged, he
received them with a volley which shot down twelve
. of them. They hurried back to their place of shelter,
when Clive, wishing to stop the effusion of blood,
came to the front, pointed out to them their hopeless
position, and offered them terms. One of them, an
Irishman, levelled his musket at Clive, and fired
point-blank at him. The ball missed Clive, but tra-
versed the bodies of two sergeants behind him. The
French commander showed his disapproval of the act
by swrrendering with his whole force. Clive had
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sent the Marithds and the cavalry to pursue the
French sipihis. These caught them, and cut them
up, it is said, to a man.

Thus ended the affair at Samidveram. I have been
particular in giving the details which illustrate the
action of Clive, because they bring home to the reader
the man as he was: a man not to be daunted, clear
and cool-headed under the greatest difficulties; a born
leader; resolute in action; merciful as soon as the
difficulties had been overcome: a man, as Carlyle
wrote of another, not less distinguished in his way,
“ who will glare fiercely on an object, and see through
it, and conquer it ; for he has intellect, he has will,
force beyond other men.’

The end was now approaching. On the 15th of
May, Clive captured Paichanda. He then marched
on Utdtur, forced d’Auteuil to retreat on Volkonda,
and, following him thither, compelled him (May 29)
to surrender. Three days later Law followed his
example. The entire French force before Trichinopoli
gave itself up to Major Lawrence. Its native allies
did the same. The one regrettable circumstance in
the transaction was the murder of Chénda Sihib at
the instance of his rival.

After this, Clive returned to Fort St. David ; was
employed during the fall of the year in reducing
places which still held out against the Nawdb. This
campaign tried his constitution, already somewhat
impaired, very severely, and on its conclusion, in the
beginning of October, he proceeded to Madras to rest
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from his labours. There he married Miss Maskeleyne,
the sister of a fellow-writer, with whom, in the earlier
days of his Indian life, he had contracted a friendship.
But his health continued to deteriorate, and he was
forced to apply for leave to visit Europe. This having
been granted, he quitted Madras in February, 1753,
full of glory. His character had created his career.
But for his daring, his prescience, his genius, and his
great qualities as a soldier, it is more than probable
that Dupleix would have succeeded in establishing
the basis of a French empire in Southern India.



CHAPTER VIII
CriveE IN ENGLAND; AND IN BENGAL

TuE visit of Clive to England was scarcely the
success hoped for. His fame had preceded him, and
the Court of Directors had assured him, through the
Governor of Madras, that they had ‘a just sense of
his services. Perhaps the person who had been the
most astonished at his brilliant success was his own
father. He had remarked, when he first heard of his
victories, that ¢the booby had some sense after all’
But then it must be recollected that the father had
seen but little of the boy during his childhood and
growing years, and that his unfavourable impression

" had been derived probably from the aversion shown
by the lad to enter his own profession. But even he,
now, was prepared to follow the stream, and give
a hearty reception to the defender of Arcot. So, at first,
(Clive was féted and toasted in a manner which must
have convinced him that his services were appreciated.
The Court of Directors carried out the promise I have
veferred to by giving a great banquet in his honour,
and by voting him a diamond-hilted sword as a token
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of their esteem. This honour, however, Clive declined
unless a similar decoration were also bestowed upon
the chief under whom he had first served, Major
Stringer Lawrence.

Clive had earned sufficient money to live with great
comfort in England. He did not look forward then to
return to India as an absolute certainty. Rather he
desired to enter Parliament, and await his opportunity.
It happened that the year following his arrival the
dissolution of the existing Parliament gave him an
opportunity of contesting the borough of St. Michael
in Cornwall. He was returned as a supporter of Mr.
Fox, but the return was petitioned against, and
although the Committee reported in his favour, the
House decided, from a purely party motive, to unseat
him. This disappointment decided Clive. He had
spent much money, and with this one result—to be
thwarted in his ambition. He resolved then to return
to the seat of his early triumphs, and applied to the
Court for permission to that effect.

The Court not only granted his request, but ob-
tained for him the commission of lieutenant-colonel
in the royal army, and named him Governor and
Commander of Fort St. David, with succession to
the Governorship of Madras.

(Clive took with him to India three companies of
artillery and 3c0 infantry. He was instructed to
convey them to Bombay, and, joined by all the avail-
able troops of the Company and their Mardthé allies,
to endeavour to wrest the Deccan from French
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influence. But, just as he was sailing, he discovered
that, through royal influence, Colonel Scott of the
Engineers, then on the spot, had been nominated to
the command, with himself as his second. Not caring
to take part in an expedition in which his own voice
would not be the decisive voice, Clive was anxious to
proceed to take up his government at Fort St. David,
when, on his arrival, he learned the death of Colonel
Scott. This event recalled him to the original plan.
But another complication ensued. Very shortly before
he had arranged to march there came the information
that the French and English on the Coromandel coast
had entered into a treaty, binding on the two nations
in India, not to interfere in the warlike operations of
native princes. The Deccan project, therefore, had to
be abandoned.

Another promptly took its place. A small fort
built by the great Sivaji on a small island in the
harbour of Viziadrug, called by the Muhammadans
Gherié, had for many years past been made the head-
quarters of a hereditary pirate-chief, known to the
world as Angria. This man had perpetrated much
evil, seizing territories, plundering towns, committing
murders, robbing peaceful vessels, and had made his
name feared and detested along the entire length of the
Malabar coast. The necessity to punish him had long
been admitted alike by the Mardthds and the English.
The year preceding the Bombay Government had
despatehed Commodore Jones with a squadron to
attack Angria’s possessions. Jones accomplished
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something, but on arriving before Ddbhol he was
recalled on the ground that the season was too late
for naval operations on that coast.

In the autumn of the following year Admiral
Watson came out to assume command of the squadron.
It had by this time become more than ever necessary
to bring the affair to a definite conclusion, and, as
Clive and his troops were on the spot, the Bombay
Government, acting with the Maréthéds, resolved to
despatch the fleet and army to destroy the piratical
stronghold. Of the expedition, which reached its
destination in February,it is sufficient to state that in
two days it destroyed Gherid. Thence Clive pursued
his voyage to the Coromandel coast, and arrived at
Fort St. David on the 20th of June.

On that very day there occurred in Calcutta the
terrible tragedy of the Black Hole. The Subahdar of
Bengal, Bihdr, and Orissa, the Nawab Sirdj-ud-dauls,
had, for some fancied grievance, prompted probably
by the hope of plunder, seized the English factory at
Késimbazar, near his capital of Murshiddbad, plundered
it, imprisoned the garrison, and had thence marched
against Caleutta. He attacked that settlement on the
15th of June, and after a siege of four days, conducted
with great want of leading on the part of the English,
obtained possession of it. The English Governor, M.
Drake, the senior military officer, and many others,
had fled for refuge on board the ships in the river
Hagli, which immediately had weighed anchor and
stood downwards, leaving about 145 men, some of
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them high in office, and one lady, Mrs. Carey, a
prey to the enemy. These were seized and taken
before the Nawdb and his commander of the forces,
Mir Jafar by name. The Nawédb spoke kindly to
them, and ordered that they should be guarded for
the night, having no intention whatever, there is the
strongest reason to believe, that any harm should
befall them. But, owing to the natural cruelty or
indifference of their guards, they were thrust, after
the departure of the Nawdb, into a small room, about
eighteen feet square, ill ventilated, and just capable of
receiving them when packed together so closely as to
render death certain to the majority. Vainly did they
remonstrate ; vainly did they send a message to the
Nawdb: he was asleep, and no one dared to awaken
him. Into that hole they were locked, and in it they
remained until the light of day showed that the
pestiferous atmosphere had been fatal to all of them
except twenty-three. These were then released and
taken before the Nawdb. Far from expressing regret
for the sufferings of which he had been the involuntary
cause, the Nawéb questioned them only about the place
in which their treasure had been hidden. For, so far,
he had been greatly disappointed at the result of
his raid.

The story of the capture of Késimbézir reached
Madras on the 15th of July. The Governor imme-
diately despatched a detachment of 230 European
troops for the Hugli, under command of Major Kil-
patrick, and this detachment reached its position off
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the village of Falta on the 2nd of August. For the
moment we must leave it there.

It was not until three days after the arrival of
Kilpatrick at Falta that information of the Black
Hole outrage reached Madras. The position there was
critical. The Governor was in daily expectation of
hearing that war had been declared with France, and
he had already parted with a large detachment of his
best troops. The question was whether, in the presence
of the possible danger likely to arise from France, he
should still further denude the Presidency he adminis-
tered. - The discussion was long. Happily it was
finally resolved to despatch to the Hegli every avail-
able ship and man. The discussion as to the choice
of the commander was still more prolonged ; but, after
others had insisted on their rights, it was finally
determined to commit the command of the land-forces
to Clive—who had been summoned from Fort St.
George to the consultation—in subordination, how-
ever, to Admiral Watson, commanding the squadron.
Tt was not until the second week of October that every
detail was settled, nor until the 16th of that month
that the fleet sailed for the Hegli. The first ship reached
the river, off Falta, the 11th of December. But with
the exception of two, one laden with stores, the other
grounding off Cape Palmyras, but both of which joined
at a later period, the others reached their destination
at periods between the 17th and 27th of that
month.

The land-forces at the disposal of Clive consisted,
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including the few remnants of Kilpatrick’s detach-
ment!, which had suffered greatly from disease, of
830 Europeans, 1200 sipdhis, and a detail of artillery.
One ship, containing over 200, had not arrived, and
many were on the sick-list.

On the 17th of December Watson had written to
the Nawéb to demand redress for the losses suffered
by the Company, but no answer had been vouchsafed.
As soon then as all the ships, the two spoken of
excepted, had assembled off Falta, Watson wrote
again to inform him that they should take the law
into their own hands. On the 27th the fleet weighed
anchor, and stood upwards. On the 29th it anchored
off Maidpur, a village ten miles below the fort of
Baj-baj. It was obvious to both commanders that
that fort must be taken; but a difference of opinion
occurred as to the mode in which it should be assailed,
Clive advocating the proceeding by water, and landing
within easy distance of the place, Watson insisting
that the troops should land near Maidpur, and march
thence. Clive, much against his own opinion, followed
this order. Landing, he covered the ten miles, and
posted his troops in two villages whence it would be
easy to attack the fort on the morrow. The troops, tired
with the march, and fearing no enemy, then lay down
to sleep. But the Governor of Calcutta, Manikchand,
had reached Baj-baj that very morning with a force of
2000 foot and 1500 horse. He had noted, unseen, all

1 Orme states that one-half of them had died and that only
thirty were fit for duty.
F
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the dispositions of Clive, and at nightfall he sallied
forth to surprise him. The surprise took effect, in
the sense that it placed the English force in very
great danger. But it was just one of those situations
in which Clive was at his very best. He recognized
on the moment that if he were to cause his troops
to fall back beyond reach of the enemy’s fire, there
would be a great danger of a panic. He ordered
therefore the line to stand firm where it was, whilst
he detached two platoons, from different points, to
assail the enemy. One of these suffered greatly from
the enemy’s fire, but the undaunted conduct of the
English in pressing on against superior numbers so
impressed the native troops that they fell back,
despite the very gallant efforts of their officers to
rally them. Clive was then able to form his main
line in an advantageous position, and a shot from one
of his field-pieces grazing the turban of Manikchand,
that chief gave the signal to retire. That night the
fort of Baj-baj was taken by a drunken sailor, who,
scrambling over the parapet, hailed to his comrades
to join him. They found the place abandoned.

On the 2nd of January Calcutta surrendered to
Clive. A great altercation took place between that
officer and Watson as to the appointment of Governor
of that town. Watson had actually nominated Major
Eyre Coote, but Clive protested so strongly that,
eventually, Watson himself took possession, and then
handed the keys to Mr. Drake, the same Drake who
had so shamefully abandoned the place at the time of
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Sir4j-ud-dauld’s attack. Three days later Clive
stormed the important town of Hugli, once a Portu-
guese settlement, afterwards held by the English, but
at the time occupied for the Nawb.

Meanwhile that prince, colleeting his army, number-
ing about 40,000 men of sorts, was marching to recover-
his lost conquest. To observe him Clive took a posi-
tion at Kdsipur, a suburb of Calcutta, now the seat
of a gun-factory. As the Nawab approached, the
English leader made as though he would attack him,
but finding him prepared, he drew back to await a
better opportunity. By the 3rd of February the
entire army of the Nawéb had encamped just beyond
the regular line of the Mardthé ditch. Thither Clive
despatched two envoys to negotiate with the Nawéb,
but finding that they were received with contumely
and insult, he borrowed some sailors from the Admiral,
and, obtaining his assent to the proposal, resolved to
attack him before dawn of the next day. Accordingly
at three o'clock on the morning of the 4th of Febru-
ary, Clive broke up, and, under cover of one of those
dense fogs so common in Bengal about Christmas-
time, penetrated within the Nawdb’s camp. Again
was he in imminent danger. For when, at six o’clock,
the fog lifted for a few seconds, he found the enemy’s
cavalry massed along his flank. They were as sur-
prised at the proximity as was Clive himself, and a
sharp volley sent them scampering away. The fog
again descended: Clive knew not exactly where he
was ; his men were becoming confused ; and Clive

F2
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knew that the step from confusion to panic was but
a short one. But he never lost his presence of mind.
He kept his men together ; and when, at eight o’clock,
there was a second lifting of the fog, and he recog-
nized that he was in the very centre of the enemy’s
camp, he marched boldly forward, and not only ex-
tricated his troops, but so impressed the Naw4b that
he drew off his army, and on the gth signed a treaty,
by which he covenanted to grant to the English
more than their former privileges, and promised the
restoration of the property he had seized at the cap-
ture of Calcutta. This accident of the fog and its
consequences form, indeed, the keynote to the events
that followed. The circumstances connected with it
completely dominated the mind of the Nawdb; in-
stilled into his mind so great a fear of the English
leader that he came entirely under his influence, and,
though often kicking against it, remained under it to
the end. This feeling was increased when, some weeks
later, Clive, learning that war had been declared be-
tween France and England, attacked and conquered
the French settlement of Chandranagar (March 23),
in spite of the Nawéb's prohibition. He displayed it
to the world a little later, by dismissing from his court
and exiling to a place a hundred miles distant from
it a small detachment of French troops which he had
there in his pay, commanded by the Law who had so
misconducted the siege of Trichinopoli, and by re-
calling his army from Plassey, where he had posted
it, to a point nearer to his capital.
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Of Sirdj-ud-dauld something must be said. The
province which he ruled from his then capital of
Murshiddbad had been one of the great fiefs which
the dissolution of the Mughal Empire had affected.
The family which had ruled it in 1739 had had the
stamp of approval from Delhi. But when the in-
vasion of Nadir Shéh in that year overthrew for the
time the authority of the Mughal, an officer named
Alf Vard{ Khén, who had risen from the position of
a menial servant to be Governor of Bihir, rose in
revolt, defeated and slew the representative of the
family nominated by the Mughals in a battle at
Gheri4, in January, 1741, and proclaimed himself
Stbahdér. Ali Vardi Khin was a very able man.
Having bribed the shadow sitting on the throne of
Akbar and Aurangzeb to recognize him as Stbahdér
of Bengal, Bihdr, and Orissa, he ruled wisely and well.
On his death in 1756 he had been succeeded by his
youthful grandson, the Sirdj-ud-dauld, who, as we
have seen, had come, so fatally for himself, under the
influence of Clive.

For all the actions of Clive at this period prove
that he was resolved to place matters in Bengal on
such a footing as would render impossible atrocities
akin to that of the Black Hole. Were he to quit
Bengal, he felt, after accomplishing the mission on
which he had been sent, and that mission only,
what security was there that the Stibahdar would not
return to wreak a vengeance the more bitter from
the mortifications he had had to endure? No, there
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was but one course he could safely pursue. He must
place the Company’s affairs on a solid and secure
footing. Already he had begun to feel that such a
footing was impossible so long as Sirdj-ud-dauld
remained ruler of the three provinces. As time
went on the idea gathered strength, receiving daily,
as it did, fresh vitality from the discovery that among
the many noblemen and wealthy merchants who sur-
rounded the Stbahddr there were many ready to
betray him, to play into his own hand, to combine
with himself as against a common foe.

Soon his difficulty was to choose the man with
whom he should ally himself. Yér Lutf Khdn, a
considerable noble, and a divisional commander of the
Sir4j-ud-dauld’s army, made, through Mr. Watts, the
English agent at Kdsimbdzdr, the first offer of co-
operation, on the sole condition that he should become
. Stibahdér. Tt was followed by another from a man
occupying a still higher position, from the Pakhshi, or
Commander-in-chief, Mir Jafar Khan. This Clive
accepted, receiving at the same, time offers of adhesion
from R4ja Duldb Réo; from other leading nobles, and
from the influential bankers and merchants of Mur-
shiddbad.

Then began those negotiations one detail of which
has done so much to stain the name of the great
soldier. The contracting parties employed in their
negotiations one Aminchand, a Calcutta merchant of
considerable wealth, great address, unbounded cun-
ning, and absolutely without a conscience. When
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the plot was at its thickest, this man—who was
likewise betraying the confidence which Sirdj-ud-
dauld bestowed upon him, when the least word
would have rendered it abortive—informed the Cal-
cutta Select Committee, th'rough Mr. Watts, that
unless twenty lakhs of rupees were secured to him
in the instrument which formed the bond of the con-
federates, he would at once disclose to the Stibahdar
the plans of the conspirators. The inevitable result
of this disclosure would have been ruin to all the
conspirators ; death to many of them. To baffle the
greed of this blackmailer, Clive caused two copies of
the document to be drawn up, from oge of which
the name of Aminchand was omitted. To disarm his
suspicions, the false document was shown him. This
latter all the contracting parties had signed, with the
exception of Admiral Watson, who demurred, but who,
according to the best recollection of Clive in his evi-
dence before the Committee of the House of Commons,
did not object to have his name attached thereto by
another ™.

Space would fail were I to detail the various modes
employed by the confederates to produce on the mind
of Sirdj-ud-dauld the conviction that his only safety
lay in battle with the English. He had tried many
methods to escape the dilemma, to rid himself of the
heavy hand of Clive. He had made overtures to
Bussy at Haidardbdd ; to the Mardthds; to the Court

1 These are the facts of the transaction : they will be commented
upon in a future page. Vide p. 111,
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of Delhi; to the Nawdb-Wazir of Oudh. But every
proposed combination had fallen through. He had
quarrelled with Mir Jafar, with his chief nobles, with
‘the bankers. He had suspected treachery, but had
never been quite certain. At last, on the thirteenth
of June, information was brought to him that the
English agent, Mr. Watts, and his subordinates, had
fled from K4simbdzar, after an interview with Mir
Jafar, at the time in his disfavour. Then he gave
way : then he realized that, without the aid of his
nobles, he was helpless : then he guessed the whole
plot ; the schemes of Clive; the treason of his own
people : then he turned to Mir Jafar for reconcilia-
tion, imploring him not to abandon him in his dis-
tress. Mir Jafar and the other nobles, most of whom
were in the plot, all swore fealty and obedience, Mir
Jafar leading the way. They would risk everything
for the Stibahddr. They would drive back the cursed
English, and free Bengal from their influence. Re-
covering his equanimity from these assurances, Siréj-
ud-dauld ordered his army to march to an intrenched
camp he had prepared near the village of Plassey, in
the island of Kdsimbdzar !, twenty-two miles distant.
There was some difficulty regarding the arrears of
pay of his men, failing the settlement of which they
refused to march. But, with friendly assistance

! Kédsimbézir is called an island because whilst the base of the
triangle which composes it is watered by the Ganges, the western
side, on which lies Plassey, is watered by the Bhégirathi; the
eastern by the Jalangi.
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this difficulty was overcome; the army set out three
days later for its destination, and arrived in the
intrenched camp on the 21st of June.

I propose now briefly to record the movements of
Clive : then to describe the decisive battle which
followed his arrival on the island.



CHAPTER IX
Tae BATTLE oF PLASSEY

MeaNwHILE Clive had made every preparation for
the advance of his army. A considerable portion of
it had been stationed at Chandranagar. To that place
he despatched on the 1:th of June all the soldiers
available, and 150 sailors lent him by the Admiral,
leaving Calcutta guarded by a few sick Kuropeans,
some sipahis to look after the French prisoners, and
a few gunners to man the guns on the ramparts. On
the 13th he qultted Chandranagar, the Europeans,
with the guns, munitions, and stores, proceeding by
water in 200 boats, towed by natives against the
stream, the sipahfs marching along the right bank of
the river, on the highroad made by the Mughal
Government from Higli to Patnd 1. The force consisted,
all told, of about goo Europeans, 200 men of mixed
native and Portuguese blood who served with the
Europeans, a small detail of lascars, and 2100 sipéhis.
The artillery consisted of eight six-pounders and two
small howitzers.

1 Vide Broome’s History of the Bengal Army, p. 137.
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The day after the force had set out Clive despatched
to the Stubahddr a communication tantamount to a
declaration of war; and he proceeded, as he ap-
proached the enemy’s camp, to act as though such
a declaration had been accepted. On the 16th he
reached Palti, a town on the western bank of the
Késimbazar river about six miles above its junction
with the Jalangi. Twelve miles higher up he came
within striking distance of Katwé, the Governor of
which was supposed to be one of the conspirators.
Clive, expecting that the opposition would not be
serious, despatched to occupy it, on the 17th, 200
Europeans and 500 sipdhis, under Major Eyre Coote.
But either the Governor had changed his mind or he
had only feigned compliance, for he prepared to resist
Coote’s attack. Coote at once made preparations for
an assault, and took such dispositions, that the
garrison, recognizing the futility of resistance, and
fearing to be cut off, evacuated the place, leaving
large supplies in the hands of the victors.

The next day, the 18th, a terrific storm raging,
the force halted. The day following, Clive, who
had committed himself' to the enterprise mainly on
the conviction that Mir Jafar would support him,
received a letter from that nobleman, informing him
that he had feigned reconciliation with the Stibahdar
and had taken an oath not to assist the English, but
adding that ‘ the purport of his convention with them
must be carried into execution.’ This strange letter
from the man upon whose co-operation he particularly
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depended led Clive to doubt whether, after all, Mir
Jafar might not betray him. Under this possibility,
the sense of the extreme danger of the enterprise in
which he was engaged revealed itself to him more
clearly than it had ever presented itself before. To
cross an unfordable river in the face of a vastly
superior enemy, at a distance of 150 miles from all
support, would, he felt, be a most hazardous under-
taking. Should Mir Jafar be faithless to him, as he
had appeared to be to his master, and should the
English force be defeated, there would scarcely sur-
vive a man to tell the tale. Again would Calcutta
be in jeopardy—this time probably beyond redemp-
tion. Under the influence of such thoughts he resolved
not to cross the river until he should receive from
Mir Jafar more definite assurances.

The next day, the 20th, a messenger arrived from
his agent, Mr. Watts, who was then at Kaln4, carrying
a letter to the effect that before he quitted Mur-
shid4b4ad he had been engaged in an interview with
Mir Jafar and his son, when there entered some
emissaries of the Stibahddr; that, in the presence of
these, Mir Jafar had denounced Mr. Watts as a spy,
and had threatened to destroy the English if they
should attempt to cross the Bhdgirathi. This letter
decided Clive. He resolved to summon a Council of
War.

There came to that Council, about noon of the
218t of June, the following officers: Colonel Clive,
Majors Kilpatrick and Grant, Captains Gaupp, Rum-
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bold, Fischer, Palmer, Le Beaume, Waggonner, Cor-
neille, and Jennings, Captain-Lieutenants Parshaw
and Molitore ;—Major Eyre Coote, Captains Alexander
Grant, Cudmore, Armstrong, Muir, Campbell, and
Captain-Lieutenant Carstairs.. The question sub-
mitted to them was: ¢ whether under existing eir-
cumstances, and without other assistance, it would
be prudent to cross the river and come to action at
once with the Nawdb, or whether they should fortify
themselves at Katwé, and wait till the monsoon was
over, when the Mardthés or some other country power
might be induced to join them. Contrary to the
usual custom, Clive spoke first, the others following
according to seniority. Clive spoke and voted against
immediate action. He was supported by the twelve
officers whose names immediately follow his own name
in the list I have given, and opposed by the owners
of the seven last names, Major Eyre Coote speaking
very emphatically in favour of action ; the majority
of the Council, we thus see, siding with Clive.

The subsequent career of Eyre Coote, especially in
Southern India, proved very clearly that as a com-
mander in the field he fell far short of Robert Clive,
but on this occasion he was the wiser of the two.
Some years later Clive, giving his evidence before
a Select Committee of the House of Commons, em-
phatically stated that had he abided by the decision of
the Council it would have caused the ruin of the East
India Company. As it was, he reconsidered his vote
the moment the Council was over. It is said that he
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sat down under a clump of trees, and began to turn
over in his mind the arguments on both sides. He
was still sitting when a despatch from Mir Jafar?®
reached him, containing favourable assurances. Clive
then resolved to fight. All doubt had disappeared
from his mind. He was again firm, self-reliant, con-
fident. Meeting Eyre Coote as he returned to his
quarters, he simply informed him that he had changed
his mind and intended to fight, and then proceeded to
dictate in his own tent the orders for the advance.

At sunrise on the 22nd the force commenced the
passage of the river. By four o’clock it was safe on
the other side. Here a letter was received from Mir
Jafar, informing Clive of the contemplated movements
of the Nawéb. Clive replied that he ¢ would march to
Plassey without delay, and would the next morning
advance six miles further to the village of Daudpur,
but if Mir Jafar did not join him there, he would
make peace with the Nawédb.” Two hours later, about
sunset, he commenced his march amid a storm of
heavy rain which wetted the men to the skin. In all
respects, indeed, the march was particularly trying,
for the recent rains had inundated the country, and
for eight hours the troops had to follow the line of the
river, the water constantly reaching their waists.
They reached Plassey, a distance of fifteen miles, at one
o’clock on the morning of the 23rd of June, and lay

1 Vide Ives’s Voyage and Historical Narrative, p. 150. Mr, Ives was
surgeon of the Kent during the expedition to Bengal, and was
a great friend of Admiral Watson.
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down to sleep in a mango-grove, the sound of drums
and other music in the camp of the Nawéb solacing
rather than disturbing them. The Stbahddr had
reached his headquarters twelve hours before them.

The mango-tope in which the English were resting
was but a mile distant from the intrenched position
occupied by Sirdj-ud-dauld’s army. It was about 8co
yards in length and 300 in breadth, the trees planted
in regular rows. All round it was a bank of earth,
forming a good breastwork. Beyond this was a ditch
choked with weeds and brambles. The length of the
grove was nearly diagonal to the river, the north-west
angle being little more than 50 yards from the bank,
whilst at the south-west corner it was more than 200
yards distant. A little in advance, on the bank of the
river, stood a hunting-box belonging to the Naw4b,
encompassed by a wall of masonry. In this,during the
night, Clive placed 200 Europeans and 300 natives,
with two field-pieces. But in the morning he with-
drew the greater part of them!. He had with him
950 European infantry and artillery, 200 topasses,
men of mixed race, armed and equipped as Euro-
peans, 50 sailors with seven midshipmen attached,
2100 sipdhis, a detail of lascars, and the field-pieces
already mentioned.

On the spot which the Nawdb had selected for his
intrenched camp the river makes a bend in the form
of a horseshoe, with the points much contracted,

! Vide Orme’s History of India, and Broome’s History of thé Bengal
Army.
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forming a peninsula of about three miles in circum-
ference, the neck of which was less than a quarter
of a mile in breadth. The intrenchment commenced
a little below the southern point of this gorge, resting
on the river, and extending inland for about 200
yards, and sweeping thence round to the north for
about three miles. At this angle was a redoubt, on
which the enemy had mounted several pieces of cannon.
About 300 yards to the eastward of this redoubt was
a hillock covered with jungle, and about 8co yards to
the south, nearer Clive’s grove, was a tank, and 100
yards further south was a second and larger one.
Both of these were surrounded by large mounds of
earth, and, with the hillock, formed important positions
for either army to occupy. The Stbahdér’s army was
encamped partly in this peninsula, partly in rear of
the intrenchment. He had 50,000 infantry of sorts,
18,000 horse of a better quality, and 53 guns, mostly 32,
24, and 18-pounders. The infantry was armed chiefly
with matchlocks, swords, pikes, bows and arrows, and
possessed little or no discipline ; the cavalry was well-
trained and well-mounted ; the guns were mounted on
large platforms, furnished with wheels, and drawn by
forty or fifty yoke of powerful oxen, assisted by
elephants. But the most efficient portion of his force
was a small party of forty to fifty Frenchmen, com-
manded by M. St. Frais, formerly one of the Council
of Chandranagar. This party had attached to it four
light field-pieces.

1 For these details see Orme, Broome, Clive's Evidence before
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At daybreak on the 23rd of June the Naw4b moved
his entire army out of the intrenchment and advanced
towards the position occupied by Clive, the several
corps marching in compact order. In front was St.
Frais, who took post at the larger tank, that nearest
Clive’s grove. On a line to his right, near the river,
were a couple of heavy guns, under the orders of
a native officer. Behind these two advanced parties,
and within supporting distance, was a chosen body of
5000 horse and 7000 foot, under the immediate com-
mand of the Nawéb’s most faithful general, Mir
Madan®. The rest of the Nawdb’s army extended in
a curve, its right resting on the hillock near the
camp ; thence sweeping round in dense columns of
horse and foot to the eastward of the south-east angle
of the grove. Here, nearest to the English, were
placed the troops of Mir Jafar, then those of Yér Lutf
Khén, beyond these Rdja Duldb Rdm. The English
within the grove were thus almost surrounded by the
river and the enemy ; but in view of the promised
treachery of Mir Jafar, the greatest danger was to be
apprehended from their immediate front, viz. from
St. Frais, with his little body of Frenchmen, and from
Mir Madan.

From the roof of the hunting-house Clive watched
his enemy take up the positions which would hold

the Committee of the House of Commons, Clive’s Report fo the Court
of Directors, Sir Eyre Coote’s Narrative, and Ives's Voyage and
Historical Narrative. The account which follows is based entirely
on these authorities.

! See Elliot’s History of India, vol. viii. p. 428,

G
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him, if their generals were true to their master, in
a vice. ‘They approached apace,’ he wrote in a letter
of July 26 to the Secret Committee of the Court of
Directors, ‘and by six began to attack us with
a number of heavy cannon, supported by the whole
army, and continued to play on us very briskly for
several hours, during which our situation was of the
utmost service to us, being lodged in a large grove,
with good mud banks. To succeed in an attempt on
their cannon was next to impossible, as they were
planted in a manner round us, and at considerable dis-
tances from each other. We therefore remained quiet
in our post, in expectation of a successful attack upon
their camp at night. About noon the enemy drew off
their artillery and returned to their camp.’

So far, up to mid-day, we have the outline of the
fight as narrated by Clive ; it is, however, but an out-
line. It would seem that the action commenced by
a discharge of one of the four guns of St. Frais. This
discharge killed one and wounded another of the men
of the European battalion. Immediately afterwards
the whole of the enemy’s guns opened fire, but their
shots flew high, and did but little mischief. Clive
meanwhile had drawn up his troops in line in front of
the grove, their left resting on the hunting-box, with
the exception of two guns and two howitzers which
he had posted at some brick-kilns some 200 yards
in front of the hunting-box spoken of. These, as
soon as the enemy opened, replied promptly and
effectively. The remaining six guns, placed three on
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each flank of the European battalion which formed
the centre of his line, answered the heavy batteries of
the enemy, but, from their small calibre, made but
little impression.

After a cannonade of half an hour, the English
having lost ten Europeans and twenty sipahis in killed
and wounded, Clive withdrew them under shelter of
the grove, leaving one detachment at the brick-kilns,
another at the hunting-box. This retrograde movement
greatly encouraged the enemy. They brought their
guns much nearer, and their fire became more vigorous
and sustained. But its effect was less fatal, for the
English troops were protected by the trees and the
mud bank, and, sitting down, were but little exposed.
This warfare continued till about eleven o’clock, the
casualties being far greater on the side of the Nawéb’s
army than among the English. Then Clive summoned
his principal officers to a conference, and it was
resolved that the troops should occupy their existing
positions until midnight, and should then attack the
Nawéb’s camp. We may regard the close of the con-
ference as occurring about the same time as the with-
drawal of the enemy’s artillery indicated by Clive in
the above extract from his despatch.

For, scarcely was the conference over, than the skies
poured down a fierce shower, such as occurs often
during the rainy season, which lasted an hour. Then
it was that the enemy’s artillery fire slackened by
degrees almost to the point of ceasing, for the rain had
damaged their ammunition, left almost completely

G 2
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without cover. Clive had been more careful of his
powder, so that when the enemy’s horse, believing the
English guns as powerless as their own, advanced
towards the grove to charge, they were received with
a fire which emptied many a saddle, and sent them
reeling back. In this charge Mir Madan, previously
referred to, was killed™.

The death of this brave and faithful soldier greatly
disheartened the Sttbahd4r. He sent for Mir Jafar, and
implored him to remain faithful to his oath. Taking
off his turban and casting it at the feet of his uncle?,
‘he exclaimed in humble tones, ‘Jafar, that turban
thou must defend.’ Mir Jafar promised, but instead
of performing, the degenerate Muhammadan returned
to his confederates and sent a despatch to Clive, in-
forming him of all that had passed, and begging him to
push on immediately, or, if that were impossible, not
to fail to attack during the night. His letter did not
reach Clive till late in the evening. Meanwhile other
influences had been at work to bring about a similar
result.

It is impossible not to feel sympathy for the youth-
ful prince, surrounded by traitors, his one true adherent
killed. Scarcely had Mir Jafar quitted him when
there came to him another traitor, R4j4 Duldb Rém,
who commanded the army corps nearest to the position

1 Elliot states, on the authority of the J'ami’ut Taw’ari’kh,

that he was accidentally struck by a cannon-ball. History of India,

vol. viii. p. 427.
2 Mir Jafar had married the sister of Ali Vardi Khén, the
Nawadb’s father.
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he had taken. The R4ja found his master in a state
of great agitation. The English were showing them-
selves in the open; his own men were giving way ;
hope was vanishing quickly. Instead of encouraging
the Stbahdér to fight it out, the treacherous Raja gave
fuel to his fears, told him the day was lost, and urged
him to flee to Murshiddbad. In an evil hour for his
dynasty and for himself, Sirdj-ud-dauld yielded to his
persuasions, and, ordering his troops to retire within .
the intrenchment, mounted a swift dromedary, and
fled, accompanied by 2000 horsemen, to his capital.

It was then two o’clock. The first hour since
Clive’s conference had been marked by the heavy rain :
the second by the repulse of the Sabahdir’s horse-
men; the following up of the repulsed attack; the con-
versations of the Stbahddr with his two treacherous
generals. By two oclock the enemy’s attack had
completely ceased, and they were observed yoking
their oxen preparatory to withdrawing within the
intrenchment as the Stibahdar had ordered. There re-
mained only on the ground that body of forty gallant
Frenchmen under St. Frais, whom I have described
as occupying the ground about the larger tank, that
nearest to the grove. The post was an important
one, for from it the English could have taken the
retreating enemy in flank, and have inflicted heavy
loss upon them. St. Frais was nearly isolated, but
he, too, had seen the advantage the English would
derive from occupying the position, and, faithful amid
the faithless, he, with the gallantry of his nation,
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resolved to defend it until it should be no longer
defensible.

There was with the army a very gallant officer,
Major James Kilpatrick, who had greatly distinguished
himself in Southern India, and who, on this occasion,
commanded the Company’s troops. Kilpatrick had
noted the firm front displayed by St. Frais, the great
advantage to be derived from occupying the position
he held, the disadvantage of leaving him to hold it
whilst the English force should advance. He resolved,
- then, to expel him: so sending word to Clive of his
intentions, and of the reason which prompted his
action, he marched with two companies towards
St. Frais. .

Clive, meanwhile, seeing the enemy’s attack broken,
yet deeming it better, not having received Mir Jafar’s
letter, to wait till the sun should have descended
before making the decisive attack, had proceeded to
the hunting-box to rest after so many hours of fatigue
and excitement, to be followed, he believed, by many
more, having first given orders that he should be
informed of any change that might occur in the
enemy’s position. He was there when the message
of Kilpatrick reached him. Rising, he hurried to the
spot, met Kilpatrick as he was advancing to the
assault, reprimanded him for having taken such a
step without orders, but seeing him so far forward,
he took himself the command of the detachment,
sending back Kilpatrick to the grove to bring the
remainder of the troops. When St. Frais recognized
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the earnestness of the English, and that he was
entirely without support, he evacuated the post,
and retreated to the redoubt at the corner of the
intrenchment. There he placed his guns ready for
action %,

Meanwhile, whilst the English force was thus ad-
vancing, the army corps commanded by Mir Jafar
was observed to linger behind the rest of the retreat-
ing enemy. It was noticed, further, that when it
had advanced almost abreast of the northern line of
the grove, it faced to its left and advanced in that
direction. For a time it seemed to the English
officers as though the troops composing it were about
to make a raid on their baggage, and a party with
a field-piece was sent forward to check them. The
corps then halted, remained so for a time, then
slowly retired, taking, however, a direction which
led it apart from the other corps of the enemy. We
shall return to them in a few moments.

Whilst this corps was executing the manceuvre
I have described, Clive had advanced to a position
whence he could cannonade the enemy’s camp. The
effect of this fire was to cause great loss and confusion
amongst the troops of the Stthahdér, at the same time
that the English, giving, by their advance, their flank
to the French in the redoubt, suffered also. To put

! This episode is not specially mentioned by Clive, but it rests
on irrefragable evidence. Vide Orme, vol. ii. p. 176: see also
Sir Eyre Coote’s Narrative ; also Malcolm’s Life of Lord Clive, vol. i.
p. 260.
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an end to this cross-fire Clive saw that the one
remedy was to storm the redoubt. He was unwilling,
however, to risk his troops in a severe contest with
the French so long as the army corps, the movements
of which I have described in the preceding para-
graph, should continue to occupy its apparently
threatening position. That corps might be the corps
of Mir Jafar, but there was no certainty that it was
s0, for Clive had not then received Mir Jafar’s letter,
nor was he aware of the flight of the Nawéb. It was
just at this critical moment that he observed the
‘corps in question making the retrograde movement
I have referred to. Then all doubt was over in his
mind. It must, he was convinced, be the corps of
his adherent. Certain now that he would not be
molested, he hurled his troops against the redoubt
and the hillock to the east of it. St. Frais displayed
a bold front, but, abandoned almost immediately by
his native allies, and deeming it wiser to preserve
his handful of Europeans for another occasion, he
evacuated the redoubt, leaving his field-pieces behind
him. His resistance was the last opposition offered
to the English. The clocks struck five as he fell
back, thus tolling the memorable hour which gave
to England the richest province in India; which
imposed upon her the necessity to advance upwards
from its basis until she should reach the rocky region
called with some show of reason the ¢Glacis of the
Fortress of Hindustén.’

Just as the beaten and betrayed army was moving
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off with its impedimenta, its elephants, its camels,
leaving to be scrambled for an enormous mass of
baggage, stores, cattle, and camp equipage, Clive
received messengers from Mir Jafar requesting an
interview. Clive replied by appointing a meeting
for the morrow at Ddudpur, a village twenty miles
to the south of Murshiddbdd. Thither the bulk of the
troops, their spirits cheered by the promise made
them that they would receive a liberal donation in
money, marched that evening; whilst a detachment
under Eyre Coote went forward in pursuit, to prevent
the enemy from rallying. After a short halt, to
enable the commissariat to exchange their small and
worn-out bullocks for the splendid oxen of the
Stbahdér, the troops pressed on, and at eight o’clock
the entire force was united at Daudpur.

Such was the battle of Plassey. The loss of the
English force was extremely small, amounting to
seven Europeans and sixteen sipdhis killed, and
thirteen Europeans and thirty-six sipdhis wounded.
No officer was killed : two were wounded, but their
names are not recorded. A midshipman of the Kent,
Shoreditch by name, was shot in the thigh, whilst
doing duty with the artillery. The enemy’s casualties
were far greater. It was calculated to be, in killed
and wounded, about a thousand, including many
officers. They had been far more exposed than the
English. Writing, in the letter already referred to,
of the phases of the action between two and five
o'clock, Clive states that their horse exposed them-
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selves a great deal; that ‘many of them were killed,
amongst the rest four or five officers of the first

distinetion.’
Clive had gained his victory. We have now to

record the use that he made of it.



CHAPTER X

How CLIVE DEALT WITH THE SPOILS OF PLASSEY:
HIS DEALINGS WITH MR JAFAR; WITH THE
PRINCES OF SOUTHERN INDIA ; WITH THE DUTCH.

Tur following morning Clive despatched M.
Serafton and Omar Beg?! to escort Mir Jafar to his
camp. The time had arrived when one at least of
the spoils of Plassey was to be distributed.

Long previous to the battle Clive had received
various proposals from the three general officers who
had commanded the three principal army corps at
Plagsey. First, Yar Lutf Khén had made him a bid,
his main condition being that he should be pro-
claimed Sabahddr 2 Then Mir Jafar outbad him,
bringing with him R4jd Duldb Rdm, who would be
content with the office of Finance Minister under the
Mir. It had been arranged that whilst Mir Jafar
should be proclaimed Stibahdér of the three provinees,
he should confirm to the English all the advantages
ceded by Sirdj-ud-dauld in the preceding February ;
should grant to the Company all the lands lying to
the south of Calcutta, together with a slip of ground,

! Omar Beg was a confidential agent of Mir Jafar, attached to
Clive’s person.

2 Sbahdsr was the correct official title of the governor, or, as he
is popularly styled, the Nawib, of Bengal.
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600 yards wide, all round the outside of the Mardthd
Ditch®; should cede all the French factories and
establishments in the province ; should pledge himself
that neither he nor his successors in the office of
Stibahd4r should erect fortifications below the town
of Hugli; whilst he and they should give to, and
require from, the English, support in case of
hostilities from any quarter. Mir Jafar covenanted
likewise to make very large payments to the Com-
pany and others under the name of restitution for
the damages they had suffered since the first attack
on Calcutta ; others also under the title of gratifica-
tion for services to be rendered in placing him on the
masnad 2. In the former category were reckoned one
karor, or ten millions, of rupees to be paid to the
Company; ten lakhs to the native inhabitants of
Calcutta, seven lakhs to the Armenians. Under the
second head payments were to be made to the army,
the squadron, and the members of the Special Com-
mittee of Calcutta, to the extent noted below ®.

I It must be recollected that in those days the Mardthds were
regarded as serious and formidable enemies. It was against their
depredations that the ditch round Caleutta, known as the ¢ Marithd
Ditch,” had been dug.

* Masnad, a cushion, signifying the seat of supreme authority.

? The Squadron was to receive 2,500,000 rupees ; the Army, the
same ; Mr. Drake, Governor of Calcutta (the same who had quitted
Caleutta and his companions to take shelter on board ship at the
time of Sirdj-ud-dauld’s attack), 280,000 ; Colonel Clive, as second
in the Select Committee (appointed before the war to negotiate
with Mir Jafar), 280,000; Major Kilpatrick, Mr. Watts, and
Mr. Becher, as members of the said Committee, 240,000 each.
I may here state in anticipation that, in addition to these sums,
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The first of these contracts, now become binding,
was to be carried out on the morning of the 24th of
June, at the interview between the two principal
parties, Clive and Mir Jafar. It has occurred to me
that the reader may possibly care to know something
more, little though it be, of the antecedents of this
general, who, to his own subsequent unhappiness,
betrayed his master for his own gain.

Mir Muhammad Jafar was a nobleman whose family
had settled in Bihdr. He had taken service under, had
become a trusted officer of, Ali Vardi Khén, the father
of Sirdj-ud-dauld, and had married his sister. On his
death, he had been made Bakhshi, or Commander-in-
chief,of the army, and, in that capacity, had commanded
it when it took Calcutta in June, 17561, Between
himself and his wife’s nephew, Sirdj-ud-dauld, there
had never been any cordiality. The latter, with the in-
solence of untamed and uneducated youth, had kicked
against the authority of his uncle; had frequently
insulted him ; and had even removed him from his
office. Mir Jafar had felt these slights bitterly.
the following private donations were subsequently given, viz. : to
Clive, 1,600,000 rupees; to Watts, 300,000; to the six members
of Council, 100,000 each; to Walsh, Clive’s secretary and pay-
master to the Madras troops, 500,000 ; to Scrafton, 200,000; to
Lushington, 50,000; to Major A. Grant, commanding the de-
tachment of H.M.’s 39th regiment, 100,000.

L There can be no doubt about this. ¢ About five o'clock the Nawib
entered the fort, carried in an open litter, attended by Mir
Jafar Khén, his Bakhshi or General-in-chief, and the rest of his
principal officers.” He was present when the English were brought

before the Nawsb : vide Broome, p. 66. Orme, vol. ii. p. 73, makes
a similar statement.
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Living, as he was, in an age of retolution, dynasties
falling about him, the very throne of Delhi the
appanage of the strongest, he felt no compunction
in allying himself with the foreigner to remove
from the throne—for it was virtually a throne—of
Murshiddbdd the man who alternately insulted
and fawned upon him. Little did he know, little
even did he reck, the price he would have to pay.
Fortunately for his peace of mind at the moment
the future was mercifully hidden from him. But
those who are familiar with the history of Bengal
after the first departure thence of Clive for England
will admit that never did treason so surely find its
own punishment as did the treason of Mir Jafar.

But he is approaching now, with doubt and anxiety
as to his reception, the camp in which he is to receive
from his confederate the reward of treason, or re-
proaches for his want of efficient co-operation on the
day preceding. On reaching the camp, writes the
contemporaneous historian of the period?, ‘he alighted
from his elephant, and the guard drew out and rested
their arms, to receive him with the highest honours.
Not knowing the meaning of this compliment, he
drew back, as if he thought it a preparation to his
destruction; but Colonel Clive, advancing hastily,
embraced him, and saluted him Stbahdér of Bengal,
Bih4r, and Orissa, which removed his fears” They
discoursed then for about an hour. Clive pressed
upon him the great necessity of proceeding at once to

1 Orme, vol. ii. p. 178.
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Murshidédbad to look after Sirdj-ud-dauld, and to pre-
vent the plunder of the treasury. The new Stbahdar
assented, and, returning to his army, set out and
arrived at the capital the same evening. Clive, having
sent friendly letters to the other chief conspirators,
made a short march of six miles to the village of
Baptd, and encamped there for the evening. At noon
the day following he proceeded to Madhupur, whence
he despatched Messrs. Watts and Walsh, with an
escort, of 100 sipahis, to arrange for the payments
noted in a preceding page. These soon found that the
treasury was not at the moment equal to the demand.
They arranged accordingly that one moiety should be
paid down: of this moiety two-thirds in hard coin,
one-third in jewels and plate ; that the second moiety
should be discharged by three equal payments, ex-
tending over three years.

Whilst these negotiations were progressing, Clive,
having ascertained that the other chief conspirators
had accepted the terms offered to them, entered the
city of Murshidébdd (July 29), attended by 200 Euro-
peans and 300 sipdhis, and took up his quarters in the
palace of Murddbégh, his followers encamping in the
garden attached to it. Here he was waited upon by
Miran, the eldest son of Mir Jafar, and with him he
proceeded to the Stbahdar’s palace, where Mir Jafar
and his principal officers were waiting to receive him.
Clive, after saluting Mir Jafar, led him to the masnad,
and, despite some affected unwillingness on the part of
the Mir, seated him upon it, hailed him with the usual
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forms as StGbahd4r, offering at the same time a nazar
of 100 ashrafis®. He then, through an interpreter,
addressed the assembled nobles, congratulated them
on the change of masters, and urged them to be faith-
ful to Mir Jafar. The usual ceremonies followed, and
the new ruler was publicly proclaimed throughout
the city.

It is impossible to quit this subject without record-
ing, as briefly as possible, the fate of the relative Mir
Jafar had betrayed and supplanted. Siréj-ud-daulé,
fleeing, as we have seen, from the field of Plassey, had
reached Murshidédbédd the same night. The next morn-
ing the news of the total rout of his army reached
him. He remained in his palace till dusk, then, accom-
panied by his favourite wife, he embarked on a boat,
hoping to find refuge in the camp of M. Law, who was
advancing from Bhégalpur. But at R4jmahél the
strength of the rowers gave out, and the young prince
rested for the night in the buildings of a deserted
garden. There he was discovered, and, taken back,
was made over to Mir Jafar. The interview which
followed will recall to the English historical student the
scene between James II and the Duke of Monmouth.
There was the same vain imploring for life on the one
side, the same inexorable refusal on the other. That
same night Sirdj-ud-dauld was stabbed to death in
his cell.

! The value of an ashrafia, at a later period called by the
English ‘Gold Muhr,” was about 1. 115, 84. A ‘nazar’ is a gift
offered and received when people of rank pay their respects to a
prince. It is more properly called ¢Nazrdnd.’
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Another scene, scarcely less revolting in its details,
had occurred the preceding day. I have mentioned
the two treaties made by the conspirators, the one the
real treaty, the other a counterpart, drawn up to
deceive Aminchand. In the distribution of the plunder
it had become necessary to disclose the truth to the
wily Bengal speculator. For him there need be but
little pity. Entrusted with the secrets of the conspira-
tors, he had threatened to betray them unless twenty
lakhs of rupees should be secured to him in the general
agreement. He was, in a word—to use an expression
much in use at the present day—a ¢blackmailer.’
Clive and the officers with whom he was acting
thought it justifiable to deceive such a man. The
hour of his awakening had now arrived. The two
treaties were produced, and Aminchand was somewhat
brutally informed by Mr. Scrafton that the treaty in
which his name appeared was a sham; that he was
to have nothing. The sudden shock is said to have
alienated his reason. But if so, the alienation was
only temporary. He proceeded on a pilgrimage to
Malda, and for a time abstained from business. But
the old records of Calcutta show that he soon returned
to his trade, for his name appears in many of the
transactions in which the English were interested
after the departure of Clive.

Nor was the dealing with Aminchand the only
matter connected with the distribution of the spoil
which caused ill-feeling. There had been much bit-
terness stirred up in the army by the fact that the

H
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sailors who had fought at Plassey should receive their
share of the amount promised to the navy in addition
to that which would acerue to them as fighting men.
A mixed Committee, composed of representatives of
each branch of the military service, had decided against
the claims of the sailors to draw from both sources,
and Clive was appealed to to confirm it. But Clive,
who, in matters of discipline, was unbending, overruled
the decision of the Committee, placed its leader,
Captain Armstrong, under arrest, and dissolved the
Committee. In a dignified letter Clive pointed out to
the Committee their error, and drew from them an
apology. But the feeling rankled. It displayed itself
a little later in the acquittal of Captain Armstrong
by a court-martial. In other respects the distribution
of the money was harmful, for it led to excesses among
officers and men, and, consequently, to a large increase
of mortality.

Meanwhile the new Stibahdar began to find that the
State-cushion was not altogether a bed of roses. The
enormous sums demanded by his English allies, and
by other adherents, had forced him, as soon as Clive
had left for Calcutta, to apply the screw to the
wealthier of his new subjects. Even his fellow-con-
spirators felt the burden. Ré&jd Duldb Rdm, whom he
had made Finance Minister, with the right to appro-
priate to himself five per cent. on all payments made
by the Treasury, retired in dudgeon to his own palace,
gummoned his friends, and refused all intercourse with
Mir Jafar. The R4jd of Purniah and the Governor of
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Bihdr went into rebellion. The disaffection reached
even the distant city of Dhék4, where the son of Sar-
fardz, the representative of the ancient family ruling
in Bengal, lived in retirement and hope. Under these
circumstances Mir Jafar, though he well knew what it
would cost him, made an application for assistance to
Clive.

The English leader had expected the application.
He had recognized long before that, in the East, power
depends mainly on the length of the purse, and that,
from having exhausted his treasury, Mir Jafar would
be forced to sue to him in forma pauperis. Clive
had studied the situation in all its aspects. The blow
he had given to native rule by the striking down of
the late Stibahdédr had rendered absolute government,
such as that exercised by Sirdj-ud-dauld, impossible.
Thenceforth it had become indispensable that the
English should supervise the native rule, leaving to
the Siibahdar the initiative and the semblance. Clive
had reason to believe that whilst Mir Jafar would be
unwilling to play such a role, he would yet, under
pressure, play it. He had seen that the new ruler
was so enamoured of the paraphernalia of power that,
rather than renounce it, he would agree to whatever
terms he might impose which would secure for him
nominal authority. There was but one point regarding
which he had doubts, and that was whether the proud
Muhammadan nobles to whom, in the days of the
glories of the Mughal empire, great estates had been
granted in Bengal, would tamely submit to a system

H2
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which would give to the Western invaders all the
actual power, and to the chief of their own class and
religion only the outer show.

The application from Mir Jafar, then, found Clive
in the mood to test this question. Mir Jafar had
thrown himself into his hands; he would use the
chance to make it clear that he himself intended to be
the real master, whilst prepared to render to the
Stbahdér the respect and homage due to his position.
Accordingly he started at once (November 17) for
Murshiddbdd with all his available troops, now reduced
at Calcutta to 400 English and 1300 sipahis,and reached
that place on the 25th, bringing with him the dis-
affected R4jd of Purniah. His peace he made with the
Mir Jafar; then, joined by the 250 Europeans he had
left at Késimbézar, he proceeded to Rdjmahdl, and
encamped there close to the army of the Stbahdar,
who had marched it thither with the object of coercing
Bihdr.

This was Clive’s opportunity. Bihdr was very
restive, and the Stibahd4r could not coerce its nobles
without the aid of the English. Clive declined to
render that aid unless the Stabahd4r should, before
one of his soldiers marched, pay up all the arrears
due to the English, and should execute every article
of the treaty he had recently signed. Xor Mir
Jafar the dilemma was terrible. He had not the
money ; he had made enemies by his endeavours to
raise it. In this trouble he bethought him of Réja
Duldb Rém, recently his Finance Minister, but whom
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he had subsequently alienated. Through Clive’s me-
diation a reconciliation was patched up with the R4j4.
Then the matter was arranged in the manner Clive
had intended it should be, by giving the English
a further hold on the territories of the Stbahd4r.

It was agreed that Clive should receive orders on
the treasury of Murshiddbdd for twelve and a half
lakhs of rupees; assignments on the revenues of
Bardwin, Kishangarh, and Hagli for ten and a half:
for the payments becoming due in the following
April, assignments on the same districts for nineteen
lakhs: then the cession of the lands south of Calcutta,
so long deferred, was actually made—the annual
rental being the sum of 222,958 rupees. These ar-
rangements having been completed, Clive accompanied
the Stibahdér to the capital of Bih4r, the famous city of
Patnd. There they both remained, the Stbahdar await-
ing the receipt of the imperial patents confirming him
in his office ; Clive resolved, whatever were the personal
inconvenience to himself, not to quit Patnd so long as
the Stbahdér should remain there. They stayed there
three months, a period which Clive utilized to the
best advantage, as it seemed to him at the moment,
of his countrymen. The province of Bihdr was the
seat of the saltpetre manufacture. It was a monopoly’
farmed to agents, who re-sold the saltpetre on terms
bringing very large profits. Clive proposed to the

! The possession of this monopoly became the cause of the troubles
which followed the departure of Clive, and led to the life-and-
death struggle with Mir Kdsim.
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Stbahdar that the East India Company should be-
come the farmers, and offered a higher sum than
any at which the monopoly had been previously rated.
Mir Jafar was too shrewd a man not to recognize the
enormous advantages which must accrue to his foreign
protectors by his acquiescence in a scheme which would
place in their hands the most important trade in the
country. But he felt the impossibility of resistance.
He was a bird in the hands of the fowler, and he agreed.

At length (April 14) the looked-for patents arrived.
Accompanying that which gave to the usurpation of
Mir Jafar the imperial sanction was a patent for Clive,
creating him a noble of the Mughal empire, with the
rank and title of a Mansabdar! of 6oco horse. The
investiture took place the day following. Then, after
marching to Béarh, the two armies separated, the
Stbahddr proceeding to Murshiddbad; Clive, after
a short stay at that place, to Calcutta.

Clive had returned to Caleutta, May 24, absolute
master of the situation. He had probed to the bottom
the character of the Stibahddr, and had realized that
so long as he himself should remain in India, and
Mir Jafar on the masnad, the English need fear no
attack. But, in the East, one man’s life, especially

! For the nature of Mansab, and the functions of the holder of a
Mansab (or Mansabdar) the reader is referred to Blochmann’s
Ain-i-Akbari. By the original regulations of Akbar, who founded
the order, the Mansabdars ranked from the Dahbashi, often
Commander-in-Chief, to the Doh Hazdri, Commander of 10,000
horse, to the Mansabdars of 6ooo downwards. Vide Ain-i-Akbari
(Blochmann’s), p. 237 and onwards. ;
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life of a usurper, is never secure. In those days
the risks he incurred were infinitely greater than
they are nmow. Clive had noted the ill-disguised
impatience of several of the powerful nobles, more
especially that of Miran, the son, and of Mir Ké4sim,
the son-in-law, of the Stibahddr. He had left, then,
the greater part of his English soldiers at Késim-
bézér, close to the native capital, to watch events,
whilst he returned to Calcutta to trace there the plan
of a fortress which would secure the English against
attack. The fort so traced, received the name of its
predecessor, built by Job Charnock in the reign of
King William III, and called after him, Fort William.

Nearly one month later, June 20, there arrived
from England despatches, penned after learning the
recapture of Calcutta, but before any knowledge of
the events which had followed that recapture, order-
ing a new constitution for the administering of the
Company’s possessions in Bengal. The text of the
constitution, ridiculous under any circumstances, was
utterly unadapted to the turn events had taken. It
nominated ten men, not one of whom was competent
for the task, to administer the affairs of Bengal. The
name of Clive was not included amongst the ten
names. It was not even mentioned. Fortunately
for the Company, the ten men nominated had a
clearer idea of their own fitness than had their
honourable masters. With one consent, they repre-
sented the true situation to the Court of Directors,
and then, with the same unanimity, requested Clive
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to accept the office of President, and to exercise its
functions, until the pleasure of the Court should be
known. Clive could not but accede to their request.

For, indeed, it was no time for weak administration
and divided counsels. Again had the French at-
tempted to recover the position in Southern India
which Clive had wrested from them. Count Lally,
one of the brilliant victors of Fontenoy, had been
sent to Pondicherry with a considerable force, and
the news had just arrived that he was marching on
Tanjore, having recalled Bussy and his troops from
the court of the Stibahdédr of the Deccan. With the
news there had come also a rejuest that the Govern-
ment of Bengal would return to the sister Presidency
the troops lent to her by the latter in the hour of the
former’s need to recover Calcutta.

Clive felt all the urgency of the request; the
possible danger of refusing to comply with it; the
full gravity of the situation at Madras. He also was
one of those who had been lent. If the troops were
to return, it was he who should lead them back. But
he felt strongly that his place, and their place also,
was in Bengal. Especially was it so in the presence
of the rumours, already circulating, of great successes
achieved by Lally, and by the French fleet. Such
rumours, followed by his departure, would certainly
incite the nobles of Bengal and Bih4r, with or with-
out Mir Jafar, to strike for the independence which
they felt, one and all, he had wrested from them.

Matters, indeed, in the provinces of Bengal and
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Bih4r had come to bear a very threatening aspect. The
treasury of Mir Jafar was exhausted by his payments ;
his nobles were disaffected ; the moneyed classes bitterly
hostile. Threatened on his northern frontier by a re-
bellious son of the King of Delhi and by the Nawéb-
Wazir of Oudh, Mir Jafar was in the state of mind
which compels men of his stamp to have recourse
to desperate remedies. For a moment he thought seri-
ously of calling the Maréthés to his assistance. Then
the conviction forced itself upon him that the remedy
would be worse than the disease, and he renounced
the idea. At last, when the army of the rebel prince
had penetrated within Bihdr, and was approaching
Patnd, he resigned himself to the inevitable, and be-
sought abjectly the assistance of Clive.

Clive had resolved to help him when affairs in
Southern India reached a point which required his
immediate attention. A letter from the R4ja of
Vizianagram reached him, informing him that the
effect of the recall by Lally from Aurangibdd of the
troops under Bussy had been to leave the Northern
Sirkdrs! without sufficient protection; that he and
other Réjds had risen in revolt, and urgently de-
manded the despatch thither of some English troops,
by whose aid they could expel the few Frenchmen left
there. It was characteristic of Clive to seize the
points of a difficult situation. Few men who had to
meet on their front a dangerous invasion, would have
dared to despatch, to a distant point, the troops he

! The districts of Ganjim, Vizagapatam, Goddvari, and Krishna.
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had raised to repel that invasion, remaining himself
to meet it from resources he would improvise. But,
without a moment’s hesitation or a solitary mis-
giving, Clive recognized that the opportunity had
come to him to complete the work he had begun, six
years before, in Southern India; that a chance pre-
sented itself to transfer the great influence exercised
by Bussy at the court of the Siibahdér of the Deccan
to his own nation. Leaving to himself then the care
of Bengal and Bihdr he directed a trusted officer,
Colonel Forde, to proceed (October 12) with 500
Europeans, 2000 sipahfs, and some guns to Vizaga-
patam, to unite there with the Réjd’s troops, to take
command ; and to expel the French from the Northern
Sirkars: then, if it were possible, to assume at the
court of the Stibahdér the influence which the French
had till then exercised. It is only necessary here to
say that Forde, who was one of the great Indian
soldiers of the century, carried both points with skill
and discretion. He beat the French in detail, and
compelled them to yield their fortresses; and, when
the Stibahd4r marched to their aid, he succeeded, with
rare tact, in inducing him to cede to the English the
whole of the territories he had conquered, and to
transfer the paramount influence at his court to the
English. The victories of Forde laid the foundation
of a predominance which, placed some forty years
later on a definite basis by the great Marquess
Wellesley, exists to the present day. It is mot too
much to assert that this splendid result was due to
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the unerring sagacity, the daring under difficult cir-
cumstances, of Robert Clive.

Meanwhile the solicitations of Mir Jafar increased
in importunity. Even the Great Mughal called upon
Clive, as a Mansabdar, to assist him to repress the
rebellion of his son. Clive did not refuse. As soon
as his preparation had been completed, he set out,
February, 1759, for Murshiddbdd with 450 Europeans
and 2500 sipdhis, leaving the care of Calcutta to a
few sick and invalids. He reached Murshiddbad the
8th of March, and, accompanied by the Mir Jafars
army, entered Patnd on the 8th of April. But the
rumour of his march had been sufficient. Four days
before the date mentioned the rebellious prince
evacuated his positions before the city, and, eventually,
sought refuge in Bundelkhand. Clive entered Patnd
in triumph ; put down with a strong hand the dis-
turbances in its vicinity ; and then returned to Cal-
cutta, in time enough to hear of the victorious course
of Forde, although not of its more solid result.

Before he had quitted Patnd, Mir Jafar had con-
ferred upon him, as a personal jagirl, the Zamindar{

b A jagir is, literally, land given by a government as a reward
for services rendered. A Zaminddri, under the Mughal govern-
ment, meant a tract, or tracts of land held immediately of the
government on condition of paying the rent of it. By the deed
given to Clive, the East India Company, which had agreed to pay
the rents of those lands to the Stibahdir, would pay them to Clive
to whom the Sabahddr had, by this deed, transferred his rights.
It may here be added that the Company denied the right of Clive
to the rents which amounted to £30,000 per annum, and great
bitterness ensued. The matter was ultimately compromised.
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of the entire districts south of Calcutta then rented
by the East India Company.

Clive had scarcely returned to Calcutta when there
ensued complications with the Dutch.

During the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries
Holland had posed in the East as a rival, often a
successful rival, of the three nations which had
attempted to found settlements in those regions.
She had established a monopoly of trade with the
Moluceas, had possessed herself of several islands in
the vicinity of the Straits, had expelled Portugal from
Malacea (1641), from Ceylon (1658), from the Celebes
(1663), and from the most important of her conquests
on the coasts of Southern India (1665). In the be-
ginning of the eighteenth century the Dutch-Indian
Company possessed in the east seven administrations ;
four directorial posts; four military commands; and
four factories. The Company was rich, and had but
few debts.

Amongst the minor settlements it had made was
the town of Chinsurah, on the Higli, twenty miles
above Calcutta. Chinsurah was a subordinate station,
but, until the contests between the Nawdb and the
English, it had been a profitable possession. We have
seen how, under the pressure of Clive, Mir Jafar had
made to the English some important trade-concessions.
It was certain that sooner or later, these would affect
the trade, the profits, and the self-respect, of the
European rivals of Great Britain. Prominent as
traders amongst these were the Dutch. Amongst
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the changes which they felt most bitterly were (1)
the monopoly, granted to the English, of the saltpetre
trade ; (2) the right to search all vessels coming up
the Hugli; (3) the employment of no other than
English pilots. These injuries, as they considered
them, rankled in their breasts, and they resolved to
put a stop to them. To effect that purpose they
entered into secret negotiations with Mir Jafar.
These, after a time, ended in the entering into an
agreement in virtue of which, whilst the Dutch
covenanted to despatch to the Hugli a fleet and army
sufficiently strong to expel the English from Bengal,
the Stbahdar pledged himself to prepare with the
greatest secrecy an army to co-operate with them.
This agreement was signed in November, 1758, just
after Clive had despatched Forde, with all the troops
then available, to the Northern Sirk4rs, but before his
march to Patnd, recorded, with its consequences, in
the preceding pages. The secret had been well
kept, for Clive had no suspicion of the plot. He
knew he had the StGbahddr in the hollow of his
hand, so far as related to the princes of the soil;
he knew the French were powerless to aid the
Stibahdér : and he never thought of the little settle-
ment of Chinsurah.

In the month of June, 1759, just following the
return of Clive to Calcutta, the Mir Jafar received from
the Dutch a secret intimation that their plans were
approaching maturity., He stayed then but a short
time at the English seat of government, but returned
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thither in October, to be at hand when the expected
crisis should occur. Meanwhile rumours had got
about that a considerable Dutch fleet was approaching
the Hagli, and, in fact, a large Dutch vessel, with
Malayan soldiers, did arrive at Diamond Harbour.
Clive had at once demanded from the Dutch authori-
ties an explanation, at the same time that he inno-
cently apprised Mir Jafar of the circumstance, and of
the rumour. The Dutch authorities explained that
the ship had been bound for Négapatnam, but had
been forced by stress of weather to seek refuge in the
Hiagli.

In October, whilst Mir Jafar was actually in Cal-
cutta, the Dutch made their spring. It was a very
serious attack, for the Dutch had four ships, carrying
each thirty-six guns ; two, each carrying twenty-six ;
one, carrying sixteen, and had on board these %00
European soldiers and 8oo Malays: at Chinsurah
they had 150 Europeans, and a fair number of native
levies : behind them they had the Stibahddr. To meet
them Clive had but three Indiamen, each carrying
thirty guns, and a small despatch-boat. Of soldiers,
he had, actually in Calcutta and the vicinity, 330
Europeans, and 1200 sipdhis. The nearest of the
detachments in the country was too distant to reach
the scene of action in time to take part in the
impending struggle. There was aid, however, ap-
proaching, that he knew not of.

Clive revelled in danger. In its presence his
splendid qualities shone forth with a brilliancy which
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has never been surpassed. His was the soul that
animated the material figures around him. His the
daring with which he could inspire his subordinates ;
imbue them with his own high courage; and make
them, likewise, ¢ conquer the impossible.’
 His conduct on the occasion I am describing is
pre-eminently worthy of study. A short interview
with Mir Jafar filled his mind with grave suspicions.
He did not show them. He even permitted Mir
Jafar to proceed to Hagli to have an interview with
the Dutch authorities. But when the Stbahdér de-
spatched to him from that place a letter in which he
stated that he had simply granted to the Dutch some
indulgences with respect to their trade, he drew the
correct conclusion, and prepared to meet the double
danger.

In his summary of the several courses he would
have to adopt he dismissed altogether the Stbahdér
from his mind. Him he feared not. With the Dutch
he would deal and deal summarily. He had already
despatched special messengers to summon every avail-
able man from the outposts. He now called out the
militia, 300 men, five-sixths of whom were Europeans,
to defend the town and fort; he formed half a troop
of volunteer horsemen, and enlisted as volunteer in-
fantry all the men who could not ride; he ordered
the despatch-boat to sail with all speed to the
Arakan coast, where she would find a squadron under
Admiral Cornish ready to send him aid ; he ordered
up, to lie just below the fort, the three Indiamen of
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which I have spoken : he strengthened the two bat-
teries commanding the most important passages of
the river near Calcutta, and mounted guns on the
nascent Fort William. Then, when he had completed
all that ¢ Prudentia’ could suggest, the rival goddess,
¢ Fortuna i, smiled upon him. - Just as he was com-
pleting his preparations, Colonel Forde and Captain
Knox, fresh from the conquest of the Northern Sirkars,
arrived to strengthen his hand. To the former Clive
assigned the command of the whole of his available
force in the field : to the latter, the charge of the two
batteries.

Up to that period the Dutch had endeavoured to
pose as peaceful traders. But no sooner had their
negotiations with Mir Jafar been completed, and
they had received his permission to ascend to Chin-
surah, than they threw off the mask, and sent an
ultimatum to Clive threatening vengeance unless the
English should renounce their claim of the right of
search, and redress the other grievances they enume-
rated. Clive replied that in all his actions he had
been guided by the authority vested in him by the
Stibahdér, the representative of the Great Mughal;
that he was powerless in the matter; but that if
they would refer their complaints to the Stbahdar,
he would gladly act the part of mediator. The Dutch
commander, however, paid no heed to this some-
what vague reply, but acted as though it were a

1 ¢Nullum numen abest si sit Prudentia; nos te, Nos facimus
Fortuna, deam.” Juvenal.
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declaration of war. For, on receipt of Clive’s letter
he attacked and captured seven small vessels lying
off Falta, among them the despatch-boat above
referred to, tore down the English colours, and trans-
ferred the guns and material to their own ships.
Then, having plundered the few houses on the river-
banks, he continued his upward course, with his ships,
although, from the want of pilots, their progress was
necessarily slow.

(Clive, on hearing of these demonstrations, prepared
to act on the instant. First, he sent a despatch to the
Stibahd4r, telling him that the quarrel between the two
European nations must be fought out alone, adding,
however, to test Mir Jafar, a paragraph to the effect
that the Sabahd4r would convince him of his sincerity
and attachment if he would directly surround their
(the Dutch) subordinates, and distress them in ‘the
country to the utmost.” Then he ordered Forde to
occupy Barnagar on the left bank of the Hugli, five
miles from Calcutta ; to cross thence with his troops
and four field-pieces to Shirirdimpur, nine miles dis-
tant ; to be ready, either there or beyond it, to inter-
cept the Dutch troops, in the event of their trying to
reach Chinsurah by land. Then, learning that the
Dutch ships had progressed as far as the Sankral
reach, just below the fire of the English batteries, and
were landing their troops with directions to march
directly on Chinsurah, he issued orders for immediate
action.

Recognizing on the instant that, by landing, the

I
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enemy’s troops had severed themselves from their
base—the ships—he despatched Knox to join Forde,
and sent information to the latter of the probable
route the enemy’s troops would take, leaving it to
him to deal with them as he might consider advisable.
Then he sent orders to Commodore Wilson, the senior
of the captains of the Indiamen, to demand from the
Commander of the Dutch squadron a full apology for
the insults he and his subordinates had been guilty
of, the return of the individuals and of the plunder
he and they had taken, and their immediate depar-
ture from the Hfgli. Failing prompt compliance
with all these demands, Wilson was to attack the
enemy’s squadron.

The scene that followed deserves to rank with the
most glorious achievements of English sailors. The
three captains were all built in the heroic mould.
Not one of them felt a doubt of victory when they
were ordered to attack a squadron in all respects
more than double in numbers and weight of metal to
their own. It must suffice here to say?! that, the pro-
posal of the English Commodore having been refused
by the Dutch, the English captains bore down upon
the enemy; after a contest of little more than two
hours, captured or sank six of their ships; the
seventh, hurrying out to sea, fell into the hands of
two ships of war, then entering the river. Well

' For a detailed account of this action see the author’s Decisive
Baittles of India.
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might the victors exclaim, in the language of our
great national poet:—

¢Q, such a day,
So fought, so followed, and so fairly won,
Came not till now to dignify the times,
Since Caesar’s fortunes.’

This success left the Dutch soldiers, then on their
way to Chinsurah, absolutely without a base. They
could only find safety in success, and success was
denied them. They were first repulsed by Forde in
an attack they made on a position he had taken at
Chandranagar, and the next day almost destroyed by
the same gallant officer, joined by Knox, in a battle
at the village of Biderra, nearly midway between
Chandranagar and Chinsurah. Few victories have
been more decisive. Of the 700 Europeans and 8co
Malays landed from the ships, 120 of the former and
200 of the latter were left dead on the field ; 300, in
about equal proportions, were wounded ; and the
remainder, with the exception of 60 Dutch and 250
Malays, were taken prisoners. Forde had under his
command on this eventful day (November 25) 320
Europeans, 8co sipéhis, and 50 European volunteer
cavalry. The previous day, reckoning that he would
have to fight the enemy with his inferior numbers,
he had sent a mnote to Clive asking for implicit
instructions. Clive, who was playing whist when
the note reached him, knowing with whom he
was dealing, wrote across it, in pencil: ¢ Dear Forde,
Fight them immediately: I will send you the order

12
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in Council to-morrow, and sent back the messenger
with it.

The two victories were in all respects decisive.
Never again did the Dutch trouble the tranquillity
of India. Mir Jafar was cowed. Three days after
the victory of Biderra, his son, Miran, arrived from
Murshiddbad with 6,000 horse, for the purpose, he
explained, of exterminating the Dutch. Clive, always
merciful in victory, gave to these, against their baffled
confederate, the protection which he considered due
to a foe no longer to be dreaded.

- Clive now regarded the British position in Bengal
so secure that he might return to England to enjoy
there the repose and the position he had acquired.
He had compressed into three years achievements the
most momentous, the most marvellous, the most en-
during, recorded in the history of his country. Land-
ing with a small force below Calcutta in the last days
of 1756, he had compelled the Stbahdédr, who had
been responsible for the Black Hole tragedy, though
guiltless of designing it!, to evacuate Calcutta, to
witness without interfering his capture of Chandra-
nagar. Determined, then, in the interests of his
country, to place matters in Bengal on such a footing
that a repetition of the tragedy of 1756 should be
impossible, he resolved to replace Sirdj-ud-dauld,
himself the son of a usurper, by a native chieftain

! Sirdj-ud-dauld had given instructions that the prisoners should
be safely cared for, and had then gone to sleep. It was the
brutality of his subordinate officers which caused the catastrophe.
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who should owe everything to the English, and who
would probably allow himself to be guided by them
in his policy. To this end he formed a conspiracy
among his nobles, fomented discontent among his
people, and finally forced him to appeal to arms.
At Plassey Clive risked everything on the fidelity to
himself of the conspirators with whom he had allied
himself. They were faithful. He gained the battle,
not gloriously but decisively, and became from the
morrow of the victory the lord paramount of the
noble whom he placed then on the masnad. Possibly
it was partly policy which impelled him to give his
nominee no chance from the beginning. Certain it is,
that Mir Jafar was, from the moment of his accession,
so handicapped by the compulsion to make to his
allies enormous payments, that his life, from that
moment to the hour of his deposition, presently to be
related, was not worth living. The commercial con-
cessions which Clive had forced from him gave the
English an émperium in imperio. But the Stibahdar
was in the toils. When invasion came from the north
he tried his utmost to avoid asking for the aid of
Clive. But Clive, who had sent his best soldiers to
conquer the Northern Sirkdrs, and to establish per-
manent relations with the Stbahdar of the Deccan—
relations which secured to England a permanent pre-
dominance in the most important districts of southern
India—was indispensable. His assistance, given in a
manner which could not fail to impress the natives of
India—for the enemy fled at his approach—riveted the
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chains on the Sibahddr. Then came the invasion of
the Dutch. For the first time a superior hostile force
of Europeans landed on the shores of British India.
The Sibahdir, anxious above all things to recover
his freedom of action, promised them his assistance.
(Clive shone out here, more magnificently than he had
shone before, as the undaunted hero. Disdaining to
notice the action of the Stbahdédr, he gave all his
attention to the European invaders ; with far inferior
means he baffled their schemes ; and crushed them in
a manner such as would make them, and did make
them, remember and repent the audacity which had
allowed them to imagine that they could impose their
will on the victor of Kéveripik and Plassey. He
had made the provinces he had conquered secure, if
only the rule which was to follow his own should be
based on justice, against the native rulers; secure for
ever against European rivals assailing it from the sea.

That, during this pefiod, he had committed faults,
isonly to say that he was human. But, unfortunately,
some of his faults were so grave as to cast a lasting
stain on a career in many respects worthy of the
highest admiration. The forging of the name of
Admiral Watson, although the name was attached to
the deed with, it is believed, his approval !, was a erime
light in comparison with the purpose for which it

! In his evidence before the Committee of the House of Commons
Clive said regarding the fictitious treaty : ‘It was sent to Admiral
Watson, who objected to the signing of it ; but, to the best of his

remembrance, gave the gentleman who carried it (Mr. Lushington)
leave to sign his name upon it.”
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was done—the deceiving of the Bengili, Aminchand.
It is true that Aminchand was a scoundrel, a black-
mailer, a man who had said: ‘Pay me well, or I will
betray your secrets.” But that was no reason why
Clive should fight him with his own weapons : should
descend to the arena of deceit in which the country-
men of Aminchand were past-masters. Possibly the
atmosphere he breathed in such society was answer-
able, to a great extent, for this deviation from the
path of honour. But the stain remains. No washing
will remove it. It affected him whilst he still lived,
and will never disappear.

Then again, as to his dealings with Sirdj-ud-dauld
and Mir Jafar. The whole proceedings of Clive after
his capture of Calcutta prove that he intended to direct
all his policy to the removal of that young prince
from the masnad. Some have thought that the Black
Hole tragedy was the cause of this resolve. But this
can hardly be so, for Mir Jafar, the commander-in-
chief of the army which seized Calcutta in 1756, was
equally implicated in that transaction. The suggestion
that Sirdj-ud-dauld was intriguing with the French at
Haidardbdad is equally untenable, for Clive knew he
had little cause to fear their hostility. Clive not only
expelled that prince, but, by his policy, his extor-
tions, his insistance to obtain control of the saltpetre
traffic, rendered it impossible for his successor to
govern. Success attended his policy so long as he re-
mained on the spot to control his subordinates, but it
was inevitable that, sooner or later, there would come
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arevulsion. The warlike natives of Bihar had not been
conquered, and they knew it. They had helped Clive,
not that they should become subject to the foreigner
from the sea, but that they might have a native ruler
whom they trusted, in place of one whom they dis-
liked. When they realized that the result of this
change was not only subjection to the islanders, but
impoverishment to themselves, they broke into what
was called rebellion, and showed on many a bloody
field that it was not they, only Sirdj-ud-dauld, who
had been conquered at Plassey.

- This was the most dangerous legacy of the policy
and action of Clive. He recognized its shadowy exist-
ence. He wrote to his successor, Mr. Vansittart, when
he transferred to him his own office, that the only
danger he had to dread in Bengal was that which
might arise from venality and corruption. He might
have added that the spoils of Plassey had created a
state of society in which those vices were prominent ;
that the saltpetre monopoly, with the duties and
exemptions which had followed its acquisition, had
confirmed them. The Stibahd4r himself recognized the
new danger which would follow the departure of
Clive. In his mind he was the moderator who, satis-
fied himself, would have stayed the hands of others.
To quiet the newcomers there would be fresh rapacity,
more stringent despoilings. He felt, to use the ex-
pression of the period when Clive quitted Bengal, that
“the soul was departing from the body.’

,.Clive made over charge to Mr. Holwell, of Black
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Hole notoriety, pending the arrival of Mr. Vansittart,
the 15th of February, 1760. With the sanction of the
Court he had nominated Major Calliaud to be Com-
mander of the Forces. Four members of his Council
retired about the same time as himself.



CHAPTER XI
THE SEcOND VisiT oF CLIVE TO ENGLAND

During his administration of four years in Bengal
Clive had been greatly hampered by the contradictory
orders he had received from the Court of Directors.
In that Court there were four parties: the party of
alarmists at the aggrandizement of the Company’s
possessions in India; the party of progressists; the
middle party, composed of men who would retain all
that had been conquered, but who, not understanding
the necessity which often compels a conqueror to
advance that he may retain, would on no account
sanction the proceeding of a step further; a fourth
party bent only on acquiring plunder. As one or
other of these parties obtained preponderance in the
Court, so did the orders transmitted to India take
their colour. In those days, it must be remembered,
there was no Board of Control to regulate and, if
necessary, to modify, even entirely to alter, the rulings
of the General Court. Thus it was that the agent on
the spot, finding the orders from England constantly
changing, was driven to rely upon his own judgement,
and to act on his own responsibility. This did not
signify so much so long as there was, on the spot,
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holding supreme authority, a Clive or a Warren
Hastings. But when the local chief authority was
in the hands of men wanting alike in intellect, in high
principle, and in nerve, the situation was likely to
become dangerous in the extreme.

For the moment, when Clive quitted India, the
situation was tranquil. But it might become at any
moment the reverse. Therefore it was that Clive had
recommended as his successor a man whom he believed
he had sounded to the core, and in whom he had
found one after his own heart. But there is no
proverb more true than that contained in the criticism
passed by Tacitus on Galba, ¢ Omnium consensu capax
imperii, nisi imperasset.” We shall see presently
how the conduct of Vansittart corresponded to this
aphorism.

A little more than a year before quitting the shores
of Bengal, Clive had addressed to Mr. Pitt, afterwards
Lord Chatham, then Secretary of State, a letter
(January 7, 1759) in which he had represented the
difficulties of the actual situation, and had suggested
a mode of dealing with them. He had described the
actual Sabahdér as a man attached to the English, and
as likely to continue that attachment ‘while he has
no other support,” but totally uninfluenced by feelings
of gratitude, feelings not common to his race. On the
other hand, he was advanced in years ; his son, Miran,
was utterly unworthy, so unworthy ‘that it will be
almost unsafe trusting him with the succession.” He
added immediately, as though prescient of the events
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which were to follow, ‘In case of their, the native
princes, ‘daring to be troublesome,’ they—a body of
2000 English soldiers—would ¢ enable the Company to
take the sovereignty upon themselves.” After detailing
how the transfer would be easy, and palatable, rather
than otherwise, tothe natives generally, Clive proceeded
to represent that so large a sovereignty might possibly
be an object too extensive for a mercantile company,
and to suggest that it might be worthy of considera-
tion whether the Crown should not take the matter in
hand. The points he urged were the following : First,
“the ease with which the English ¢ could take absolute
possession of these rich kingdoms, and that with the
Mughal’s own consent, on condition of paying him less
than a fifth of the revenues thereof.” There would
remain a surplus of two millions, besides most valu-
able productions of nature and art. He dwel, secondly,
on the influence in Furope which would thereby
accrue to England, and the enormous increase of
prestige and of the advantages which prestige conveys,
on the spot. He added that a small force of European
troops would be sufficient, as he could enlist any
number of sipihis, who - will very readily enter our
service.” This letter he transmitted by the hands of
Mr. Walsh, his secretary during the campaign of
Plassey and the year following, and whom he describes
as ‘a thorough master of the subject,” ¢ able to explain
to you the whole design and the facility with which
it may be executed.’

Mr. Pitt received the letter, but was deterred from
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acting upon it by difficulties which arose in his mind
from his want of knowledge of India and of matters
connected with that country. To the son of a man
whose father had been Governor of Madras in the
days when the English were the humble lessees of the
lords of the soil, the proposition to become masters
of territories far larger and richer than their island
home, seemed beset with difficulties which, if it may
be said without disrespect to his illustrious memory,
existed solely in his own imagination—for they have
since been very easily overcome.

The letter served to make Clive personally known
to the great statesman when he landed in England in
September or October, 1760. He had returned a very
rich man; he was full of ambition; his fame as
a soldier had spread all over the kingdom. Pitt,
shortly before his arrival (1758), had spoken of him in
the House of Commons as a ‘ Heaven-born General,’
as the only officer, by land or sea, who had sustained
the reputation of the country and added to its glory.
The King himself, George II, when the Commander-
in-chief had proposed to him to send the young Lord
Dunmore to learn the art of war under Prince Ferdi--
nand of Brunswick, had replied, * What can he get by
attending the Duke of Brunswick? If he want to
learn the art of war, let him go to Clive” These
expressions show at least the temper of the times, the
feelings which would inspire the welecome which
England would give to her latest hero. And yet the
welcome itself fell far short of that which Clive had
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anticipated. From the Crown there was noimmediate
recognition ; from the Court of Directors, a hostile
section of which held the supremacy, he received worse
than neglect. Almost their first act was to dispute
his right to the jégir which Mir Jafar had bestowed
upon him!. From the general public there was no
demonstration. Clive felt that in England as in India
he would have to fight his way upwards.

His health was not very good. He suffered from
rheumatism, which had assailed him in Bengal, and
~ which bore a strong resemblance to rheumatic gout.

Scarcely had he recovered from this malady when he
was assailed by the insidious disease which, afterwards,
but rarely left him. This caused a depression of
spirits which gradually wore out his body. As a boy
he had suffered at intervals from similar attacks.
They increased now in intensity, baffling the phy-
sicians who attended him. He bore up bravely,
however, and pushed forward with his wonted energy
the ambitious plans he had formed in the intervals of
quiet and repose.

At the age of thirty-five, with an enormous fortune,
great ambition, and sanguine hopes for the future,
Clive trusted that the illness he suffered from would
eventually yield to treatment, and he entered on his
campaign in England with the confidence in himself
which had been one secret of his success in India.
He had hoped, on his arrival, to have been at once
raised to the House of Peers. But the honours of the

1 See p. 123.
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Crown, long delayed, took the shape only of an Irish
peerage. With this he was forced to be content, and,
being debarred from the Upper House, made all his
arrangements to become a member of the Lower. He
speedily obtained a seat in that House.

Possibly he marred his prospects by the line which
he took in politics. In October, 1760, George II had
died. The new King, whose proudest boast was that
he had been born an Englishman, made Lord Bute
Secretary of State. Soon after Pitt resigned, because the
rest of the Ministry refused to support him in his policy
of going to war with Spain, the Duke of Newcastle still
remaining nominal head of the Cabinet. In 1762 the
Duke resigned, and Lord Bute became Prime Minister.
Sir John Malcolm states that Lord Clive was offered
his own terms if he would support the Bute Ministry.
But Clive had given his mental adhesion in another
quarter, and therefore refused his support, and was,
it is stated, treated coldly in consequence.

Though not a supporter of the Bute Administration,
Clive did not refrain from volunteering to it his
advice when the preliminaries of peace between
France and England were under discussion. Both
Powers were resolved that the peace should extend to
their possessions in India. Clive wrote therefore to

1 Vide Malcolm’s Clive, vol. ii. p. 203 : also Gleig, p. 134. There
would seem to be some mistake as to the reason given by Mr. Gleig
for his statement that Clive refused his support to the Bute Ad-
ministration because of his devotion to George Grenville; for
George Grenville held the post of one of the principal Secretaries
of State in Lord Bute’s Ministry.
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Lord Bute suggesting the terms upon which, in his
opinion, it was absolutely necessary for the safety of
the East India Company he should insist. Prominent
among these were (1) the absolute limitation of the
number of troops the French might retain in Southern
India, and (2) a prohibition to admit into Bengal
Frenchmen other than those engaged in commercial
enterprises. Lord Bute so far followed the advice as
to induce the French to agree not to maintain troops
either in Bengal or the Northern Sirkdrs. But when
he would go further, and, on the suggestion of Mr.
Lawrence Sulivan, Chairman of the Court of Directors,
make the recognition of certain native princes a clause
in the projected treaty between the two Powers, Clive,
with his habitual prescience, denounced the clause as
fraught with consequences most disastrous to the
position of England in India, and persuaded the
Minister to withdraw it.

The gentleman above referred to, Mr. Lawrence Suli-
van, had become, from pure motives of jealousy, one of
the bitterest enemies of Clive. Sulivan had served in
India without distinetion, but had succeeded in amass-
ing there a handsome fortune, and being a man of
bold address and pushing manners, had become a
Director of the Company. Whilst Clive was still in
India Sulivan had professed the most unbounded
admiration for him and his achievements, and, by
thus professing, had obtained the support of the fol-
lowers of Clive when he made a bid for the Chairman-
ship of the Court. This he secured, and, being a man
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of considerable self-assertion and determination, suc-
ceeded in becoming the dictator of the Council. Up
to that time he had given his support to Clive, but no
sooner did he hear of the departure of his hero for
England, than, dreading the effect of his arrival upon
his own influence, he had become his most bitter
opponent. He it was who stimulated his colleagues
to object to the donation of the jagir to Clive, men-
tioned in a previous page. The grounds to the objec-
tion were rather hinted at than expressed, for in those
days the Court could not deny the right of the Sabahdér
to bestow, or of Clive to accept, so handsome a gift.
The real motive was to exclude Clive from a seat in
the India House, and for a time Sulivan succeeded.
The hostility of Sulivan found an outecome in the
progress of political affairs. Clive had voted against
the Peace of Paris (February 10, 1763). Lord Bute,
indignant at the opposition his measure encountered,
had made his power felt by dismissing three dukes
from their lord-lieutenancies, and he was very angry
with Clive. He then sought and obtained the alliance
of Sulivan to crush him. Up to that point Clive had
remained quiescent ; but at this new outrage he turned.
Very shortly afterwards Sulivan came before the
Court of Proprietors for re-election. To defeat him
Clive had purchased a large amount of India Stock
and divided it amongst his friends. At the show of
hands there was a large majority against Sulivan, but
when the ballot-box was appealed to the position was
reversed, and Sulivan and his majority were returned.
K
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For the moment Clive's defeat was crushing, and he
prepared to meet the consequences of it. His oppo-
nents did not delay to show their hands. Again was
the question of the jagir mooted. The eminent counsel
employed by Clive gave an opinion that the Court
had no case. However, the Sulivan party persevered.
Just on the eve of the trial, however, there came news
from India which produced a revolution of opinion in
the Court. The reports from Calcutta showed that
the combined avarice, greed, misgovernment, and
tyranny of the civil authorities left by Clive in Cal-
cutta had produced a general uprising; had almost
undone the great work Clive had accomplished ; that
there was no one on the spot who could be trusted to
restore order; but that unless such a task were com-
mitted to a competent man, the possessions of the
Company in Bengal would be in the greatest danger.
This intelligence caused a panic in the India House.
Instinctively the name of Clive came uppermost to
every lip. The Proprietors were summoned to meet
in full Court. Panic-stricken, they forced upon Clive
the office, not merely of President, but of Governor-
General, with very full powers. That their conduct
regarding the jégir might not be pleaded by him as
an objection to accept office, the Proprietors passed
a resolution that the proceedings regarding the jagir
should be stopped, and that the right of Clive to it
should be officially recognized.

This was indeed a triumph. The policy, reculer
powr mieux sawter, had been eminently justified.
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But Clive was as generous in victory as he had been
great in defeat. He declined to profit by the enthu-
siasm of the Proprietors. Declaring that he had a
proposal to make regarding the jagir, which he was
confident the Court would accept, he proceeded to
declare that it would be impossible for him to proceed
to India leaving behind him a hostile Court and a
hostile chairman ; that at least the existing chairman
must be changed. He carried the Proprietors with
him, and measures were taken for a fresh election.

This election took place on the 25th of April, 1764.
At it one-half of the candidates proposed by Sulivan
were defeated, he himself being returned by a majo-
rity of one only. The chairman and deputy-chair-
man elected were both supporters of Clive. In the
interval (March, 1764) Clive had been nominated
Governor-General and Commander-in-chief of Bengal.
To draw the fangs of the Council in Calcutta, four
gentlemen were nominated to form with him a Select
Committee authorized to act on their own authority,
without reference to the Council.

One word, before the great man returns to the
scenes of his triumphs, clothed with the fullest autho-
rity, regarding the instrument used by Mr. Sulivan
and his friends to torture him. No sooner had the
new Court been elected than Clive made to it his
suggestion regarding the jégir., He proposed, and the
Court agreed, that for a period of ten years, the
company should pay to him the full amount of the
jégir rents, unless he should die before, when the

K 2
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payments would cease; the ultimate disposal of the
jagir to be made when the occasion should arise.

These matters having been settled, the officers to
serve under him having been selected by himself, Clive,
attended by two of the four members who had been
appointed by the Court to accompany him, Messrs.
Sumner and Sykes, embarked for Calcutta the 4th of
June, 1764. Lady Clive did not go with him. She
had to remain in England to superintend the educa-
tion of her children.



CHAPTER XII
TeE REIGN OF MISRULE IN BENGAL

CL1vE had chosen Mr. Vansittart to succeed him as
President of the Council in Bengal because he believed
he had recognized in him a man who would do all in
his power to put down the growing system of venality
and corruption. I have already shown how he had
written to him before he quitted India. The words
he had used were : ‘The expected reinforcements will,
in my opinion, put Bengal out of all danger but that
of venality and corruption.’ But Clive had not suffi-
ciently considered that the very fact that the new
President had been selected from Madras instead of
from amongst the men who had served under his
immediate orders was likely to cause jealousy among
the latter ; that Vansittart, notwithstanding his esti-
mated lofty moral nature’,had no strength of character;

1 One anecdote will demonstrate the extent of the ¢ lofty moral
nature’ attributed by Clive to Mr. Vansittart. After Clive had
been a year or so in England he wrote to Vansittart requesting
him to select for him and despatch to him an elephant, as he
wished to present one to the King. Vansittart chose and de-
spatched the elephant for presentation to his Majesty, not as a gift
from Clive, but as from himself.
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no such persuasive powers as could win men to his side ;
no pre-eminent abilities ; no force of will, such as Clive
himself would have displayed, to dominate or, in case
of great emergency, to suspend a refractory colleague.
He was but one of the herd, well-meaning, opposed in
principle to the venality and corruption then in vogue,
but, in every sense of the term, ordinary. Even with
respect to the two vices he denounced, he was an
untried and untempted man.

His capacity for rule was put to the test very soon
after he had assumed the reins of office. Thoge reins
had not, as I have said, been handed to him by Clive.
He had taken them from Mr. Holwell at the very end
of July (1760). In the interval an event had occurred
which had changed the general position in Bengal.
Five months after Clive had quitted Calcutta (July 2,
1760) Miran, the only son of the Subahdar, Mir Jafar,
was struck dead by lightning. The reader may recol-
lect the passage in his letter to Mr. Pitt, wherein Clive
referred to this young man. He had deseribed him as
¢ so cruel, worthless a young fellow, and so apparently
an enemy to the English, that it will be almost unsafe
trusting him with the succession.” If another suc-
cessor, with an unquestionable title, had been imme-
diately available, the death of Miran would have
been no calamity. But there was no such successor.
The next son in order of succession had seen but
thirteen summers. Outside of that boy and his
younger brothers were many claimants, not one of
them with an indefeasible title. Mir Jafar himself
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was older even than his years. Itdevolved then, with
the tacit consent of the nobles, on the Council at
(lalcutta, to nominate the successor to Miran. Such
was the state of affairs when Mr. Vansittart arrived,
and took his seat as President of the Council.

It happened that there were in Bengal at this time
two officers who had rendered conspicuous service to
the State, Majors Calliaud and Knox. During the
very month in which Clive had quitted Calcutta,
these officers had marched with such English troops
and sipshis as were available, to assist in the repelling
of an invasion made by the titular King of Delhi,
prompted, it was believed, by Miran, and had re-
pulsed, with great loss to the enemy, an attempt
made to storm the city of Patnd. Vansittart, who
knew Calliaud well alike as a friend and as a man
trusted by Clive, summoned him to attend the Council
upon the deliberations of which the future of Bengal
depended. The discussions were long and somewhat
heated. The party in the Council which represented
most aceurately the opinions of Clive, as rendered in
his letter to Mr. Pitt, already referred tol!, was of
opinion that whilst Mir Jafar should be allowed to
reign during the remainder of his life, opportunity
should be taken of his death to transfer the direct

1 Clive’s letter had been written during the life of Miran. After
detailing his character and the growing infirmities of Mir Jafar,
he had added : ‘so small a body as 2000 Europeans will secure us
against any apprehensions from either the one or the other ; and,
in case of their daring to be troublesome, enable the Company to
take the sovereignty upon themselves.’
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administration to the English. If this opportunity
had been taken to carry out some such policy it is
probable that the evils which followed would have
been avoided. ;

The discussions were still proceeding when there
arrived an envoy from the Stibahdér, his son-in-law,
Mir Muhammad Késim, a man of ability, tact, great
persuasive powers, no scruple, and, in a certain sense,
a patriot. Mir Késim had coveted the succession
vacant by the death of Miran. He had divined the
plans of the English ; he hated them as the enemies
of the race of conquerors who had ruled Bengal and
its people for centuries. He despised them as venal :
and he had resolved to use them for his own ad-
vantage. He had brought with him a bag full of
promises, and, though nominally the representative
of Mir Jafar, had come resolved to work for his own
interests.

Admitted into the secret deliberations of the Council,
Mir Kdsim soon realized that, with the single excep-
tion of Major Calliaud, he could buy them all. Even
the scrupulousness of Mr. Vansittart vanished before
his golden arguments. He bought them. For certain
specified sums of money to be paid by him to each
member of Council’, these official Englishmen cove-
nanted to dethrone their ally of Plassey, Mir Jafar,
and to seat on the masnad his son-in-law, Mir K4sim.
Three days after the signature of the treaty Mir

! He included even Major Calliaud, but without the consent,
and after the departure from India, of that officer.
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Késim set out to make his preparations for the
coming event,and two days afterwards Mr. Vansittart
started for Murshiddbdd to break the news to Mir
Jafar. His very first official act had been a violation
of the prineiple preseribed to him by Clive as the one
the non-indulgence in which would secure the English
from all danger.

The events which followed must be stated very
briefly. Vansittart obtained from Mir Jafar his
resignation. The one condition stipulated by the old
man was that thenceforth he should reside, under the
protection of the English, at Calcutta, or in its imme-
diate vicinity. For that city he started the following
morning (September 19). Mir Késim proceeded to
Patné to complete the arrangements which had fol-
lowed the repulse of the invasion of Bihar by the
troops of Shéh Alim, and was there formally installed
by Shédh Alim himself as Stbahdér of Bengal, Bihdr,
and Orissa.

Mir Késim possessed all the capacities of a ruler.
He knew thoroughly the evils under which the three
provinees were groaning, and he proceeded with all
the energy of a nature which never tired to reform
them. He moved his capital to Mungir, a town with
a fortress, on the right bank of the Ganges, com-
manding Northern and Eastern Bihér, and nearly
midway between Calcutta and Benares. He then
proceeded to reform his infantry on the English
system, enlisting in his service two well-known
soldiers of mixed or Armenian descent, Samru and
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Markar, to command brigades of their own, and to
aid in the training of the other soldiers. So far
he achieved success. But when he proceeded to alle-
viate the misery of his people, he found that the
fatal gift of the salt monopoly enabled the English
to thwart all his efforts. For not only did the
English use the authority they possessed to the great
“impoverishment of the soil, but they gave to their
friends and dependents licences exempting from the
payment of duty in such profusion, that the people
of Bengal and Bihdr suffered to an extent such as,
in the present day, can with difficulty be credited.
Never, on the one side, was there so insatiable &
determination to become rich, no matter what misery
might be thereby caused to others; mever, on the
other, a more honest endeavour, by sacrifices of
any kind, to escape the ruin caused by such cruel
exactions.

At last, when he had exhausted appeal after appeal
to the Calcutta authorities, Mir Kdsim recognized
that his only chance of escape from the pressure too
hard to be borne, was to appeal to the God of
Battles. He was ready; the English, he believed,
were not. He had excellent fighting material ; gene-
rals who would not betray him. On the other hand,
he knew that Clive and Calliaud had quitted India,
and he did not believe that either had his equal
amongst the men on the spot. Accordingly, just after
he had received a demand from Caleutta, compliance
with which would have completed the ruin then
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impending, he took the bold step of abolishing all
transit duties, and of establishing free-trade through-
out his territories. Anticipating the consequences of
this bold act, he notified to his generals to be prepared
for any movement the English might make.

Here, in the space allotted !, it must suffice to state
that the English, amazed that such a worm as the
Stibahdér of the three provinces should dare to question
their commands, sent two of their number to remon-
strate with him. But, whilst they were negotiating,
another Englishman, one of their own clique, a civil
officer named Ellis, furious at the idea of stooping to
negotiate, made preparations to seize the important city
of Patnd. At the head of a small force he did surprise
(June 25,1763) that city during the hours before day-
break, but the garrison of the citadel and of a large
stone building refused to admit him. Little caring for
this, he permitted his men to disperse to plunder. Mean-
while the commander of the Stbahdar’s troops, Mir
Mehdi Khén, had started for Mungir to represent to
his master the turn events had taken. On his way
thither, a few miles from the city, he encountered
the troops in his master’s service commanded by
Markar, the Armenian. Markar, as in duty bound,
at once marched on Patni, found the KEnglish
still plundering, drove them out of the city, and
forced them to take refuge in a factory outside of it.

! For a detailed account of the events preceding and following
this action on the part of Mir Kdsim, the reader is referred to the
author’s Decisive Battles of India, New Edition, pp. 133-174.
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There he besieged them, and thence he forced them to
retreat (June 29). Meanwhile the Sdbahdér had
despatched his other brigade, under Samru, to Baksar,
to cut off the retreat of the English, whilst he urged
Markar to follow them up. Markar followed, caught,
and attacked them between the two places—the 1st
of July—and completely defeated them. The English,
 of whom there were 300, aided by 2,500 natives,
fought with their usual courage ; but they were badly
led, were discouraged, and were completely beaten.
Those who did not fall on the field were taken
prisoners, re-conveyed to Patnd, and were there
eventually put to death.

Such was the mode in which the war began.  Had
not the English possessed, though they knew it not
until experience had taught them, a commander
not inferior to any of the men who had done so
much for the glory of their country in the East, it
is probable that Mir Kasim, who, according to a con-
temporary writer?!, ‘was trained to arms, and who
‘united the gallantry of the soldier with the sagacity of
the statesman,” would have driven them to their ships.

From such a fate they were saved by the gkill, the
devotion, the supreme military talents of Major John
Adams. This officer, placed in command, defeated
Mir Késim’s army, after a very bloody battle, at
Kétwé (July 19); again, a few days later, after
a most stubborn resistance, at Gheria. But neither

! The author of an admirable book, written at the time, entitled,
Transactions in India from 1756 to 1783,
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of these battles was decisive of the war. When,
however, the month following, Adams stormed the
immensely strong position of Undwé Nala, defended
by 40,000 men, and captured 100 pieces of cannon, Mir
Késim recognized that the war was over. He made
no attempt to defend either Réjmahdl, Mungir, or
Patni. On the fall of the latter city (November 6) he
* fled to Oudh to take refuge there with the Nawdb-
Woazir, and to instigate him to espouse his cause.

It is only necessary to add that he succeeded in
persuading that prince to attempt the venture. He
attempted it, however, only to repent his audacity,
for, after much manceuvring, the English, led by
Munro, afterwards Sir Hector—who, after an interval
of the incapable Carnae, had succeeded Adams, killed
by the climate and the fatigues of the campaign—
inflicted a crushing defeat upon him on the plains of
Baksar (October 23, 1764) ; then Munro, pursuing his
~ victorious course, occupied successively Benares,
Chanér, and Allahdbad. In March, 1765, the English
overran Oudh, occupying Lucknow and Faizibad ;
then went on to beat the enemy at Karra, and again
at Kédlpi on the Jumna. Then the Nawab-Wazir,
‘a hopeless wanderer,” threw himself on the merey of
the conquerors. These behaved to him with con-
spicuous generosity, repaid by his successors in later
years. The English frontier was, however, not the
less advanced, practically, as far as Allahdbdd. Such °
was the military position when Clive returned to
Calcutta as Governor in May, 1765.
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Meanwhile the English, on the outbreak of the war
with Mir Késim, had restored Mir Jafar, receiving the
usual gratuities for themselves and stipulating for
exemptions from all duties except two and a half per
cent. on salt. As for Mir Késim, it is only necessary
to add that he died some years later at Delhi in
extreme poverty. With all his faults he was a

patriot.



CHAPTER XIII
TeeE PURIFYING OF BENGAL

WaEN Clive quitted England for Bengal (June 4,
1764) he knew only that the war with Mir Kdsim was
raging, and that Mir Jafar had been reinstated in his
position. It was not until he reached Madras, the
1oth of April following, that he learned that Mir Késim
had been finally defeated, that his followers had sub-
mitted, that Mir Jafar was dead, and that the Nawéab-
Wazir of Oudh had thrown himself on the clemency of
the English. In the interval of twenty-three days
which elapsed before his arrival in Calcutta (May 3),
he had time, in consultation with the two members of
the Select Committee who accompanied him, Messrs.
Sykes and Sumner, to deliberate regarding the course
of action which it would behove him to adopt on his
arrival there®.

One of his first acts on arrival was to remodel the
army. He placed General Carnac at its head, divided
the European infantry into three battalions, gave
regimental commands to two officers who had accom-
panied him from England, and regulated all the

1 The other two were Gieneral Carnac and Mr. Verelst.
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superior appointments in a manner the best adapted,
in his opinion, to secure efficiency.

He dealt likewise with the Civil Service. Nothing
had impressed Clive more than the evil effects of the
predominance of venality and corruption during the
rule which had followed his first departure, and he
was resolved to put them down with a strong hand.
He found, on his landing, a subject which gave him
the opportunity he desired for showing publicly the
bent of the line of conduct he intended to pursue.

Four months before his return, Mir Jafar, worn
out by anxiety and trouble, had passed away. His
position had become degraded, even in his own eyes.
From having been, as he was on the morrow of Plassey,
the lord of three rich provinces, he had become, to use
the words of a contemporary Englishman !, ‘a banker
for the Company’s servants, who could draw upon
him as often and to as great an amount as they
pleased.’

We have seen how the members of Council had
benefited pecuniarily by the elevation of Mir Jafar to
the masnad in 1757; by that of his successor in
1763 ; by Mir Jafar’s re-elevation the same year.
The opportunity of again selecting a successor was
not to be passed over without their once again
plunging their hands in the treasury of Murshiddbad.
They found that there were two candidates for the
vacant office, the son of Miran, and therefore grandson
of Mir Jafar, and the eldest surviving son of that

1 Mr. Scrafton. See Scrafton’s Letters.
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Nawib. The decision arrived at by the Council, then
reduced by vacancies to eight members, was to sell the
succession to the candidate who should bid the highest
price for it. They decided in favour of the son of Mir
Jafar, for, although illegitimate, he was of an age at
which he could act on his own authority ; the other
was a minor, whose revenues would have to be
accounted for. In return for their complaisance, it
was agreed that they should receive a sum of money,
to be divided as they might arrange, close upon ten
lakhs of rupees; in addition, there was to be paid
another sum, just over ten lakhs, for secret services
rendered by one of their number, Mr. Gideon John-
stone, and by a Muhammadan, Muhammad Riza Khén,
who also, in pursuance of the arrangement, was nomi-
nated Deputy-Nawdb. This shameful bargain was
signed, sealed, and delivered on the 25th of February,
little more than two months before Lord Clive landed.

An order from the India Office, which reached
Calcutta just thirteen days before the death of Mir
Jafar, and which prohibited—by a new covenant, to
be signed by all the Civil Servants in India—the
acceptance by such servants of presents of any kind
from the natives of India, greatly strengthened the
hands of Clive in dealing with this transaction.
Finding that in the Council itself he would be sub-
jeeted to much cavilling, he at once superseded its
action by declaring (May 7) that the Select Committee !
had been constituted. He then, with that Committee,

! See p. 147.
L
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assumed the whole powers of the Government, took
an oath of secrecy, and had a similar oath adminis-
tered to the only two of his colleagues who were
present. He then set himself to examine all the
matters connected with the succession to the office of
Siabahdér of the three provinces.

He had to deal with men whom a long course of
corruption had rendered absolutely shameless. Charged
by Clive with having violated the orders of their
masters in accepting presents after such acceptance
had been prohibited, they replied that they had taken
(Clive himself as their model, and referred to his deal-
ings with Mir Jafar in 1757, and afterwards at Patni,
when he accepted the famous jigir. The reply natu-
rally was that such presents were then permitted,
whereas now they were forbidden. Clive added, among
other reasoning, that then there was a terrible crisis ;
that for the English and Mir Jafar it was then victory
or destruction, whereas now there was no crisis; the
times were peaceful, the succession required no
interference. He again charged the members of Council
with having put up the Stubahdér for sale to the
highest bidder, in order that they might put the price
of it into their own pockets, and with having used
indecent haste to complete the transaction before his
arrival.

Clive could at the moment do no more than expose
these men, now practically powerless. He forced
them, however, to sign the new covenants. But his
treatment of them rankled in their minds. They
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became his bitterest enemies, and from that time for-
ward used all the means at their disposal to harass,
annoy, and thwart him. When, finally, he drove
them from the seats they had disgraced, in the manner
presently to be related, they carried their bitterness,
their reckless audacity, and their slanderous tongues
to England, there to vent their spleen on the great
founder of British India.

Having silenced these corrupt men, Clive turned
his attention to the best means of regulating, on fair
terms, commercial interests between the native and
the foreigner. He soon recognized that the task of
Hercules when he was “set to cleanse the stables of
King Augeas was light in comparison with the task
he had undertaken. In the first place he was greatly
hampered by the permission which the Court of Direc-
tors had granted to their Civil Servants to engage in
private trade. So poorly paid were they, indeed, that
private trade, or a compensation for it, had become
necessary to them to enable them to live decently.
The proposed compensation was afterwards adopted
of fixing their salaries on a scale which would take
away all temptation to indulge in other methods of
obtaining money. Vainly did Clive press upon the
Court the adoption of this alternative. Amongst our
countrymen there is one class whose business it is to
rule ; but there are often other classes which aspire to
that privilege, and which seize the opportunity afforded
them to exercise power, but whose members possess
neither the education, the enlightenment, nor the turn

L2
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of mind to do so with success. Of this latter class
were the men who had become the Directors of the East
India Company. These men possessed no prescience ;
they were quite unable to make a correct forecast ; they
could consider only the present,and that dimly. They
could not realize that the world was not standing still,
and they would have denounced that man as a madman
who should have told them that the splendid daring
of Clive had made them the inheritors of the Mughal
empire. Secing only as far as the tips of their
noses, these men declined to increase the salaries of
their servants or to prohibit private trade.

Hercules could bend to his process of cleansing the
stables of the King of Elis, the rivers Alpheus and
Peneus. Clive could not bend the Court of Directors.
The consequence was that his labour was great, his
success incomplete. The utmost he could do, and did
do, was to issue an order abrogating the privilege,
used by the Civil Servants to the ruin of the children
of the soil, to grant passes for the transit of merchan-
dize free of duty ; restricting such privilege to certain
authorities named and defined. Upon the private
trade of the civilians he imposed restrictions which
minimized ag far as was possible, short of its abolition,
the evils resulting from permission to trade, bringing
it in fact to a great extent under the control of the
Government. In both these respects his reforms were
wider, and went deeper, than those which Mir Késim
had vainly asked from Mr. Vansittart and his Counecil.

With regard to the salt monopoly, Clive had made
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investigations which proved that the trade in that
commodity had been conducted in a manner which,
whilst securing enormous profits for the few, had
pressed very hardly on the many. He endeavoured to
reduce this evil by placing the trade on a settled basis
which, whilst it would secure to the natives a supply
of the article at a rate not in excess of that which the
poor man could afford, would secure to the servants of
the Company fixed incomes on a graduated scale.
His scheme, he knew, was far from being perfect, but
it was the best he could devise in the face of the
refusal of the India Office to increase salaries, and
certainly it was a vast improvement on the system it
superseded. Whilst it secured to the Company’s ser-
vants in all departments an adequate, even a hand-
some, income, it reduced the price of salt to the natives
to an amount from ten to fifteen per cent. below the
average price to them of the preceding twenty years.
This accomplished, Clive proceeded to reconstitute
the Calcutta Council. According to the latest orders
then in existence this Council was composed of a
president and sixteen members: but the fact of a
man being a member of Council did not prevent him
from accepting an agency in other parts of the Com-
pany’s territories. The result was that many of the
members held at the same time executive and super-
vising offices. They controlled, as councillors, the
actions which they had performed as agents. There
had been in consequence great laxity, much wrong-
doing, complete failure of justice. Clive remedied



166 LORD CLIVE

this evil by ruling that a member of Council should
be that and nothing more. He encountered great
opposition, even amongst the members of the Select
Committee, but he carried through his scheme.

Of this Select Committee it may here be stated that
Clive used its members solely as a consultative com-
- mittee. Those members had their duties, not always
in Calcutta. Thus, whilst Carnac was with the army,
Sykes acted at Murshidabad as the Governor’s agent ;
Verelst supervised the distriets of Burdwén and Med-
nipur : Mr. Sumner alone remained with Clive. This
gentleman had been nominated to succeed Clive in
case of his death or resignation. But it had become
evident to Clive long before the period at which we
have arrived that he was in every way unfitted for such
an office. Infirm of purpose, sympathizing to a great
extent with the corrupt party, wanting in energy,
Sumner had given Clive but a slack support. This
was the case especially in the matter of the reform
of the Council just narrated.

Pursuing his inquiries Clive soon discovered that
the administration of the civil districts and divisions
by the Company’s officers had been as faulty and
corrupt as it well could be. The case, after examina-
tion and report, was tersely put by the Court of
Directors in their summary of the state of Bengal on
his arrival there. They described the three provinces,
Bengal, Bihdr, and Orissa, as ‘a sttbak’ ! disarmed, with

' The word ‘Sdbah’ is used here to mean one of the large
divisions of the Mughal empire.
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a revenue of almost two millions sterling, at the
mercy of our servants, who had adopted an unheard-
of ruinous principle, of an interest distinet from that
of the Company. This principle showed itself in
laying their hands upon everything they did not deem
the Company’s property. To reform the abuses so
described Clive invoked the assistance of those who
ought to have been immediately concerned in the
introduction of juster administration. He invited the
young Nawédb and his councillors to Calcutta, and
held with them long conferences. The disclosures
which followed more than confirmed the worst fears
he had entertained regarding the all but universal
corruption of the members of the Civil Service. It
was in consequence of these disclosures that he com-
pelled the retirement from the Council, as he had
found it composed on his arrival, of five of its mem-
bers, and suspended the remaining three. He filled
up the vacancies thus caused by indenting on Madras
for a sufficient number of civilians to raise the total
number of councillors to twelve.

These sweeping reforms produced their natural
effect. Clive became hated. The civilians and their
friends and accomplices acted according as their
natures were dominated by fear or by love of revenge.
Of the former, one, greatly inculpated, the chief agent
of Patnd, committed suicide. Of the latter, many
formed amongst themselves an association, of which
the following were some of the principal articles :—
“all visits to the Governor were forbidden ; no invita-



168 LORDCLIVE

tions from him or from the members of the Select
Committee were to be accepted; the gentlemen
coming from Madras were to be treated with neglect
and contempt; every member who should deviate
from these rules would be denounced and avoided.’
At a later period their hostility indicated itself in
- a more serious manner.

Of the young Subahdér Clive formed but a poor
opinion. He seemed to him a nullity. The one man
of ability about him, the minister Muhammad Riza
Khén, the chief of those who had been bribed to
raise him to the masnad, was absolutely without
seruple. Clive was most unwilling to trust the poli-
tical education of the Sdibahdir to such a man, or to
others about him who possessed his unserupulousness
but did not share his ability. But it was difficult to
discover a better man; and Clive had ultimately to
be content with the endeavour to lessen his influence
by associating with him R4j4 Duldb Ram — the
general who had conspired with Mir Jafar before
Plassey—and with the head of the great banking-
house of the Sét family. But the influence of Riza
was too deeply founded to be lightly shaken.

The introduction of the reforms I have noted caused
a great strain on the constitution of the illustrious
man whose iron will carried them through. He had
to fight against a faction of interested men, assailed
by abuse, thwarted by opposition, and opposed
secretly by at least one of the colleagues sent to
support him. He was absolutely alone in the contest.
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But his brave heart and his resolute will carried
him through. Tt was far more trying than fighting
a battle, or planning and carrying through a cam-
paign. In those cases there is always the excitement
of constant action ; the daily, often hourly, survey of
the positions; the certaminis gaudia so eloquently
described by Attila; ¢ the holiday,” as that great con-
queror called it, ‘of the battle-field” In the daily
examinations of deeds which call a blush to the
cheek, and of devising measures to repress them in
the future, Clive found none of these excitements.
But though the work was dreary and heartrending,
though, by reason of the opposition he encountered,
it called into action all his mental vigour, all his
intelligence, all his determination, it was terribly
exhausting. It wore him out. Well might Sir John
Malecolm write that it may be questioned ¢whether
any of Clive’s many and great achievements called
forth more of that active energy and calm firmness
for which he was distinguished than was evinced in
effecting the reform of the Civil Service of Bengal.’
There accompanied, moreover, in all his eivil
contests, another mental trial. From causes which
have been stated none of the reforms, he constantly
felt, could be stamped as ‘thorough.” They were
none of them complete. He did much; he broke
down corruption ; he laid the foundation for a per-
manent and perfect reform ; he checked an enormous
evil; he infused a healthier tone into the younger
members of the service; he aided largely towards
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the rehabilitation of the British name, then sunk
deep in the mire. But the want of intuition, of
foresight, of the Court of Directors rendered it im-
possible for him to do more. That ultimate aim was
to come after him ; his principles were to triumph ;
his harassing work had not been done in vain. It
was by adopting in their entirety the principles of
Lord Clive that the Civil Service of India became
one of the noblest services the world has ever seen;
pure in its honour; devoted in the performance of its
duties ; conspicuous for its integrity and ability. It
has produced men whose names would have given
lustre to any administration in the world, and it
continues to produce them still. The work of a great
man lives after him. There is not a member of the
Civil Service of India who does not realize that for
them Clive did not live in vain.

Our admiration for him at this epoch of his career
will be the greater when we realize that the adminis-
trative reforms I have mentioned were only a part of
the duties which devolved upon him. Simultaneously
with the dealing with them he had to devote his time
and attention to other matters of the first importance.
To the consideration of these I shall ask the reader’s
attention in the next chapter.



CHAPTER XIV

&
TeE PoriTicAL AND ForeigN Porricy orF LoRrD
CLIVE: HIS ARMY-ADMINISTRATION AND ITS
CONSEQUENCES

O~ the 25th of June Clive started on his tour
northward. His presence was urgently needed on
the frontier, for he had to deal with two humi-
liated princes, the Nawédb-Wazir of Oudh, and the
actual inheritor of the empire of the Mughal, Shéh
Alim, now a houseless fugitive, his capital occupied
by the Afghéns, possessing no resources but such as
might acerue from the title which he bore.

At Murshiddbad, which he took on his way up-
wards, Clive had to settle with the young Stbahdér
the system which it would be incumbent upon him
to introduce into the three provinces, as governor
under the over-lordship of the English. The positions
of the native ruler and the western foreigner had
become completely inverted since the period, only
nine years distant, when Sirdj-ud-dauld marched
against Calcutta to expel thence those who were his
vassals. The system to be imposed now on the
Stbahdér provided that he should become a Nawéb-
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N4zim, responsible for the peace and for the main-
tenance of public order in the three provinces, for
the administration of justice, and for the enforcing of
obedience to the law; that there should be a Diwén,
or chief minister, empowered to collect the yearly
revenue of the provinees, responsible for all disburse-
ments, and for the payment of the surplus into the
Imperial treasury. This system had prevailed in the
time of the Emperor Aurangzeb. But there was
this important difference. In Clive’s scheme, whilst
Nujm-ud-dauld would be Nawéb-Nazim, the East
India Company would occupy, from that time forth
and for ever, the position of Diwén ; and the Imperial
treasury would be the treasury of the Company. The
scheme was agreed to by the young Nawib and his
surroundings. But in working it, one part was found
to place a power that would be abused in the hands
of the Nawab-N4zim. Accordingly, a few months
later, that prince was relieved of the responsibility
for the maintenance of the public peace, for the ad-
ministration of justice, and for the enforcing of
obedience to the law. In a word, the Company
became the rulers of the three provinces, the Nawab-
Nézim a cypher. Nay, more, the sum of money
which the Nawab-Nézim was to have at his disposal
was limited to fifty-three lakhs of rupees ; from this
he was to defray the entire expenses of his court.
Was it for such a result, might the shade of Mir
Jafar inquire, that the nobles of the three provinces
combined to betray Sirdj-ud-dauld ?
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After having thus settled the affairs of the Company
at Murshidéb4d, Clive proceeded by way of Patnd to
Benares, to meet there his friend General Carnac
and the suppliant Nawéb-Wazir of Oudh. This inter-
view was, in the eyes of Clive, likely to be fraught
with the most important consequences, for he was
bent on the securing of a frontier for the English
possessions such as would offer the best points of
defence against invasion; for, in his view, it was to
be permanent.

It ought not to be attributed as a great political
fault to Clive that his mind had not realized the fact
that to maintain it is often necessary to advance.
In a word, it would be most unfair to judge the
action of 1765-6 by the lights of the experience of
the century which followed. Up to the year 1757
the unwarlike inhabitants of Bengal had been the
prey of the Mughal or the Mardthd. But in 1765, so
far as could be judged, neither was to be feared. The
Maréthd power had suffered in 1761, on the field of
Péanipat, near Delhi, one of the most crushing defeats
ever inflicted on a people, and Clive had no power of
divining that the genius of a young member of one
of their ruling families, who escaped wounded from
the field, would, in a few years, raise the Mardthd
power to more than its pristine greatness. As for the
Mughal, his power was gone for ever; the represen-
tative prince was at the very moment a fugitive at
Allahéb4d, not possessed of a stiver, What was there
to be feared from him or from hig family ? In the



174 LORD CLIVE

three provinces the English possessed the richest parts
of India. It was surely good policy, he argued, if
he could by treaty with his neighbours, and by
occupying the salient points which covered them,
render them unassailable.

After some preliminary conversation with the
- Nawdb-Wazir, Clive found that it would be necessary
to proceed to Allahdbdd to confer there with the titu-
lar emperor, Shdh Alim. He found that prince full
of ideas as to the possibility of recovering with the
aid of Clive his lost possessions in the north-west.
Nothing was further from Clive’s mind than an enter-
prise of that character, and, with his accustomed tact
he soon convinced the two princes that it was
necessary first to settle the English frontier before
discussing any other subject. He then proceeded to
develop his plan. He demanded the cession of the
fortress of Chandr to the English; the provinces of
Karra and Allahabdd to the Emperor, to be held, on
his behalf, by the English; the payment by the
Nawédb-Wazir of fifty lakhs, for the expenses of the
war just concluded ; an engagement from him never
to employ or give protection to Mir Késim or to
Samru ; permission to the East India Company to
trade throughout his dominions, and to establish
factories within them. The Nawédb-Wazir agreed to
every clause except to that regarding the factories.
He had observed, he stated, that whenever the
English established a footing in a country, even
though it were only by means of a commercial fac-
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tory, they never budged from it; their countrymen
followed them ; and in the end they became masters
of the place. He then pointed out how, in nine years,
the small factory of Calcutta had absorbed the three
provinces, and was now engaged in swallowing up
places beyond their border. He would not, he finally
declared, submit his dominions to the same chance.
Recognizing his earnestness, and having really no
desire to plant factories in Oudh, Clive wisely
gave way on that one point. He carried, however,
all the other points. It was further arranged
that the Zamindar of Benares, who had befriended
the English during the war, should retain his posses-
sions in subordination to the Nawab-Wazir; that
a treaty of mutual support should be signed between
the English, the Nawab-Wazir, and the Stbahdar of
the three provinces ; and that should English troops
be required to fight for the defence of the Nawdb-
Wazir’'s country, he should defray all their ex-
penses.

Subsequently at Chaprd, in Bihar, Clive met the
Naw#ab-Wazir, the representative of Shah Alim, agents
from the Jat chiefs of Agra, and others from the
Rohill4 chiefs of Rohilkhand. The avowed purpose of
the meeting was to form a league against Marathad
aggression, it having been recently discovered that that
people had entered into communications with Shih
Alim for the purpose of restoring him to his throne.
Then it was that the question of the English frontier
was discussed. It was eventually agreed that one
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entire brigade should ocecupy Allahibdd, to protect
that place and the adjoining district of Karra'; that
a strong detachment of the second brigade should
occupy Chandr; two battalions Benares; and one
Lucknow. On his side the Emperor granted firmans
bestowing the three provinces upon the East India
Company ‘as a free gift without the association of any
other person,” subject to an annual payment to himself
and successors of twenty-six lakhs of rupees, and to
the condition that the Company should maintain an
army for their defence.

On the 19th of May following the Stibahd4r of the
three provinces died. The arrangements made by
Clive had deprived the position of all political im-
portance. The individuality of the person holding
that once important office was therefore of little
importance. The next heir, a brother, naturally
succeeded. The only change made on the occasion
was the reduction of the allowance for all the expenses
of the office from fifty-three to forty-one lakhs of
rupees.

On one point Clive continued firm. Although, prac-
tically, the English had now become the masters of
the three provinces, the Stbahd4r only the show-figure,
he insisted that the former should still remain in the
background. The revenue was still to be collected in

! Karra was a very important division and city in the time
of the Mughals, and is repeatedly referred to by the native
historians whose records appear in Sir H. Elliot’s history. See
vols. ii, iii, iv, v and viii, The city is now in ruins.
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the name, and nominally on behalf of the native
prince. The utmost he would permit in a contrary
direction was to appoint English supervisors, to see
that the native collectors did their duty. Beyond that
he would not go. In the eyes of the world of India
the three provinces were to continue a S#bah, adminis-
tered by a Subahdédr. The control of the English was
to remain a matter for arrangement with the actual
ruler, their real power only to be prominently used
when occasion might require, and then, likewise, in
the name of the Stbahdér.

We have fortunately from his own hand the prin-
ciples which guided him, and which he hoped would
guide his successors, in their relations to the other
powers of India. In a State paper! written before
his departure, he thus expressed his views: ¢ Our pos-
sessions should be bounded by the provinces. ‘We
should studiously maintain peace; it is the ground-
work of our prosperity. Never consent to act offen-
sively against any Powers except in defence of our
own, the King's, or the Nawdb-Wazir’s dominions, as
stipulated by treaty ; and, above all things, be assured
that a march to Delhi would be not only a vain and
fruitless project, but attended with destruction to
your own army, and perhaps put a period to the very
being of the Company in Bengal.’ In a word, to
borrow the criticism of the author from whose work
I have quoted, ‘the English were to lie snugly

' Early Records of British India, by Talboys Wheeler. In this
interesting work the paper quoted from is given in extenso.

M



178 LORD CLIVE

ensconeced in the three provinces of Bengal, Bihdr, and
Orissa. The frontier of Oudh was to form a permanent
barrier against all further progress.” Such a policy
might commend itself to the theorist, but it was not
fitted for the rough throes of an empire in dissolution,
its several parts disputed by adventurers. Within
a single decade it was blown to the winds™.

There is one subject upon which it becomes me to
touch slightly before considering the army adminis-
tration. During one of his visits to Murshiddbdd it
was discovered that, in his will, the late Sabahdar, Mir
Jafar, had bequeathed five lakhs of rupees to Clive.
The discovery was made after Clive, in common with
the other servants of the Company, had bound himself
not to accept any presents from natives of India. He
could not therefore take the legacy himself. But the
money was there—practically to be disposed of as he
might direct. He resolved, with the approval of his
Council, to constitute with it a fund for the relief of
the officers and men of the Company’s army who
might be disabled by wounds or by the climate. Thus
was formed the institution which, under the title of
‘Lord Clive’s Fund, served to bring help and conso-
lation to many poor and deserving servants of the
Company for nearly a century. By a strange freak
of fortune this fund reverted, in 1858, on the transfer
of India to the Crown, to the descendants of the very
man who could not, or believed he could not, accept
it, when bequeathed to him, for himself.

! Wheeler.
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Whilst dealing with the internal administration of
the country, and arranging for the protection of its
frontier, Clive had not been unmindful of the other
duty strongly impressed upon him by the Court of
Directors, that of examining the pay and allowances
of their military officers, with special reference to an
allowance known as Batta. Batta, in a military
sense, represented the extra sum or allowance granted
to soldiers when on field duty. Practically it had
been granted on the following principle. Officers had
been allowed a fixed monthly pay and allowances, not
including batta, when they were serving in garrison.
When they took the field they drew an extra sum as
batta, known as full batta; but when they were
detached to an out-station, not being actually in the
field, they drew only half that amount, which was
called half-batta. After the battle of Plassey, Mir
Jafar, in the profusion of his gratitude, had bestowed
upon the officers an additional sum equal to full batta.
This was called ¢double batta, and as long as the
army was in the field, fighting for the interests of that
chief, he continued, with the sanction of the Couneil
of Calcutta, to disburse that allowance. Mir Késim, on
his succession, had expressed his intention to continue
this payment, and had assigned to the Company, for
that purpose amongst others, the revenues of three dis-
triets. But the Court of Directors, not fully realizing
that the transaction with Mir Kdsim was one emi-
nently advantageous to themselves, and forgetting
that the receipt of the revenues of the three provinces

M 2
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was accompanied by an obligation, chose to forget
the latter point, and accepting the revenues, issued
peremptory orders to discontinue the disbursement of
double batta. This order seemed so unjust that the
then Council of Calcutta (1762), on receiving it, went
thoroughly into the question, and, in a despatch to
the Court, submitted the case for the officers in the
strongest terms. The reply of the Court adds one
proof to many of the unfitness of men not belonging
to the ruling class to exercise supreme authority. The
Directors refused the prayer of their servants on
grounds which, by no artifice of despatch-writing,
could be made to apply to the circumstances of the
case.

That reply was dated the gth of March, 1763. Just
one month earlier the Calcutta Council had appointed
a Special Committee on the spot to examine and
report upon the question. But before the Committee
could complete its inquiries there broke out that war
with Mir Kdsim, which called for the extraordinary
exertions of the class whose claims were under ex-
amination. The services of Majors Adams and Carnac,
two of the members of the Committee, were required
in the field, and it was by the splendid exertions of
the former and his officers that the Company was
rescued from imminent peril. The inquiry dropped
during the war.

But although the splendid exertions of the officers
saved British interests in 1763, the Court of Directors
did not the less persist in resolving to curtail their’
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allowances. On the 1st of June, 1764, whilst the
army, having conquered Mir Késim, stood opposed to
the forces of the Nawé#b-Wazir of Oudh, they de-
spatched the most precise orders that the allowance of
double batta should be discontinued from the date of
the receipt of their order. Probably the Court of
Directors was the only ruling body in the world which
would have dared to issue an order greatly curtailing
allowances to an army in the field, opposed to greatly
superior forces whose triumph would mean destruction
to the Company. But this is but one instance of
the dogged incapacity to rule with which the history
of the Court of Directors abounds.

When the despatch reached India the army had but
just gained the bloody and decisive battle of Baksar.
The Calcutta Council dared not, at such a moment,
carry out the orders of the Court. There were other
reasons for delay. Lord Clive was on his way from
England, and to him, probably, special instructions
had been given.

We have seen the course which Lord Clive pursued
with reference to the other branches of the administra-
tion. It wastheend of the year 1765 before he touched -
the army. Then he issued instructions that from the
1st of January, 1766, the double batta should be with-
drawn, except as regarded the second brigade, then
stationed at Allahdbdd. This brigade, on account of
the high prices of provisions at the station, and the
expense of procuring the necessary supplies from
Europe, was to be allowed double batta in the field,



182 LORD CLIVE

and the old original single batta in cantonments or in
garrison, until it should be recalled within the pro-
vinces. This rule was to be applied to all troops
beyond the Karmndsd. Clive directed further that the
rest of the army should receive single batta when
marching or in the field, and half single batta when in
cantonment or in garrison, as at Mungir or Patn4;
but when at Calcutta or within the Presidency
division the officers would receive no batta at all, but
free quarters in lieu of it.

The order was badly received by the officers. They
had enjoyed the privilege of double batta and its
accessories so long that they had come to regard such
allowances as their right by prescription. They at
once memorialized the Government with a view to
obtain a modification. But the reply Clive invariably
gave them was to the effect that the orders of the
Court had left him no option in the matter. Driven
into a corner, their regard for their interests got the
better of their sense of discipline. The officers of the
several brigades and regiments entered into a cor-
respondence with one another, formed committees, and
decided to wrench by force the rights, as they deemed
them, of which the order of the Court had deprived
them. In a word, the European army of India, officers
and men—for the men were prepared to follow the
lead of the officers—combined against the Govern-
ment.

Space will not permit me, nor is it requisite, that
I should detail the measures they adopted to bend the



THE ARMY ADMINISTRATION 183

Government to their will. It must suffice to state
that the mutiny was of a most formidable character.
So complete was the organization of the. conspiring
officers, so well laid were their plans, so secret had
been their measures, that, during the period of four
months the organization was in progress, not a single
whisper of it had reached the Government. Clive
received the first intimation of it when he was offi-
cially informed of it by the commander of the first
brigade—a man who sympathized with the movement
and desired its success. At the moment the con-
spirators were ready for action. That they possessed
the sympathy of the members of the Civil Service
was shown by the fact that the latter subscribed
140,000 rupees to aid the movement, and supplied the
conspirators with copies of the proceedings of the
Government.

Formidable as was the situation no living man was
so well qualified to deal with it as was Clive. In the
hour of danger he soared above his fellows. The
danger here was greater than the danger of Arcot;
than at the surprises of Kdveripdk and of Samidveram;
than during the hour of doubt at Plassey. His oppo-
nents were his own men—men whom he had led to
victory. They possessed all the fortified places, the
guns, the material of war. From the frontier came
rumours of the advance of a Mardthd army, 60,000
strong, to wrest Allahibdd and Karra from his hand.
But there he was, the same cool, patient, defiant man
he had been when confronted by the bayonets of the
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French at Kéveripdk and Samidveram. He knew
that the Government he represented was in the most
imminent danger, that if the mutineers should move
forward, he had not the means to oppose them.

The manner in which Clive met this danger is
. a lesson for all time. Not for an instant did he
quail. Never was he more resolved to carry out the
orders he had issued regarding batta than when he
was told, that, in the presence of the enemy on the
frontier, the officers would resign their commissions
if the order were not withdrawn.

For the moment, fortunately, the conspirators had
regolved to await his action. He, then, would take
the initiative. On the very day when he received the
report of the existence of the congpiracy he formed
a committee, composed of himself, General Carnac,
and Mr. Sykes, to carry out the plan of action he had
formed. First, he and they resolved to send imme-
diately to Madras for officers. Then they passed a
resolution declaring that any officer resigning his com-
mission should be debarred from serving the Company
in any capacity, and sent copies of it to the several
brigades for distribution to all concerned. Clive
then hurried to Murshiddbad ; he addressed the recal-
citrant officers stationed there; spoke to them in
terms firm, yet conciliatory; told them they were
acting very wrongly and very foolishly; that they
were infringing the very discipline which they knew
to be the mainstay of an army; that although im-
mediate success might be theirs, they must be beaten
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in the long run; that such conduct could only be
pardoned on condition of immediate submission.
Touched by the language of the man who had been
to them an object of veneration, all the officers, two
young lieutenants excepted, hesitated—then submitted
absolutely. This success was followed by similar
results at the other stations in the Presidency divi-
sion, visited by Carnac and Sykes. In that division
only two captains and a lieutenant continued re-
calcitrant.

There remained then only the important centres of
Mungir, Bdnkipur (Patnd), and Allahdbad, the officers
stationed there being bound to each other by the
most solemn engagements. At the first-named of
these places the Commandant was Sir Robert Fletcher,
himself a well-wisher to the plot. When the officers
there simultaneously tendered their resignation, agree-
ing to serve for fifteen days longer without pay,
Fletcher received them with sympathy, and told
them he would forward their letter to headquarters.
At Bénkipur, then the military cantonment of Patna,
the commandant, Sir R. Barker, one of the superior
officers who had accompanied Clive from England,
acted far differently. Before replying, he commu-
nicated with Lord Clive, then at Murshidibad, and
received from him instructions to place under arrest
every officer whose conduct should seem to him to
come under the construction of mutiny, and to detain
such at Bankipur until it might be possible to convene
a general court-martial to try them. To render
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complete the necessary numbers of field-officers Clive
promoted on the spot two officers known to be loyal.
The Bénkipur officers followed, nevertheless, the con-
duct of their comrades at Mungir, and resigned in
a body. Barker not only declined to accept those
resignations, but arrested four of the ringleaders, and
despatched them by water to Caleutta. This bold
action paralyzed the recalcitrants, and followed up
as it was by the journey of Clive to Mungir, accom-
panied by some officers who had come round from
Madras, it dealt a blow to the mutineers from which
they never completely rallied.

But at Allahdbdd the danger was still more menac-
ing. There and at the station of Surdjpur, only two
officers, Colonel Smith, and a Major of the same name,
were absolutely untainted : four were but slightly so,
and could be depended upon to act with the Smiths
in an emergency ; all the others had pledged themselves
to ‘the cause.’” Those of the latter stationed at Alla-
hébad displayed their disaffection in the usual manner,
whereupon Major Smith, commanding there, calling
on the sipdhis to support him, placed under arrest
every officer in the place, the four slightly tainted
officers excepted. He then informed the mutinous
officers that he would shoot down without mercy any
and every officer who should break his arrest. This
action was most effective. All the officers but six
submitted and were allowed to return to duty. The
six were deported to Patnd, to be tried there. A
similar course was followed by Colonel Smith at
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Surdjpur, with the result, however, that nearly one
half of the officers remained recalcitrant, and were
despatched under arrest to Calcutta.

Meanwhile, at Mungir, the officers continued in
a thorough state of disorganization, the commander,
Sir Robert Fletcher, encouraging them. The day
before Clive’s arrival, an officer whom he had sent
in advance, Colonel Champion, surprising the officers
in full conclave, learned from them that they desired
to recount their grievances to Clive in person. On
learning this Clive directed them to parade with their
men the following morning, giving directions simul-
taneously to Champion, to bring to the ground two
battalions of sipahis, under the command of Captain
F. Smith, an officer known to be loyal. Then a very
curious circumstance happened. Smith had but just
entered the fort with his sipdhis when he noticed that
the Europeans, infantry and artillery, were turning
out to mutiny. Without a moment’s hesitation he
marched towards them with his sipdhis; seized, by a
bold strategic movement, a mound which was the key
of the position, completely dominating the ground on
which the Europeans were drawn up. The latter,
who were on the point of quitting the fort, noting
the commanding position occupied by the sipahis,
halted and hesitated. Smith took advantage of the
pause thus caused to tell them that unless they should
retire instantly to their barracks he would fire upon
them. At the moment Sir R. Fletcher came up,
began to encourage the revolters, and to distribute
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money amongst them; suddenly, however, taking in
the exact position, he changed his tone, ordered the
recalcitrant officers to leave the fort within two hours,
and reported the whole circumstance to Lord Clive.
The officers left at once, and the incident closed for
the day; but when, the following morning, Clive
entered the fort, and addressed the assembled soldiers
on the wickedness of their conduet, praised and re-
warded the sipahis for their behaviour, the men gave
way. The mutiny, as far as Mungir was concerned,
was over. Meanwhile the officers expelled by Fletcher
had encamped within a short distance of Mungir, re-
solved to wait there the arrival of their comrades
from other stations. But they had to deal with a
man who would stand no trifling. Clive despatched
to them an order to set out forthwith for Calecutta ;
and to quicken their movements he sent a detachment
of sipdhis to see that his order was obeyed. After
that there was no more mutiny at Mungir, or in the
stations dependent upon it.

At Bankipur the officers, notwithstanding the action
of Sir R. Barker, previously noted, had sent their
commissions en bloc to Lord Clive. But the news of
the occurrences at Mungir startled and frightened
them. When, then, Lord Clive arrived at Patnd, he
found the officers penitent and humble, and that his
only task was to pardon. There, too, he learned with
pleasure the successful action of the two Smiths at
Allahdbad and Surdjpur. He remained then at Patna,
to crush the last embers of the mutiny, and to arrange
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for the bringing to justice of the ringleaders. This
last task he performed in a manner which tempered
justice with mercy. Fletcher, who had played a
double part, and whose actions were prompted by
personal greed, was brought to a court-martial and
cashiered. Five other officers were deported, but
of these, one, John Neville Parker, was reinstated
in 1769, and survived to render glorious service
to the Company, giving his life for his masters in
1781.

The comparative ease with which Clive suppressed
this formidable conspiracy was due to one cause alone.
No sooner did Clive hear of the combination than,
instead of waiting to be attacked, he seized the
initiative: the mutineers allowed him to strike the
first blow ; standing on the defensive in their isolated
positions, they gave the opportunity to Clive to
destroy them in detail. It was the action which
Napoleon employed against the Austrians in 1796,
1805, and in 180g. It is useless to speculate what
might have been the result if Clive had stood, as the
majority of men would have stood, on the defensive.
By the opposite course he not only saved the situa-
tion, but achieving a very decisive victory, struck
a blow at insubordination which gave an altered tone
to the officers of the army, then as much hankering
after ungodly pelf as were their brethren in the Civil
Service. Never, throughout his glorious career as
a goldier, did Clive's character and his conduct stand
higher than when, in dealing out punishment for the
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mutiny which he, and he alone, had suppressed, he
remembered the former services of the soldiers who
had been led away, and gave them all, a few in-
corrigibles excepted, the opportunity to retrieve their
characters on future fields of battle.

The task of Clive in India had now been ac-
complished. Thoroughly had he carried through the
mission entrusted to him. He had cleansed, as far as
was possible, the Augean stable. He had given him-
self no recreation: he was completely worn out. He
had announced to the Court of Directors so far back
as 1765 his intention to resign as soon as he could do
so without inconvenience to the public interests. The
Court, in reply, whilst most handsomely acknowledg-
ing his services, had begged him to devote yet one
year to India. When that letter reached him, De-
cember 1766, he had already accomplished all that,
with the means and powers at his disposal, it was
possible to carry through. He felt then that, broken
in health, he might retire with honour from the
country he had won for England. Having penned
a valuable minute, laying down the principles which
should guide the policy of his successor, based upon
his own action during the preceding three years, he
made over to one of his colleagues of the Select Com-
mittee, Mr. Verelst, the office of Governor, and nomina-
ting Colonel Richard Smith, then on the frontier, to

! Mr. Sumner, whose weak character I have described, and who
had been designated Lord Clive’s successor, had been forced to
resign his seat on the Select Committee.
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be Commander-in-chief, Mr. Sykes, Mr. Carter, and
Mr. Beecher, to form, with the Governor, the Select
Committee, he bade farewell to his friends, and, on
the 29th of January, 1767, embarked on board the
good ship Britanmnia for England.



CHAPTER XV

Tut RETURN oF THE CONQUEROR-STATESMAN, AND THE
RECEPTION ACCORDED TO HIM BY HIS COUNTRY-
MEN: HIS STRUGGLES; AND HIS DEATH

ONE of the ablest and most impartial of English
historians, the fifth Earl Stanhope, has thus summed
up his appreciation of the results of the second
administration of Clive in India: ‘On the whole it
may be said that his second command was not less
important for reform than his first had been for con-
quest. By this the foundations, at least, of good
government were securely laid. And the results
would have been greater still could Clive have re-
mained longer at his post” It was impossible he
could remain. In December, 1766, his weakness was
so great as to disable him from writing. He required
rest, and as we have seen he embarked for England
at the close of the month following, to find there, alas !
no rest, but, on the contrary, the bitterest, the most
persistent, the most unscrupulous enemies; their
attacks prompted by the corrupt officials whom he
had driven from the posts they had abused, and who
were able, nevertheless, to enlist in their vile persecu-
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tion statesmen of great remown holding high office
under the Crown. '

It is a pitiful tale, this persecution of a man who
had rendered the most magnificent services to his
country. The one blot minute investigation had been
able to find in his career was the treatment of Amin-
chand. But Aminchand was a blackmailer who had
threatened to betray a state-secret of enormous im-
portance unless he were paid a sum out of all
proportion to the services he rendered. Such a man
deserves no commiseration. His treachery, if Clive
had refused to subscribe to his terms, would have
involved the death of thousands, and might have
driven the English out of Bengal. Clive fdught him
with the same Asiatic weapon Aminchand had levelled
against himself, and beat him. That his action was
wrong in morals, unworthy of his lofty nature, is
unquestionable. But it is not so certain that, under
similar pressure, in circumstances so critical, those
who most bitterly denounced him would have acted
otherwise. Some writers have averred, and until
recently it has been accepted, that the deceit drove
Aminchand to madness. But inquiry has dissipated
this fiction. He was, it is true, startled into insensi-
bility by the discovery of the fact that he had been
imposed upon, but, after visiting the shrine of a famous
saint in Mdlw4, he returned to his business in Calcutta
and prospered till his death. As to the other part of
the same transaction, the signing of the name of
Admiral Watson, Clive stated on oath, in his evidence

N
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before the House of Commons, that although the
admiral had refused to sign the document, he had, to
the best of his belief, permitted Mr. Lushington to
affix his name; and certainly amongst those who
benefited by the transaction was Admiral Watson
himself, who, after the triumph of the conspirators,
claimed even more than he received. But it was on
these two points that the miscreants whom Clive, in
his second administration, had driven from the posts
they had sullied, and their allies, based a persecution
which tortured the enfeebled frame of the conqueror.
Clive’s real fault in the eyes of the leaders of the
persecution was that he had become rich himself, and
had prevented them from fattening on the plunder of
the country he had conquered. To most men, in fact
to all but a very few men, in England and in France,
India was a terra incogmitae whither a certain few
repaired young, and whence they returned, in the
‘prime of their manhood, rich, and often with a great
reputation. Why was it that such men were at once
subjected to the vilest persecution? The fact that
they were so is incontestable. Clive himself and
Warren Hastings, whose reputation has recently been
splendidly vindicated by two great Englishmen?, are
cases in point in England ; Dupleix and La Bourdon-
nais and Lally, in France. It is the saddest of sad
stories ; the men who had rendered the most brilliant

1 Sir Fitzjames Stephen in the case of Nanda-Kumdr : Sir John
Strachey in reference to the charges respecting Oudh and
Rohilkhand.



RETURN OF THE CONQUEROR-STATESMAN 195

services to their respective countries finding their
bitterest enemies often amongst the Ministers of the
Crown. There is little to discriminate between the
conduct of parliamentary England and despotic France
except in the degree of misery and punishment to
which they alike subjected the most illustrious of their
countrymen who had served in India.

To return. It will be remembered that in his second
administration Clive had purified the Civil Service of
Bengal. The corrupt men whom he had ejected had
returned to England whilst he was still in India, the
charges made against them accompanying or preceding
them in the despatches transmitted to the Court of
Directors. On receiving these despatches the Court,
having taken the opinions of their own lawyers and
of those of the Crown,resolved to bring the culprits to
trial for having accepted presents from the natives
after they had received the order from the Court
making such acceptance penal. But the inculpated
men were rich and they resolved to appeal from the
Directors to the Proprietors. There had been a differ-
ence between these two bodies as to whether the
annual dividends should be increased from ten, the
amount recommended by the Court, to twelve and
a half per cent. At the annual meeting the votes of
the men dismissed by Clive enabled the Proprietors to
carry their point. The corrupt clique utilized this
victory by proposing and carrying a resolution that
the prosecutions instituted against them should be
dismissed. This was accordingly done.

N 2



196 LORD CLIVE

Two months later, July 14, Clive landed in England:
He was well received. The King and Queen admitted
him to private audiences. The Court of Directors
received him in full conclave, immediately after his
reception by their Majesties, thanked him for his
splendid achievements, and immediately convened
a general Court to confirm the proposal that the jigir,
granted him by Mir Jafar, should be confirmed to him
for an additional ten years. This resolution was
unanimously passed.

So far there was no sign of the coming storm. Not
a sound of the distant hurricane had been wafted to
the ears of Clive. He had returned as ambitious as
he ever had been, resolved to devote to the service of
his country the energies he had displayed in the East.
Already he had made arrangements to secure seats for
himself and for six of his relatives, when, to rest
before the elections should take place, he started for
Paris (January, 1768) with Lady Clive and a small
party. He was very confident in the future. He had
received personally the King’s commands to lay before
his Majesty his ideas of the Company’s affairs both at
home and abroad, with a promise of his Majesty’s
countenance and protection in anything he might
attempt for the good of the nation and the Company.
He had seen so much of what he called ‘ the ignorance
and obstinacy’ of the Court of Directors, who, he
stated in a letter to his successor, Mr. Verelst, ¢are
universally despised and hated,’ that he felt sure his
would be the hand, in the coming meeting of the Court
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of Proprietors, to stay their fall or to renew their
vitality. In a word, his confidence was never greater,
never did he feel more assured regarding the future.

Yet, during this confidence of the soul, this longing
for political warfare, his nearest friends could easily
detect that he had not sufficiently recovered from the
strain of his last three years in India. His body did
not respond to the call of the ever active brain. His
friends and his physicians urged him then to take
a complete rest and holiday of fourteen to fifteen
months in France. With difficulty they induced him
to stay eight months. Then he returned to find that
hé and his six relatives had, in his absence, been
elected Members of Parliament.

His return produced a renewal of the activity of his
enemies. They filled London with stories of his rapa-
city. Sir Robert Fletcher, whose shameful conduct
during the mutiny of the officers I have recorded,
wrote against him a pamphlet which irritated him
greatly. He was hardly to be prevented from answer-
ing it. There were other considerations which, at this
time, affected his career. When the general election
at which he and his friends were returned had taken
place, the Ministry was presided over by the Duke of
Grafton, Lord Chatham being Lord Privy Seal and
Lord North Chancellor of the Exchequer. At the end
of 1769 Chatham was forced by the state of his health,
which had long been bad, to resign ; and in the January
of the year following, the Duke of Grafton resigned
and was succeeded as First Lord of the Treasury
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by Lord North. Clive had not posed as a supporter
of either of these administrations. He had declared
himself to be a supporter of George Grenville, the
head of the Grenville Whigs, who were then in oppo-
sition. It has been claimed! for him that Clive
declined to commit himself to any party of the Indian
policy of which he was ignorant. But none of the
members of Lord North’s Cabinet knew anything of
India, and if Clive, commanding seven votes, had
been asked to join it, he might have educated his
colleagues on the subject. An opportunity of follow-
ing such a course seemed to occur when Mr. Wedder-
burn, an able lawyer and a personal ally of Clive,
joined the North Ministry, but Clive remained staunch
to the Grenville connexion, exercising but little in-
fluence, and exposed all the time to the bitter shafts
of his enemies, which increased every day in intensity
and venom. To make the situation still less endur-
able George Grenville died (November, 1770). g

Meanwhile affairs in India were not progressing
satisfactorily. In Bengal, indeed, Mr. Verelst, acting
on the lines laid down by Clive, had with the sup-
port of his colleagues succeeded in maintaining peace
and prosperity. But in Madras, the incursions of
Haidar Ali, an adventurer who by sheer ability and
daring had climbed to the highest place in the
kingdom of Mysore, had caused the English in that
Presidency severe losses, and forced them to incur an
expenditure which deprived the Proprietors of Indian

1 Malcolm’s Clive.
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Stock of all chance of dividends for some time to
come. To meet this financial embarrassment the
Crown and the Company could dream of no other
device than the futile one of sending to India three
commissioners, who, under the name of Supervisors,
should have full power over all the other servants of
the Company. They nominated accordingly Mr. Van-
sittart, who, from having been the warmest friend
of Clive, had become his bitterest opponent; and
who, but for the successful opposition of Clive and
his friends, would have been appointed Governor in
succession to Mr. Verelst. With him they associated
Mr. Scrafton, an old and valued servant of the Com-
pany; and Colonel Forde, the conqueror of the
Northern Sirkdrs and of Biderra—both intimate
friends and adherents of Clive. These gentlemen
sailed in the Awrora frigate in the autumn of 1769.
The Awrora reached the Cape in safety, but was
never heard of after she had quitted Simon’s Bay.
It was supposed that she foundered at sea.

Some considerable time elapsed before it had been
realized in England that the Supervisors had failed
them, and that it would be necessary to take other
measures to remedy existing evils. Meanwhile events
had happened which increased the necessity for im-
mediate and effective action. In 1770 the three
provinces were visited by a famine exceeding in in-
tensity all the famines of preceding ages. There had
been, in years gone by, no beneficent strangers from
the West to make, as in later years, provision for the
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occurrence of so great a calamity. The rains had
failed ; the water in the tanks had dried up ; the rice-
fields had become parched and dry. There were but
few stores handy to enable the foreigner to disburse the
necessary grain. It was the first famine-experience
of the English, and they too had made no provision
for it. The misery was terrible. The large centres of
industry, the only places where there was a chance
of obtaining food, became thronged with the dying
and the dead. The rivers floating corpses to the sea
became so tainted that the very fish ceased to be
wholesome food. In summing up, two years later,
the effects of the famine on the population, the
Governor-General in Council declared that in some
places one-half, and, on the whole, one-third of the
inhabitants had been destroyed. It need scarcely be
added that this terrible calamity affected the Pro-
prietors of East India Stock in a manner, to them
the most vital :—it destroyed their prospects of large
dividends.

To remedy this evil the brains of the Court of
Directors could devise no other scheme than that
which the foundering of the Awrora had previously
baffled : they would send out other Supervisors.
But Lord North had taken the matter in hand. He
brought in a bill providing for the constitution in
Calcutta of a Supreme Court, to consist of a Chief
Justice and three Puisné judges, appointed by the
Crown ; giving to the Governor of Bengal authority
over the two other Presidencies, with the title of
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Governor-General, to be assisted and controlled by
a Council of five members. The great blot of this
bill was the clause which gave a controlling power
to the Council. The Governor-General had in it but
one vote, and in case of equality, a casting-vote.
Mr. Warren Hastings who, twelve months before,
had succeeded Mr. John Cartier! as Governor, was
appointed first Governor-General of India.

The war with Haidar Ali and the famine in Bengal
had brought India and Indian matters very promi-
nently into the parliamentary discussions of 1771,1772
and 1773, and during these the name of Lord Clive
had not been spared. The attacks against him were
led principally by General Burgoyne, a natural son
of Lord Bingley, best known in history as the com-
mander who surrendered a British army, 5,791 strong,
to the American colonists2 In April, 1772, this
officer had become Chairman of a Select Committee
composed of thirty-one members, to inquire and
report on Indian affairs. Another Committee, called
Secret, and composed of thirteen members nominated
by ballot, was appointed, on the motion of Lord
North, in November of the same year, to take into
consideration the whole state of the Company’s affairs.
Into the other proceedings of these committees this
volume has no cause to enter; but they had scarcely
been constituted when they began to let fly their
arrows at Lord Clive. The chief cause of these attacks

1 Mr, Cartier had succeeded Mr. Verelst in 1769.
2 At Saratoga, October 17, 1777-
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is so well stated by the sober-minded historian?, that
I cannot refrain from quoting his remarks. ¢ Besides
the public wrongs of which he (Lord Clive) stood
accused, there was also, it may be feared, a feeling of
personal envy at work against him. His vast wealth
became a more striking mark for calumny when con-
trasted with the financial embarrassments of the
Directors in whose service he had gained it. And
his profusion, as ever happens, offended far more
persons than it pleased. He had bought the noble
seat of Claremont from the Duchess Dowager of
Newecastle, and was improving it at lavish cost. He
had so far invested money in the smaller boroughs
that he could reckon on bringing into Parliament
a retinue of six or seven friends or kinsmen. Under
such circumstances the Select Committee, over which
Burgoyne presided, made Clive their more especial
object of attack. They drew forth into the light of
day several transactions certainly not well formed to
bear it, as the forgery of Admiral Watson's signature,
and the fraud practised on Aminchand. But at the
same time they could not shut out the lustre of the
great deeds he had performed. Clive himself was
unsparingly questioned, and treated with slight re-
gard. As he complains, in one of his speeches: “1I
their humble servant, the Baron of Plassey, have been
examined by the Select Committee more like a sheep-
stealer than a member of this House.” And he adds,
with perfect truth: “I am sure, Sir, if I had any sore
3 Lord Stanhope’s History of England, vol. vii. pp. 353-4.
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places about me, they would have been found : they
have probed me to the bottom ; no lenient plasters
have been applied to heal ; no, Sir, they were all of
the blister kind, prepared with Spanish flies and other
provocatives.”’

Throughout these attacks Clive never lost his
calmness or his presence of mind. Never once. did
his lofty spirit quail. He stood there still the un-
conquered hero, ready to meet every charge, some-
times retorting, but always nobly, on his adversaries.
His friends rallied gallantly round him. His par-
ticular friend, Mr. Wedderburn, then Solicitor-General,
gave him a support as valuable as it was unstinted.
When his administration in Bengal was spoken of by
his old enemy, Mr. Sulivan, in the House in a man-
ner which, whilst not directly attacking it, conveyed
the impression that there was a great deal more in
the background, Clive went through every phase of
his career in Bengal, defending his own action in a
style which gained for him admiration. It was not,
however, until the month of May, 1773, that General
Burgoyne defined the vague charges which had there-
tofore supplied the place of argument, and brought
them forward, as a vote of censure, in three resolu-
tions. These resolutions ran as follows : (1) ¢ that all
acquisitions made under the influence of a military
force, or by treaty with foreign princes, did of right
belong to the State’; (2) ‘that to appropriate ac-
quisitions so made to the private emoluments of
persons entrusted with any civil or military power
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of the State is illegal’; (3) ‘that very great sums of
money, and other valuable property, had been ac-
quired in Bengal from princes and others of that
country by persons entrusted with the civil and
military powers of the State by means of such powers;
which sums of money and valuable property have
been appropriated to the private use of such persons.’

These resolutions named nobody. But in the speech
in which they were introduced Burgoyne took care
that there should be no doubt as to the person against
whom they were directed. He dwelt, with a bitter-
ness not to be surpassed, on all the delinquencies, real
and imaginary, of the conqueror of Bengal. He traced
all the misfortunes which had subsequently happened
to the Company to the treasonable compact which
had dethroned Sirdj-ud-dauld and placed Mir Jafar
on his seat, and denounced the conduct of the authors
of that transaction as ¢ black perfidy.” He denounced,
also, in terms equally severe, the treatment of Amin-
chand ; the forging of the name of Admiral Watson ;
the agreement, which, he said, had extorted from Mir
Jafar enormous sums, under the guise of presents, to
the leading servants of the Company in Bengal. On
the second administration of Clive, which was really
a long struggle against the corruption by which he
was surrounded, Burgoyne railed as bitterly and as
unsparingly. Nor was he content with merely railing.
Before he sat down he declared that if the House
should pass his resolutions he would not stop there,
but would proceed to follow them up with others, his
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object being to compel those who had acquired large
sums of money in the mannér he had denounced to
make a full and complete restitution.

The Solicitor-General, Wedderburn, conducted the
defence for Clive, and it was noticeable that the party
styled ‘the King’s Friends, amongst many others,
gave him their support. The Attorney-General, Thur-
low, supported Burgoyne, and the Prime Minister,
Lord North, voted with him. The voting on these
resolutions did not, however, indicate the real sense
of the House, for many of those who supported them
thought it would be better for the cause of Clive that
the further resolutions threatened by Burgoyne should
be proceeded with in order that a decisive vote should
be taken on a motion implicating Clive by name
rather than on resolutions of a vague and general
character. The resolutions, then, were carried.

Burgoyne then proceeded, as he had promised, to
follow up his victory. On the 17th of May he brought
forward the following resolution: ¢That it appears to
this House that the Right Honourable Robert, Lord
Clive, Baron of Plassey, in the kingdom of Ireland,
about the time of the deposition of Sirdj-ud-dauld,
and the establishment of Mir Jafar on the masnad,
through the influence of the powers with which he
was entrusted as member of the Select Committee and
Commander-in-chief of the British forces, did obtain
and possess himself of two lakhs of rupees as Com-
mander-in-chief, a further sum of two lakhs and
eighty thousand rupees as member of the Select
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Committee, and a further sum of sixteen lakhs or more,
under the denomination of a private donation, which
sums, amounting together to twenty lakhs and eighty
thousand rupees, were of value, in English money, of
two hundred and thirty-four thousand pounds; and
that in so doing the said Robert Clive abused the
power with which he was entrusted, to the evil ex-
ample of the servants of the public, and to the dis-
honour and detriment of the State.’

No one could say that these charges were not
sufficiently pointed. Clive met them with his accus-
tomed resolution. He rejoiced that the real issue had
come at last; that the great jury of the nation, the
House of Commons, was, after so long an interval
devoted to calumny, to abuse, to vague and shadowy
charges, to record its vote on the real question. On
their decision on this resolution he would stand or
fall. The alternative which his fiercest fights had
presented to him, the necessity to conquer or to be
disgraced, was presented to him here. He had won
those fights by the exercise rather of his lofty moral
qualities than by his skill as a soldier, and by the
exercise of the same qualities he would win this one
also. And he did win it. After Burgoyne, introduc-
ing his resolution, had traversed the same ground he
had followed in the preceding resolutions, and had
concluded by calling upon the House, like the old
Roman heroes, ‘to strike when the justice of the State
requires it,” Clive rose to defend himself. Recapitu-
lating the services he had rendered, he reminded the
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House that the transactions in Bengal, upon which
Burgoyne relied for a conviction, had been known in
their general tenour to the Company and the Crown
when they had thanked him, not once but repeatedly,
for his services. He proceeded then to expose the
interested and revengeful motives of the clique which
had instigated the attack, not sparing even those in
high places who, from various causes, had allowed
themselves to sanction it. Turning from that point,
he asked prominent attention to the fact that the
India Office, now his accuser, had almost forced him
to proceed for the second time to Bengal, and had
expressed a deep regret that his health had not
allowed him to stay there longer. ¢ After certificates
such as these, he added, ‘am I to be brought here like
a criminal, and the very best parts of my conduct
construed into crimes against the State?’ Stating
then that the resolution, if carried, would reduce him
to depend on his paternal inheritance of £500 per
annum, he continued : ‘But on this I am content to
live ; and perhaps I shall find more real content of
mind and happiness than in the trembling affluence of
an unsettled fortune. But, Sir, I must make one
more observation. If the definition of the hon. gentle-
man (Colonel Burgoyne) and of this House, that the
State, as expressed in these resolutions, is, quoad hoc,
the Company, then, Sir, every farthing I enjoy is
granted to me, But to be called upon, after sixteen
years have elapsed, to account for my conduct in this
manner, and after an uninterrupted enjoyment of my
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property, to be questioned, and considered as obtain-
ing it unwarrantably, is hard indeed ; it is a treatment
I should not think the British Senate capable of.
But if such should be the case, I have a conscious
innocence within me that tells me my conduct is
irreproachable. Frangas mon flectes’. My enemies
may take from me what I have; they may, as they
think, make me poor, but I shall be happy. I mean
not this as my defence, though I have done for the
present. My defence will be heard at that bar, but
before I sit down I have one request to make to this
House: that when they come to decide upon my
honour, they will not forget their own.’

The debate was adjourned, and in the few days
following some witnesses gave evidence at the bar of
the House. Lord Clive’s evidence, given before the
Select Committee, was also read there. In the debate
that followed, Mr. Stanley proposed to omit the words
inculpating the honour of Clive. Mr. Fuller seconded
this amendment, going even further, and striking out
the sentence referring to the exercise of undue in-
fluence. His suggestion was accepted, and the House
proceeded to discuss the amendment as so altered.
After a protracted debate the division was called for,
when it was found that 155 members had voted for
the amendment and 95 against it, This victory
stripped Burgoyne’s resolutions of all their sting.
Vainly did a member of his party attempt to restore
the battle by moving that Clive had abused the

1 ¢You may break, but you shall not bend, me,’
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powers intrusted to him in acting as he avowedly had
acted. The House refused to re-open that question.
Finally, at five o’clock in the morning, the House
passed the following resolution, which consummated
the defeat of Burgoyne: ¢That Robert, Lord Clive,
did, at the same time, render great and meritorious
services to his country.” On this conclusion to the
violent attacks on Clive, Lord Stanhope, well versed
in Parliamentary procedure, thus wrote : ¢ Such a vote
might be deemed almost a verdict of acquittal. Cer-
tainly, at least, it showed a wise reluctance to condemn.
It closed the whole case, and Clive had no further
Parliamentary attack to fear.’

But though the victory was gained, the struggle
affecting the personal honour and fortune of a proud
and sensitive man had made deep inroads upon the
constitution of one who had been long suffering from
the acute agony caused by the malady contracted in
India. Freed from the attack of his enemies, he
might, had his health been only tolerable, have looked
forward to a high command in the war just about to
break out with the colonists of North America. There
he would have been in his place; there, under the
influence of constant action, he would have forgotten
his troubles; even his oft-recurring spasms might
have disappeared. But,after the Parliamentary contest
was over, with the waning of the ever-present excite-
ment, his health became worse. In vain did he repair
to Bath to try the effect of its waters. In vain, finding
that for him the virtues of the Bath waters had

(o)
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departed, did he proceed to the Continent for travel.
Rest came not. A complication of disorders pre-
vented sleep, and travel failed to remedy the evil.
His mind had no longer the sustaining power which
in former days had enabled him to meet with tran-
quillity the frowns of Fortune. He returned to Eng-
land in 1774, and shortly afterwards, in November of
that year, when apparently thoroughly conscious , fell
by his own hand. ‘To the last,’ wrote Lord Stanhope,
“he appears to have retained his serene demeanour and
stern dominion of his will.” It is difficult for us who
have followed his career to realise the terrible up-
setting of the balance of the great brain which had
brought such an act within the bounds of possibility.

¢Such was the end,’ says a French writer, ¢ of one
of the men who did the most for the greatness of
England.” That foreign verdict is at least incontest-
able. Caesar conquered Gaul for his country ; Hannibal
caused unrest to Rome for nearly a quarter of a century ;
Wellington drove the French from Portugal and Spain.
The achievement of Clive was more splendid than any
one of these. He founded for this little island in the

1 Lord Stanhope relates a story regarding the manner of
Clive’s death, told by the Earl of Shelburne, afterwards the
first Marquis of Lansdowne, to the person from whom he (Lord
Stanhope) received it. ‘It so chanced, that a young lady, an
attached friend of his (Clive’s) family, was then upon a visit at
his house in Berkeley Square, and sat writing a letter, in one of
its apartments. Seeing Lord Clive walk through, she called him
to come and mend her pen, Lord Clive obeyed her summons, and
taking out his penknife fulfilled her request ; after which, passing
on to another chamber, he turned the same knife against himself.’
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Atlantic a magnificent empire ; an empire famous in
antiquity, renowned since the time of Alexander,
whose greatest sovereign had been the contemporary
of Queen Elizabeth, more enlightened than any of her
predecessors, more tolerant, a more far-sighted states-
man even than she. He was, according to Lord
Stanhope, emphatically ‘a great man.’ But he was
more than a great man. Like Caius Julius, he united
two personalities; he was a great statesman and a
great soldier. He was a man of thought as well as
a man of action. No administration surpasses, in the
strength of will of the administrator, in excellence of
design, in thoroughness of purpose, and, as far as his
masters would permit, in thoroughness of action, his
second administration of Bengal. No general who
ever fought displayed greater calmness in danger, more
coolness of brain, than did Clive at Kaveripik, at
Samidveram, at Calcutta, when, on the fog rising, he
found himselfenveloped by the Stibahdar’s army, 40,000
strong. Nothing daunted him; nothing clouded his
judgement ; his decision, the decision of the moment,
was always right. In a word, he was a born master
of men.

But, says the moralist, he committed faults, and at
once the false treaty made with Aminchand is thrown
into the face of the historian. Yes, he did do it ; and
not only that, he stated in his evidence before the
House of Commons that if he were again under the
same circumstances he would do it again. None of
his detractors had had the opportunity of judging of

02
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the terrible issues which the threatened treachery of
Aminchand had opened to his vision. Upon the
decision of Clive rested the lives of thousands. To
save those lives there appeared to him but one sure
method available, and that was to deceive the deceiver.
I think his decision was a wrong one, but it should
always be remembered that, as Clive stated before the
Committee, he had no interested motive in doing what
he did do; he did it with the design of disappointing
a rapacious man and of preventing the consequences
of his treachery. He was in a position of terrible
responsibility, and he acted to save others. Let the
stern moralist stand in the same position as that in
which Clive stood, and it is just possible he might
think as Clive thought. At all events, this one fault,
for fault it was, cannot or ought not to be set up as
a counterweight against services which have given this
island the highest position amongst all the nations of
the earth. The House of Commons, after a long debate,
condoned it. Might not Posterity, the Posterity which
has profited by that very fault, be content to follow the
lead of the House of Commons? With all his faults,
Clive was ‘one of the men who did the most for the
greatness of England.” That fact is before us every day.
His one fault hastened his death, from the handle it
gave to the envious and the revengeful, and took from
him the chance of gaining fresh laurels in America.
May not the ever-living fact of his services induce us
to overlook, to blot out from the memory, that one
mistake, which he so bitterly expiated in his lifetime ?
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tioned, 183.



214 .

ArmAcoN, English Settlement on
the Coromandel Coast, 18.

ARMSTRONG, Captain, at Council
of War, 93 : arrested by Clive,
114: acquitted by court-martial,
114.

ARMY ADMINISTRATION, 179-QO.

ARn1, battle of, 56-58 : French
defeated at, 58: its ruler de-
clared for Muhammad Ali,
58.

Asar JAH, title granted to the
family of Chin Kilich Khdn,
17.

Asiatic Annual Register, quoted,

39 1.

AURANGZEB, died in 1707, 16:
placed the Stbahs he had con-
quered under a Stbahddr, or
chief, 17: mentioned, 85, 172.

Awrora, frigate, in which Super-
visors sailed, lost, 199.

Bas-BaJ, fort near Maidpur, taken
by Clive, 82.
Bakar ALf, Governor of Vellore,
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Baknasuf, Sirdj-ud-dauld’s Com-
mander-in-chief, 86.

BAKSAR, battle of, 157, 181.

BANKfPUR, military cantonment
of Patnd, 185: Sir R. Barker
commandant at, 185: ring-
leaders arrested at, 186.

BapT4, Clive encamped at, 111,

BArDWAN, revenue of, granted
money to Clive, 117.

BArH, Clive and Mir Jafar
marched to, 118.

BARKER, Sir R., commandant at
Bénkipur, 185: arrested ring-
leaders at Bankipur, 186.

Barnerr, Commodore, in com-
mand of squadron, 33: died,
34-

Bara, Clive went to take the
waters at, 200.

Barra, 179 : Mir Jafar's double
batta, 179 : discontinued, 180,
181 : double batta at Allahdbdd,
181 : single batta, 182.

INDEX

BAYLEY, Mr., Robert Clive's uncle
at Manchester, 9.

BEECHER, Mr., Member of Select
Committee, 191.

BENARES, occupied by the English,
157 : interview between Clive,
General Carnac, and Nawéb-
Wazir of Oudh at, 173 : Zamfn-
dér of, 175.

BENGAL, Clive in, 85: state of
affairs in, 132 : Clive’s achieve-
ments in, 133-6: position of
Bengal, 1 73

BrAcirArHi, 92.

BipErra, Dutch defeated by
Forde and Knox at, 131.

BiHAR, Alf Vard{ Khidn, Governor
of, 85: Governor of, rebelled
against Mir Jafar, 115: Clive
and Mfir Jafar at, 117: seat of
saltpetre manufacture, 117:
Mir Jafar yields it to East
India Company, 118.

Bisapur, king of, sold Puducheri
to the French in 1672, named
afterwards Pondicherry, 20:
Muzaffar Jang, Governor of,

44-

Bisvacar, Rdjd of, granted a
small portion of land, called
Chennapatanam, to the English,
18, 19.

Brack Hork of Calcutta, 78, 79,
85, 132.

BLooHMANN’S Ain-i-Akbari, quo-
ted, 118 n.

BoscaweN, Admiral, in command
of fleet, 39 : laid siege to Pondi-
cherry, 39 : sailed for England,
40.

BourDoNNATS, M. de la, sent in
command of a squadron, 33:
landed at Madras, 35, 194 :
captured Madras, 35: treaty,

35

Britannia, ship on board which
Clive returned to England, 191.

Broomr’s History of the Bengal
Army, 9o n., 95n., 96 n.,
109 7.

BurGOYNE, General, 201 and .,
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led attacks
203-0.

BursLEM'S, Mr., school at Market
Drayton, to which Clive went
when he was eleven, 10.

Bussy-CASTELNAU, captured Gingi
for the French, 47: avenged
the death of Muzaffar Jang,
and caused Saldbat Jang to be
proclaimed successor, 48: re-
tained at Dupleix’s court, 6o :
overtures with Sirdj-ud-dauld
at Haidardbdd, 87.

BurE, Lord, Secretary of State,
143 : Prime Minister, 143:
Clive's suggestions to, 144 : in-
dignant at Clive’s opposition,
145.

Carourra, Black Hole of, 78-9:
Manikchand, Governor of, 81:
surrendered to Clive, 82 : Wat-
son took possession and handed
keys to Drake, 82: Select Com-
mittee of, 87 : Council of, 163,
179, 180,

CALLIAUD, Major, Commander of
the Forces, 137 : fought against
the King of Delhi and defended
Patnd, 151 : summoned to at-
tend Council, 151.

CAMBRIDGE’S War inIndia, quoted,

on Clive, 201,

43 n. 4
CampBELL, Captain, at Council of

Wﬂ.l‘, 93- s
CAREY, Mrs., among the prisoners

in the Black Hole of Calcutta,

79-

CARNAC, General, 157 : placed by
Clive at head of army, 159,
166: met Clive at Benares,
173 : fought against Mir Késim,
180.

CARrsTATRS, Capt.-Lieut., at Council
of War, 93.

CARTER, Mr., Member of Select
Committee, 191.

CARTIER, Governor after Verelst,
201 and 7.

Cramrion, Colonel, 187.

CHANAR, occupied by the English,
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157: ceded to the English,

1744

CuANDA SAHIB appointed Diwdn
by Saddat-ulld-Khdn, 23 : sent
with Safdar Alf to capture
Trichinopoli, 24 : remained as
Governor, 24: went to Arcot
to do homage to Safdar Alf, 25:
suspecting  danger, left his
family at Pondicherry, 26 :
kept up the siege of Trichinopoli
for three months, 26: sur-
rendered, 26 : taken off in cus-
tody, 26: at Sdtdra, 31:
released, 44 : Nawib of Arcot,
45: marched to Trichinopoli,
46 : retreated to Pondicherry,
47 besieged Trichinopoli, 51 :
sent troops to join his son, Rdjd
S4hib, at North Arcot, 54: de-
feated, 56-8 : his army still in
position before Trichinopoli, but
much weakened, 59 : murdered,
73

CHANDRANAGAR, taken by Clive,
84 : Clive's troops stationed at,
90 : Dutch defeated at, 131.

CHAPR4, in Bihdr, meeting at,

175.

CHARLES VI, died in 1740, 31.

CHENNAPATANAM, granted to the
English by the Rdj4 of Bisnagar,
18-19: renamed Madras, 19:
Fort St. George built, 19:
Madras raised to a Presidency,
19: population at the end of
17th century, 19: constitution
of the town in 1744, 19.

CHIN Kinice KHAN, took steps to
make the Sibahddrship heredi-
tary in his family, 17, 23: ob-
tained titles of Nizdm-ul-Milk
and Asaf Jdh, 17: ruler of
Decean, 18.

CrviL SERVICE, reformed by Clive,
160, 169~70.

CLAREMONT, bought by
202.

CrARKE, Captain, in command at
Devikota, 50: at Trichinopoli,
5L,

Clive,
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OrLivE, Robert, arrived at Madras
as a writer in the service of the
East India Company in 1744,
9, 10, 11, 30: his early years
not promising, ¢: born at
Syche, 9: sent to his uncle,
Mr. Bayley, at Manchester
when three years old, 9: sent
to school at Lostocke, 10: re-
moved to Market Drayton, 10:
brief experience of public school-
life at Merchant Taylors’, 10:
private school in Hertfordshire
till appointed writer, 10: his
character at his several schools,
10: belonged to a ¢fighting
caste,” 10 : learned to lead, 10:
life of an attorney distasteful
to him, 10: duties and life of
a writer not congenial to Clive,
12-13: left England in 1743,
12: delayed at Rio for nine
months, 12 : insulted a superior
functionary, 13: assaulted by
the Rev. Mr. Fordyce, 14: re-
garded as a quiet member of
society by his superiors, 15:
Mr. Morse, Governor at Madras,
befriended him, 15: state of
India when Clive arrived de-
scribed, 16-30 : Clive’s fortunes
affected by the hostilities be-
tween the Krench and the
English, 32-41 : conspicuous in
the first siege of Pondicherry,
39: retired to Fort St. David,
40: joined the expedition to
Devikota as a volunteer, 42 :
under Major Lawrence stormed
Devikota, which was ceded to
the East India Company, 43 :
situation when Clive returned
from Devikota described, 45—
48: appointed Commissary of the
Forces, 48 : ill and ordered for
a cruise, 48 : on his return he
equipped a force for Trichino-
poli, 48 : accompanied a larger
force to Volkonda, 49: objecting
to Captain Gingen’s commands
and mismanagement he re-

turned to Fort St. David, 49:
volunteered to go with Mr.
Pigot to accompany a force
with provisions to Trichinopoli,
49 : went as far as Verdachelam,
49 : returned to Fort St. David,
49 : determined to become a
soldier, 50 : Governor of Madras
gave him the commission of
captain, 50: directed him to
go to Devikota with troops and
join Capt. Clarke, 50: and
report from Trichinopoli to Mr.
Saunders, 50 : Clive impressed
by the depressed condition of
the native prince and English
soldiers, 51 ; resolved to remedy
conditions, 51, 52 : returned to
Fort St. David to consult Mr.
Saunders, 52: despatched to
Madras with 200 soldiers, 52 :
300 sipdhfs, 53: reached Kan-
chipuram, 53: went on to
Arcot, 53 : defeated the natives
at Tfmeri, 53: sent for guns from
Madras, 53: guns intercepted
at Kanchipuram, 53 : marched
to save the guns, and in his
absence the enemy attacked
Arcot, 54 : brought the guns
into the fort and the enemy
dispersed, 54 : siege of Arcot,
55 : took Timerf, 56 : marched
to Arni to attack Rdjd Sdhib,
56: dispersed the enemy, 58:
marched to Kanchfpuram and
took possession, 58: returned
to Madras and then to Fort St.
David, 59 : Dupleix attempting
to reconquer Arcot, Clive was
sent with troops to meet him, 63 :
reached Vendalir and marched
on to Kanchfpuram, 64 : after
a short halt, proceeded to Kd-
veripdk, where the French were
concealed, 64, 65: battle, 66 :
Clive won, 66 : baffled Dupleix,
67 : returned to Fort St. David,
67: prepared to go to Tri-
chinopoli, 67: despatched by
Lawrence to occupy Samif-
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veram, 68: his engagements
with d’Auteuil, 68, 69: Clive
surprised at Samidveram, 70

defeated the enemy, 72, 73:
captured Paichanda, 73: forced
d’Auteuil to surrender at Vol-
konda, 73: Clive returned to
Fort St. David, 73: proceeded
to Madras for rest, 73: married
Miss Maskeleyne, 74: left
Madras on sick-leave, 74:
Clive in England, 75: Court of
Directors gave him a great
banquet, 75 : voted him a dia-
mond-hilted sword, 75: stood
for St. Michael, returned as
supporter of Mr. Fox, 76: un-
seated, 76 : returned to India,
76 : appointed Lieut.-Colonel,
and named Governor and Com-
mander of Fort St. David, with
succession to the Governorship
of Madras, 76: took troops to
India with instructions to con-
vey them to Bengal, 76: Clive
and his troops attacked and
destroyed Gherid, 78: went
along the Coromandel Coast back
to Fort St. David, ¥8: Clive
sent to the Huglf, 8o: landed
near Maidpur, marched to Baj-
baj, 81: surprised in the night
by Manikchand, Governor of
Calcutta, 82: Calcutta sur-
rendered to Clive, 82 : Admiral
Watson took possession, 82:
Clive stormed Hugli, 83 : treaty
with the Nawdb, 84 : conquered
Chandranagar, 84 : Clive’s deal-
ings with Sirdj-ud-dauld,85-88:
preparations for war, 9o: the
battle of Plassey, QI1-106:
English loss small, 105 : Clive’s
great victory, 105, 100: Clive’s
dealings with Mir Jafar, 109-
11, 115-23: with Aminchand,
113 : spoils of Plassey disputed,
113-7: created Mansabdar, 118:
his dealings with the Princes
of Southern India, 123: the
Dutch invasion, 124-30: defeat

of the Duteh, 130-2: Clive’s
achievements in Bengal, 133-7 :
leaves Bengal 1760, 137:
Clive’s second visit to England,
138-48: Clive’s letter to Mr.
Pitt, 139-41: Clive’s fame as a
soldier, 141 : did not receive
a warm welcome, 142: ill
health, 142: made an Irish
peer, 143: not a supporter of
the Bute Administration, 143 :
Mr. Lawrence Sulivan, enemy
of Clive, 144: Sulivan’s ob-
jection to the donation of the
jdgir to Clive, 145: Clive voted
against the Peace of Paris, 145 :
Sulivan tried to exclude Clive
from a seat in the India House,
145 Clive defeated, 146: dis-
turbance in Calcutta caused a
panic in the India House, 146 :
Clive urged to accept the office
of Governor-Geeneral, 146 : fresh
election by the Court of Pro-
prietors, and Clive returned,
147 : Clive's proposal regarding
the jégir, 147: Clive started
for India, 148 : Clive appointed
Vansittart to succeed him as
President of the Council in
Bengal, 149 : disturbances arose
about the successor to Miran,
who had died suddenly, 150-1:
war broke out, 156: Clive re-
turned to Calcutta, 157 : re-
modelled the army and the
Civil Service, 159-60: presents
from the Natives to Civil Ser-
vants prohibited, 161: Clive's
dealings with the corrupt fac-
tion, 162—3: his attempts to
improve the Company’s trade,
163—5: re-constitution of the
Calcutta Council, 165-6: the
Select Committee, 166 : his
attempts to reform civil ad-
ministration, 166-7 :  Clive
hated, 167: his good influence
over the younger members of
the service, 169: Clive’s tour
northward, 171 : Clive’s instruc-
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tions to the young Stbahddr at
Murshidgbdd, 171, 172 : he
proceeded to Benares, 173:
after an interview with Nawdb-
Wazir, they proceeded to Alla-
hgbgd to confer with Shdh
Alfm, 174: Clive’s demands,
174: Nawdb-Wazfr granted
all except the ome regarding
factories, 174-5: the meeting
at Chaprd, 175 : league formed
against Mardthd aggression,
175: question of the English
frontier discussed, 175-6: Clive's
views regarding the Stbah, the
English to keep in the back-
ground, the power to be in the
hands of the Stbahddr, 176-7 :
¢Lord Clive’s Fund,’ 178:
Clive’s army administration,
179-89 : ‘double batta,” 179,
181-2: conspiracy in the army,
184-9: Clive’s mode of sup-
pressing it, 189 : Clive resigned
in 1766, and returned to Eng-
land in 1767, 191 : his persecu-
tions, 192-6, 201-9: visit to
Paris, 196 : on return to Eng-
land found he was elected
Member of Parliament, 197:
affairs in India unsatisfactory,
198-201 : attacks on Clive,
201-9 : his acquittal, 209 : went
to Bath to try the waters, 209 :
went abroad, 210 : returned to
England, 210: his death, 210:
comments on the life of Clive,
211, 212,

CrLive's Evidence before the Com-
mittee of the House of Com-
mons, quoted, 97 n., 134 n.

CLvE's Report to the Court of
Directors, quoted, 97 n.

CocHIN, independent territory, 17.

ComMIssARY oF Forces, Clive ap-
pointed, 48.

Coore, Major Eyre, nominated
Governor of Caleutta by Ad-
miral Watson,82: Clive objected
to the nomination, 82 : sent by
Clive to occupy Katwd, 91: at

INDEX

Council of War, 93 : sent with
a detachment, after Plassey,
105.

Coore’s Narrative, quoted, 97 .,
103 7.

CopE, Captain, mentioned in the
account of the assault against
Clive by Mr. Fordyce, 14:
commander of Force sent to
help ex-R4jd of Tanjore, 42:
sent to Trichinopoli, 48.

CoRrNEILLE, Captain, at Council of
War, 93.

CorN1sH, Admiral, on the Arakan
coast, 127. .

COROMANDEL €0AST, English Set-
tlement at Armagon on the,
18.

Councin oF WAR, 92-3: question
submitted to, 93.

Court oF Direorors féted Clive
on his return to England, 75-6 :
appointed Clive Lieut.-Colonel,
and named him Governor and
Commander of Fort St. David,
with succession to Governorship
of Madras, 76 : Clive's letter to,
98, 105-6: appointed ten men
to manage affairs in Bengal,
119 : constitution of, 138 : dis-
puted Clive’s right to the jdgir,
142: granted to Civil Servants
right to private trade, 163:
summary of the state of Bengal
by, 166-7 : battn, 179-81: cur-
tailed their allowances, 180,
181 : received Clive well in
England, 196 : sent out super-
visors, 199, 200.

CuppALORE, Mr. Fordyce assaulted
Clive at, 14.

CUDMORE, Captain, at Council of
War, 93.

DA4suor, Commodore Jones re-
called from, 78.

DAMALCHERRI, pass in the Karnd-
tik, 25, 45.

DAUDPUR, 94: meeting between
Mir Jafar and Clive at, Io05:
entire force united at, 105.
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D’AUTEUIL, sent by Dupleix to
take Law’s place, 68: ap-
proached Utétur, 68 : surprised
Clive, 70: defeated by Clive,
73 : retreated to Volkonda, 73:
surrendered to Clive, 73.

DECOAN, territories belonging to,
17 : territories independent of,

17.

Decisive Battles of India, by
Colonel Malleson, 65 n., 1307,
155 .

DeLHI, sack of, 16, 30 : Sirdj-ud-
dauld’s overtures to Court of,
88 : Muhammad Shdh, Emperor
of, 30: King of, threatened re-
bellion against Mir Jafar, 121:
invasion of, 151: defeated by
Calliaud and Knox, 151 : Mir
Kdsim died at, 158.

DEevikoTA, English tried to possess
the Fort of, 42: Clive sent to
join Major Lawrence at, 50.

DHAKA in rebellion against Mir
Jafar, 115.

DiamoNDp HARBOUR, Dutch vessels
at, 126.

DisraELI, Isaac son of, mentioned,
10: life of an attorney as dis-
tasteful to him as to Robert
Clive, 10.

Dost ALf, appointed to succeed
Sagdat-ull§ Khén as Nawdb of
the Karndtik, 23: sent his son
to capture Trichinopoli, where
he was slain, 25 : his son pro-
claimed Nawdb, 25.

DRAKE, Mr.,Governor at Caleutta,
78 : fled to the Huglf, 78.

Dravron, Market, see Market

Drayton.
DuriB RAm, see R4j4 Duldb Rém.
Dumas, M. Benoit, Governor-

General of French possessions
in India, 21: at Pondicherry,

25.

DUPSLEIX, M., succeeded Dumas
as Governor-Geeneral of French
possessions, 21, 32, 60, 194 : Te-
ceived instructions from the
Directors on account of the im-
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pending war with England, 32 :
ordered to join M. de la Bour-
donnais, 33 : urged to arrange
with the Government of Madras
that the two settlements should
preserve neutrality, but not
granted, 33: he appealed to
Anwar-ud-din, 33: hostility
stopped in the Karndtik, 34:
took Madras, 36 : sole director
of French interests, 36 : sent
a small force under Paradis to
relieve Madras, 37: slaughter
at St. Thomé, 37 ¢ tried to expel
the English from all their settle-
ments, 38: siege of Pondicherry,
39: directed the defence, 39 :
attempted to take Trichinopoli,
60: sent Law in command of
troops, 60: unsuccessful, 61 :
urged Rédjd Sdhib to proceed to
reconquer Arcot, and, if possible,
attack Madras, 62: attacked
Punamally, 62: marched to
Kanchfpuram and Vendaldr,
62 : Rdjd Shib’s army met by
Clive at Kdveripdk, 64: Clive
surrounded by the French, 65 :
defeated by Clive, 66: sent
d’Auteuil to replace Law, 68.

Dures, monopoly of trade with
the Moluccas, 124: various
conquests in the East, 124:
Dutch-Indian Company, 124 :
settlement at Chinsurah, 124:
negotiations with Mir Jafar,
125: Dutch fleet approaching
Higlf, 126: Clive demanded
explanation from them, 126 :
invasion of the, 126-30: com-
plete defeat of, 131.

Early Records of British India,
by Talboys Wheeler, quoted,
177 and n.

EasT TInpia Company, Clive,
writer in the service of, 9, 10,
11 : Bihdr saltpetre manufacture
farmed by, 118: Directorsof, 164:
Diwdn of the three Provinces,
172,
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EAToN, Dr., private school at
Lostocke, to which Clive was
sent till he was eleven, 10.

Eruror’s History of India, quoted,
30 M., 44 M., 100 N, 176 n.

ELuis, civil officer, prepared to
seize Patnd, 155: defeated,
156.

Evidence before the Committee
of the House of Commons, by
Clive, quoted, 96 »., 97 n., 134 n.

Eyre CoorE, Major, see CoOTE.

FacToRIES, not to be established
by the East India Company in
Oudh, 174: Nawdb-Wazfr’s
opinion of, 174-5.

FAxzABAD, occupied by the Eng-
lish, 157.

Faura, Major Kilpatrick with
troops at, 80o: Admiral Wat-
son’s squadron at, 8o: Dutch
attack off, 129.

FAMINE in the three Provinces,
199-201.

Fiscaer, Captain, at Council of
War, 93.

FrercHEr, Sir Robert, Com-
mandant at Mungfr, 185, 187 ¢
tried by court-martial and
cashiered, 189: his pamphlet,

197.

FORQD7E, Colonel, sent by Clive to
Vizagapatam, 122 : united with
Réjd’s troops, 122 : expelled
Freneh from northern Sirkdrs,
122 : took their fortress, 122:
secured the influence for the
English, 122: fought against
the Dutch, 128: occupied Birna-
gar, 129 : marched to Shirirdm-
pur, 129: Knox joined him,
130: defeated Dutch, 131:
appointed Supervisor, 199.

Forpyce, Rev. Mr., his assault
against Clive, as reported by
the Board at Fort St. David,
14 : suspended, 14.

Worrest’s Records of the Madras
Presidency (1890), 14, 40 n.,
41 2., 50 0., 52 7.
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Forr Sr. DaviD, Board at, 14:
English officials from Madras
escaped to, 38: Clive helped to
defend, 38: French tried to

take, 39: Clive appointed
Governor of, 76.

Forr St. GEORGE, built at
Madras, 19.

Forr WirLiay, built by Job
Charnock in the reign of King
William ITI, r1g.

Fo:g Mr., Clive a supporter of,

76.
Frais, M. St., see St. FRATS.
FreEnon Corony, at Pondicherry,

20: on the Malabar coast and

at Chandranagar, in Bengal,

aT:
FuLLer, Mr., seconded amend-
ment to the attack against Clive,

208.

Gauvrp, Captain, at Council of
War, 92.

GrorGE II, King, his opinion of
Clive, 141: his death, 143.

GHERIA, fort at, 77 : headquarters
of Angria, pirate chief, ¥7:
taken by Watson and Clive,
78: Ali Vardf Khdn's battle at,
85.

GuunAM HusEN, see
SAHTB.

GINGENS, Captain, sent to Vol-
konda, 48: mismanaged affairs,
49 in command at Trichinopoli,

CHANDA

51.

GineI1, fortress of, 47: captured
by the French, 47.

GoLKONDA, Nizdm-ul-Milk re-
tired to, after taking Trichino-
poli, 28.

GrAFroN, Duke of, at head of
Ministry, 197 : resigned, 197.
GRraNT, Major, at Council of War,

92.

Grant, Captain Alexander, at
Council of War, 93.

GRENVILLE, George, 198 : Clive a
supporter of, 198: his death,
198.
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GRIFFIN, Admiral, commanding
squadron, 39.

GODALUR, important town near
Pondicherry, 38.

GUNDLAKAMMA, river in Madras,

17.

Hamar ALi, invaded Madras,
198, 201.

HAIDARABAD, overtures between
Sirdj-ud-dauld and Bussy at,
87 :

Hasrings, Warren, mentioned,
194: first Governor-General of
India, 201.

HesER, Bishop, quoted, 37 .

HicH-rOAD from Higli to Patnd
made by Mughal Government,

90.

History of ZEngland, by Lord
Stanhope, 202 n.

History of Indostan, by Orme,
quoted, 20 7.

History of India, by Orme,
quoted, 95 n., 109 n.
History of India, by Elliot,

quoted, 30 n., 44 »., 100 7.,
176 n.

History of the Bengal Army,
by Broome, quoted, 9o n., 95 .,
109 7.

History of the French 1in
India, by Colonel Malleson,
36 n.

HoLLAND, 124.

Horwgry, Mr., in charge during
Clive’s absence, 136-7.

Hore HaLy, the residence of Mr.
Bayley, where Clive was brought
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HUGL, river, fugitives in ships on
the, 78 : Major Kilpatrick sent
with troops to, 79 : Watson and
Clive sent to, 8o.

HeLf, town, stormed by Clive,
83 : revenue of, granted money
to Clive, 117.

Indostan, History of, see History
of Indostan.
INDIA passed to the Crown, 178,
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Inpia Housg, Sulivan excluded
Clive from seat in, 145: pro-
prietors forced the Governor-
Generalship of Bengal on Clive,
146 : sent a mew covenant to
Calcutta, 161: refused to in-
crease salaries, 165.

Ives's Voyage and Historical
Narrative, quoted, 94 n., 97 #.

JAGir, conferred on Clive, 123
and #.: disputed by Court of
Directors, 142, 145-7.

JALANGH, river, 9I.

JENNINGS, Captain, at Council of
War, 93. f

JOHNSTONE, Mr. Gideon, received
money for secret services, 161.

Jongs, Commodore, sent to attack
Angria, 77 : recalled from Ddb-
hol, 78.

KALNA, Mr. Watts at, 92.

KAvrp1, English victory at, 157.

KancHiPURAM, Clive on his way
to Arcot halted at, 53: guns
intercepted at, 53 : siege of, 58 :
taken by Clive, 38.

KARNATIK, territory of the Dec-
can, 17 : not immediately under
the Stubahddr, 17: territory
entrusted to a Nawdb, 17 : its
boundaries, 17, 18: invasions
and war in the, 21-31 : Khojd
Abdullah, Nawdb of the, 28.

KARRA, English victory at, 157:
held by the English, 174.

KASIMBAZAR, Mr. Watts, English
agent at, 86: Sirdj-ud-dauld
gent an army to Plassey, in the
island of, 88 and n.: troops at,
116, 119.

KAsTPUR, seat of gun-factory, 83 :
Clive at, 83.

K{rw4, Major Eyre Coote sent
to occupy, 91 : battle of, 156.
KAVERIPAK, battle of, 64-6, 183,
211 : Clive defeats the French
xu61d allies, 66 : occupied by Clive,

66.
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KnosA ABpunLAH, proclaimed
Nawdb of the Karndtik, 28:
poisoned, 28.

KirpaTRICK, Major, sent from
Madras to the Hugli, 79:
reached Falta, 80: at Council
of War, 92: in command of
troops at Plassey, 102 : marched
against St. Frais, 102: joined
by Clive, 102.

KISHANGARH, revenue of, granted
money to Clive, 117.

Knox, Captain, fought against
the Dutch, 128: defeated the
Dutch, 131 : fought against the
King of Delhi and defended
Patnd, 151.

Kornipf, French attempted to
intercept Lawrence at, 67.

KoLrun, River, 68, 69.

Larcupr, mud fort of, taken by
Clive, 68.

Lawny, Count, sent to Pondi-
cherry, 120: marched to Tan-
jore, 120: recalled Bussy, 120:
successes achieved by, 120, 194 :
left northern Sirkdrs unpro-
tected, 121.

Lascars, with Clive at Plassey,
99, 95.

Law, of Lauriston, sent by Du-
pleix to Trichinopoli, 60: unsuc-
cessful, 61 : fought gallantly at
Pondicherry, 61: replaced by
d’Auteunil, 68: defeated by
Clive at Paichanda, 69-73:
surrendered, 73 : sent by Clive
near Chandranagar with troops,
84.

LawreNce, Major Stringer, in
command at Fort St. David,
40 n.: took a force to Devi-
kota, with Clive as lieutenant,
43: stormed Devikota, 43:
treaty, 43: returned to Kort
St. David, 44 : joined Clive, 67 ;
started with Clive for Trichino-
poli, 67: entered Trichinopoli,
68 : assisted by Mordri Rdo and
the Dalwai of Mysore, 68 sent

INDEX

Clive to occupy Samidveram,
6

LAWizENOE, Lord, quoted, 16 n.
Le BeauMe, Captain, at Council

of War, 93.
Letters, by Scrafton, quoted,
160 n.
Life of Clive, by Malcolm,
103 n.

¢ Lorp Crive's Funp,’ 178,

LosTocKE, private school where
Clive was educated till he was
eleven, 10,

Lucas, Captain, mentioned in the
account of the assault against
Clive by Mr. Fordyce, 14.

LuockNow, occupied by the English,
157.

LUSH7INGT0N, affixed Admiral
Watson’s name to false docu-
ment regarding Aminchand,

194.

MA’Arcz KHAN, son of Anwar-
ud-din, sent to demand Madras,
37 : encountered Dupleix at
Maliapur, St. Thomé, 37: de-
feated, 37: taken prisoner,

45-

MapHUPUR, Clive despatched
Watts and Walsh to, 111:
Clive marched to, 111.

MaDRAS, Robert Clive arrives as
a writer in the service of the
East India Service in 1744 at,
9, 30 : Mr. Morse Governor at,
15, 33: originally Chennapata-
nam, 19 : granted to the English
and re-named Madras, 19 : Fort
St. George built, 19: raised to
Presidency in 1653, 19: popu-
lation at end of 17th century,
19: constitution of the town,
19 : English trading colony, 20 :
French colony, 20: taken by the
French, 35 : restored, 41.

Madras Presidency, Records of),
by Mr. Forrest, mentioned, 14,
4O My 41 M., O M.y 52N

Ma14Arur, Watson and Clive at,
81.
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MarcoLy, Sir John, mentioned,
143: quoted, 169: Life of
Clive, 103 1., 143 1., 198 n.

MaALpA, Aminchand’s pilgrimage
to, 113.

M ALIAPUR, battle between French
and English at, 37.

MarresoN's, Colonel, History of
the French in India, 306 n.:
Decisive Battles of India, 65 n.,
130 N, 155 7.

MANCHESTER, Clive sent to his
uncle to be brought up and
educated at, 9.

MANIKCHAND, Governor of Cal-
cutta, 81: marched to Baj-baj,
81 : retired, 82.

MANSURPET, pagoda of, taken by
Clive, 68.

M ARATHAS, took Trichinopoli, 25 :
invasion of, 25, 26: yielded
Trichinopoli to Nizém-ul-Milk,
28 : overtures with Sirdj-ud-
dauld, 87: Mardthd ditch,108:
defeated at battle of Pdnipat,
173 : advance of, 183.

MARKAR, the Armenian, com-
manded a special brigade, 154 :
sent to Patnd, 155 : drove the
English out, 155 : took English
prisoners, 156.

MARKET DRAYTON, Clive sent to
Mr. Burslem’s school at, 10,
MartiN, Francis, leader of the

French traders on the Coro-
mandel coast, 20, 21: died
1706, 20.

M ASKELEYNE, Miss, married Clive,

74-

Memoir of Captain Dalton,
quoted, 49 7., 51 7.

MercHANT TAYLORS’, Clive spent
a short time at, 10.

MigraN, son of Mir Jafar, 119:
arrived with an army at Mur-
shiddbdd, 132 : struck dead by
lightning, 150.

Mir AsAD, appointed Diwdn in
place of Chdnda Séhib, 24:
taken prisoner by the Marithds,

25.
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Mfr JAFAR, in command of Sirdj-
ud-dauld’s forces, 79: joined
Clive, 86: quarrelled with Sirdj-
ud-dauld, 88: reconciliation,
88: swore fealty and to fight
against Clive, 88, g1 : his inter-
view with Mr. Watts, 92:
renounced Watts as a spy, 92 :
threatened to destroy the Eng-
lish, g2: favourable despatch
from, 94 : position of his troops
at Plassey, 97 : his interview
with Sirdj-ud-dauld, 100 : lin-
gering of his troops, 103: re-
quested an interview with Clive,
105: escorted to the camp
to be proclaimed Sibahddr,
107 : his conditions and agree-
ments with Clive, 107-8 : noble
family in Bihdr, 109: officer of
Al{ Vardi Khdn, 109: married
Alf Vardi Khdn’s sister, 109 :
Bakshf of the army, 109 : took
Calcutta, 109 : his meeting with
Clive, 110 : went to Murshidd-
bdd, 111 : received Clive, 111 :
proclaimed Stbahddr, 112 : ap-
plied to Clive for assistance,
115,121: hisarmy at R4jmahdl,
116 : attempt to coerce Bihdr,
116-8 : met Clive, 116: at
Patng, 117 : marched with Clive
to Bédrh, 118: returned to
Murshiddbdd, 118: treasury
exhausted, 121: conferred the
jdgfr of the Zaminddr{ on Clive,
123 : forced to resign, 153 : to
reside under English protection,
153 displaced by Mir Kdsim,
153 : restored by the English,
158, 159 : his death, 159, 160 :
bequeathed money to Clive,
178 : formation of Lord Clive’s
Fund, 178.

Mir KAsiM, son-in-law of Mir
Jafar, 119, 152 : envoy of Mir
Jafar, 152 : wished to succeed
Miran, 152: his bribery suc-
cessful, 152: Mir Jafar to be
displaced by, 152 : proceeded to
Patnd, 153 : installed as Stibah-
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dér, 153: good ruler, 153:
removed his fortress to Mungfr,
153 : reformed his army, I54 :
abolished transit duties, 155:
prepared for war, 155: his
army under Markar set out for
Patnd, 155 : drove the English
away, I55: sent Samru to
Baksar, 156 : intercepted the
English and beat them com-
pletely, 156: defeated at Kdtwd,
156 : defeated at Gherid, 156 :
on the fall of Patnd, took refuge
at Oudh, 157: defeated at Bak-
sar, 157 : died at Delhi, 158.

Mir MapaN, Sirdj-ud-dauld’s
general, 97: killed at Plassey,
100.

Mir Meepi KHAN, commanding
Mir Jafar’s troops, 155 : went
to Mungir to report to Mir
Jafar, 155.

MoLITORE, Capt.-Lieut., at Council
of War, 93.

Morirt RAio, famous Mardthd
soldier, left to guard Trichino-
poli, 26 : sent to help Clive at
Arcot, 55: marched with Clive
to Arni, 56: defeated the
French, 57, 58 : assisted Law-
rence, 68.

MoRsE, Mr., Governor of Madras,
15, 33 : befriended Clive, 15:
declined proposal from the
French Governor that the two
settlements should preserve
neutrality, 33: demanded in
vain for protection from Anwar-
ud-din, 35.

Mosgs, Mr. Levy, mentioned in
the account of the complaint of
the assault of Mr. Fordyce
against Clive, 14.

MUGHAL DYNASTY receives a blow
from which it never rallied, 16,
85, 173 : high-road from Higl{
to Patnd, go.

MueHAL, Great, called on Clive
to help repress the rebellion of
his son, 123.

MuaaMMAD ALf, forced to flee

INDEX

to Trichinopoli, 45: rival of
Chédnda Sghib in the Decean,
45: at Trichinopoli, 51 : his
treasury exhausted, 51.

MuaAMMAD Riza KHAN, nomi-
nated Deputy-Nawdb, 161, 168.

MusAMMAD SHAH, Emperor of
Delhi, 30: died, 44.

Muir, Captain, at Council of War,

93-

MuneGir, Mir K4sim removed his
capital to, 153: Sir Robert
Fletcher at, 187: mutiny at,
187-8.

MunRro, Sir Hector, his victory at
Baksar, 157 : occupied Benares,
Chandr and Allahdbdd, 157:
overran OQudh, 157: occupied
Lucknow and Faizdbdd, 157:
defeated enemy at Karra and
Kélpi, 157: Nawdb-Wazir of
Oudh surrendered himself to,

157.

MurADBAGH, palace of, Clive at,
III.

MURSHIDABAD, capital of Sirdj-
ud-dauld, 78, 85: bankers and
merchants of, join Clive, 86:
Mir Jafar’s interview with Mr.
Watts at, 92: Clive entered,
111: treasury of, granted
money to Clive, 117 : Clive at,

173,

MurrizA Anf, Governor of Vel-
lore, 277 : poisoned his brother-
in-law, 27 : proclaimed himself
Nawdb, 27: his' flight, 27:
present at the royal wedding,
29 : sudden disappearance, 30 :
suspected murderer of the young
Prince, 30.

MUZAFFAR JANG, claimed succes-
sion to the Deccan, 44.: Governor
of Bfjapur, 44 : enlisted service
of Mardthds, 44: proclaimed
himself Stibahddr of the Deccan,
45: marched to Trichinopoli,
46: at Tanjore, 46,47 : retreated
on Pondicherry, 47: taken
prisoner, 47: released, 47:
acknowledged Stbahddr, 47:
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slain on his way to Aurangdbdd,

v 47

MYSORE, an independent territory,
17: sent an army to assist
Muhammad Alf, 54: assisted
Lawrence at Trichinopoli, 68.

Napir SHAH, invasion of, 16, 17,
25, 30, 85. ;
NEGAPATAM, squadron cruised off,

34

N APIER’S, Sir W., Peninsular War,
quoted, 60 .

Narrative, Sir Hyre Coote’s,
quoted, 97 n., 103 n.

Nasfr Jane, son of Nizém-ul-
Milk, succeeded in Southern
India, 30, 44: slain by his own
levies, 47.

NEWCASTLE, Duke of, 143.

NEwcasTLE, Dowager Duchess
of, sold Claremont to Clive,
202.

N1zAM-uL- MOLK, title granted to
the family of Chin Kflich Khdn,
17: Nawdb of the Karndtik,
18 : Stbahddr of the Deccan,
23: objected to the appoint-
ments in the Karndtik made by
Saddat-ulld-Khdn, 23: gave the
Mardthds permission to attack
Trichinopoli, 25: entered Ar-
cot with a large army, 28:
marched on to Trichinopoli, 28 :
compelled the Mardthds to
yield, 28 : proclaimed his own
commander Khoji Abdullah to
be Nawdb of the Karndtik, 28
Nawdb poisoned, 28: he ap-
pointed Anwar-ud-din, provi-
sionally, and to act as guardian
to Saiyud Muhammad, 28: died,

N(?I?TH, Lord, Chancellor of the
Exchequer, 197 : First Lord of
the Treasury, 198: his Bill,
200-1.

¢ NorRTHERN CIRCARS,” territory of
the Deccan, 17.

NusM-UD-DAULA, Nawdb-Ndzim,
173,

P
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OmAR BEG, sent to escort Mir
Jafar to Clive’s camp, 107.

OrME, Mr., quoted, 20 n., 30,
81 1., 95 ., 96 7., 103 N, 109 1.,
110 7.

OuDH, overtures of Sirdj-ud-dauld
to the Nawdb-Wazir of, 88:
Nawdb-Wazir of, threatened
rebellion against Mfr Jafar,
121 : Nawdb-Wazir of, protects
and aids Mir Kdsim, 157:
throws himself on the mercy of
the English, 157, 159 : Clive’s
dealings with Nawdb-Wazir of,
171, 173-8.

PAICHANDA, taken by Clive, 73.

PALMER, Captain, at Council of
War, 93.

PaLmyras, Cape, 8o.

Pavrf, town on the Kdsimbdzir
river, 9I.

PAnipAT, battle of, mentioned,
16, 173+

PArADIS, sent by Dupleix to
relieve Madras, 37: entered
Madras, 38.

PARKER, John Neville, tried by
court-martial, 189 ; reinstated,

189.

ParsHAW, Capt.-Lieut., at Council
of War, 93.

Parn4, capital of Bihdr, Clive
accompanied Mfr Jafar to, 117:
(live entered and subdued, 123:
Mir Jafar conferred jdgir on
Clive at, 123 : Patnd stormed,
151: English plunders at, 155 :
Mir Kdsim died at, 158.

Prace oF Paris, Clive voted
against, 145.

PEERAGE, Clive raised to an Irish,
143,

Peninsular War, by Sir W,
Napier, quoted, 60 n.

PryroN, Commodore, commanded
squadron on Commodore Bar-
nett’s death, 34 : cruised off
Negapatam, 34 : sailed for Trin-
comalee, 34.

Pigor,Mr.,sent with provisions, 49.



226

Pirr,  Mr. (afterwards TLord
Chatham), Secretary of State,
139: Clive's letter to, 139:
Clive describes Mfran as unfit
to succeed, 139, 150: points
urged in the letter, 140: Pitt
unable to answer the letter,
141: Pitt’s opinion of Clive,
141 : resigned, 143: Lord Privy
Seal, 197 : resigned on account
of ill health, 197.

Prassey, army recalled by Clive
from, 84;: Sirdj-ud-dauld sent
an army to, 88: Clive’s army
reached, 94 : battle of, 94-100,
183 : spoils of Plassey, 107-17 :
effects of the spoils, 136.

PonpicHERRY, French settlement,
18 : French squadron anchored
off, 34: Dumas, Governor of,
25: siege of, 30—41: English
officials from Madras sent as
prisoners to, 38 : siege of, 39 :
armies of Chdnda S#hib and
Muzaffar Jang retreated on,
47 : Law distinguished at siege
of, 61.

PRAGMATIC SANCTION,
upholder of, 31.

ProprIETORS, Uourt of, 145-7.

PurniaH, R4j4 of, rebelled against
Mir Jafar, 114-5: went with
Clive to Murshiddbdd to make
peace with Mir Jafar, 116.

England

RacHUIE BHONSLA, leader of the
Mardthds, 25.

R4&7A DuniB RAwm, joined Clive,
86 : position of his troops at
Plassey, 97: treacherously ad-
vised Sirdj-ud-dauld to flee from
Plassey to Murshiddbdd, 101 :
Finance Minister, 107, 114:
retired to his palace, 114:
refused all intercourse with Mir
Jafar, 114 : reconciliation with
Mir Jafar, 117, 168.

RAgA SAHIB, son of Chdnda S#hib,
in command at North Arcot,
54 : joined by the French, 54 :
siege of Arcot, 55 : retreated to

INDEX

Vellore, 55: defeated at Arni,
57-8: took Punamallu, 62 :
repaired damage at Kanchi-
puram,62 : encamped at Venda-
ldr, 62-3: quitted Vendaldr,
63 : in ambush at Kdveripdk,
64 : remarkable battle of K-
veripdk, 64-6: defeated by
Clive, 66 : retreated to Sering-
ham, 68.

RAIMAHAL, Sirdj-ud-dauld dis-
covered hiding at, 112: Mir
Jafar and Clive at, 116.

Rio, Clive delayed for nine
months at, 12: Clive picked
up a little Portuguese at, 12.

RumBoLD, Captain, at Council of
War, g2.

SAdpAaT-vLLA KHAN, Nawdb of
the Karndtik, 23 : died in 1732,
23: appointed Dost Alf, his
nephew, to succeed, 23 : Bakar
Alf to be Governor of Vellore,
23: and Ghuldm Husén or
Chdnda Sdhib to be Diwdn
afterwards, 23.

SarpAr ALf, son of Dost Alf,
sent to capture Trichinopoli, 24:
proclaimed Nawdb, 25: per-
suaded Mardthds to advance
on the Karndtik, 26: siege of
Trichinopoli, 26, surrendered,
26 : sent his family to Madras,
27 : took refuge at Vellore, 27 :
poisoned by his brother-in-law,
27 : his son proclaimed Nawdb
by the army, 27.

Saryup MuraMmap KHAN, son of
Safdar Alf, proclaimed Nawdb,
27: Anwar-ud-din appointed
his guardian, 28 : murdered, 30.

SALABAT JANG, proclaimed Stibah-
dér on the death of Muzaffar
Jang, 48.

SALLUSTIAN MOTTO, quoted, 16.

SALT MONOPOLY, 164, 165.

SAMIAVERAM, occupied by Clive,
68 : battle at, 69~72: Clive’s

- victory, 73, 183, 211. ;

SAMRU, Armenian, in command of
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a special brigade, 153-4: sent
to Baksar, 156.

SARFARAZ, son of, at Dhékd, in
rebellion against Mir Jafar,
115,

SArARA, Chénda Sghib, prisoner
at, 26, 31 : Muzaffar Jang pro-
ceeded to, 44.

SAUNDERS, Mr., Governor of Fort
St. David, 49 : sent Clive under
Mzr. Pigot to take provisions to
Trichinopoli, 49 : gave Clive his
captaincy, 50 : sent him to De-
vikota, 50.

Scorr, Colonel, nominated Com-
mander, with Clive as second,
77+ his death, 77.

ScrRAFTON, Mr., sent to escort
Mir Jafar to Clive’s camp, 107 :
informed Aminchand of false
document, 113 : appointed Super-
visor, 199: Letters, quoted,
160 7.

SeLEcT COMMITTEE appointed, 147,
161, 191 : opposition of, 166.
SERINGHAM, island to which French

retreated from Trichinopoli, 68,

69.

S¥r, banking-house of the Sét
family, 168.

SHAR Avrfm, troops of, repulsed
the invasion of Bihdr, 153:
installed Mfr Kdsim as Stbah-
ddr, 153 : Clive’s dealing with,
171 : his capital occupied by the
Afghdns, 171: meeting with
Clive at Allahdbdd, 174.

SIRAJ-UD-DAULA, Stbahddr, 78:
seized factory at Kdsimbdzdr,
78 : marched to Calcutta, 78 :
took possession, 78: Black
Hole of Calcutta, 78-9: Mur-
shiddbdd capital of, %8, 85:
grandson of Alf Vardi Khdn,
85: overtures to Bussy at
Haidardbdd, 87 : to the Marg-
thds, 87: to Delhi, 88: to
Nawidb-Wazir of Oudh, 88:
quarrelled with Mir Jafar, 83:
reconciliation with Mir Jafar to
fight against Clive, 88: sent
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his army to Kdsimbdzdr, 88:
Clive sent declaration of war to,
91: at Plassey, 95: fled to
Murshiddbdd, 101, 112: dis-
covered hiding at Réjmahdl,
112: made over to Mir Jafar,
112 : interview with Mir Jafar,
112: stabbed, 112.

Stvadi, built a fort at Gherid, 77.

Smirs, Captain F., 187 : at Mun-
gir, 187.

SurrH, Colonel, 186 : commanding
at Surdjpur, 186: nominated
Commander-in-chief by Clive,
191,

SumirH, Major, 186 : commanding
at Allahdbdd, 186: arrested
officers, 186.

SraNHOPE, Earl, quoted, 192, 209,
210 and n., 211: History of
England, 202 n.

STANLEY, Mr., proposed an amend-
ment in the attack against
Clive, 208.

Sr. Frais, Mons., commanding
Freneh at Plassey,96: formerly
member of Council of Chandra-
nagar, 96: commenced action
at Plassey, 98 : remained when
Sirdj-ud-dauld fled, 101: met
by Kilpatrick, 102 : retreated,
103: his final resistance and
death, 104.

STERLING, Mr., private school in
Hertfordshire, where Clive went
on leaving Merchant Taylors’,
until he was nominated writer
in the service of the East India
Company, 10.

StycHE, Robert Clive born at, g.

S¢BAH, province, 17, 166, 177.

SUBAHDAR, chief of a sdibah or
province, 17: Nizdm-ul-Miilk,
Stbahddr of the Deccan, 23:
on his death struggles for suc-
cession, 44-7 : Ali Vardi Kh4n,
Stbahddr of Bengal, Bihdr and
Orissa, 85: Sirdj-ud-dauld suc-
ceeded him, 85: attempts to
dethrone the Stubahddr, 86.

SuLivan, Mr, Lawrence, Chairman

P2
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of Court of Directors, 144:
enemy of Clive, 144, 203 : ex-
cluded Clive from seat in the
India House, 145: elected at
Court of Proprietors, 145: his
candidates for second election
defeated, 14Y%.

SUMNER, Mr., accompanied Clive
to Calcutta, 148, 159.

SURAJPUR, Colonel Smith stationed
at, 186.

SYKES, accompanied Clive back
to Caleutta, 148, 159 : agent at
Murshid4b4d, 166 : member of
Select Committee, 191.

Tacrrus, quoted, 139.
TANJORE, troops sent from Fort
St. David to help the ex-Rdj4,

42.
THOME, St., battle at, 37.
THURLOW, A ttorney-General, sup-

ported Burgoyne in his attack

against Clive, 205.

Tiuerf, Clive’s victory at, 53:
Clive takes the fort of, 56.

Transactions in India, quoted,
156 and .

TRAVANCORE, independent  terri-
tory, 17%. !

TricEINOPOLI, kingdom claimed
by the Naw#bs of the Karn4tik,
18: death of the ruler of, 24:
captured by Dost Alf, 24:
Chdnda Sghib, Governor of, 24 :
taken by the Mardthds, 25:
siege of, 26 : surrender of, 26 :
yielded by the Mardthds to
Nizdm-ul-Mdlk, 28: Clive es-
corted troops on their way to,
49 : sent with Major Lawrence
-to report from, 50 : besieged by
Chénda Sdhib, 51: Law in
command of French troops and
sipdhfs before Trichinopoli, 61.

TRINCOMALEE, the English squad-
ron sailed away from the French

to, 34.

UnpwA NALA, taken by Major
Adams, 157.

INDEX

UrArur, d’Auteuil at, 68.

VANSITTART, successor to Clive,
136, 149: his character, 149-
50: bribed by Mfr Kdsim, 152 :
torced Mir Jafar to Tesign, 153 :
appointed Supervisor, 199.

VELLORE, Safdar Al{ took refuge
at, 27 : Murtizd4 Alf, Governor
at, 27.

VENDALGR, French encampment
at, 62-3 : French quit, 63: Clive
at, 64.

VERDACHELAM, the point to which
Clive accompanied the troops
with provisions for Trichinopoli,

49.

VERELST, appointed Governor by
Clive, 190, 196, 198.

Vizacararay, Colonel  Ford at,
122.

Viz1aAprUG, harbour of, 77.

ViziANaGRraM, letter to Clive de-
manding troops from Rdj4 of,
12I.

VoLEoNDA, Clive sent under Cap-
tain Gingens to, 48 : surrender
of d’Auteuil at, 73.

Voyage and Historical Narra-
tive, by Ives, quoted, 94 mn.,

97 n.

WacaoNNER, Captain, at Council
of War, 93.

‘WALSH, sent with Watts to Mad-
hupur, 111: Clive’s secretary,
140: charged with the letter to
Mr. Pitt, 140.

WANDIWASH, Saiyud Muhammad
Khén and his mother sent to,

27.

War in India, by Cambridge,
quoted, 43 n.

‘WarsoN, Admiral, in command
of squadron, %8: destroyed
Gherid, 78 : sent to the Hugli,
80: arrived at Falta, 8o-1:
anchored at Maidpur, 81:
nominated Major Eyre Coote,
Governor of Calcutta, 82 : took
possession himself, 82 : handed
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keys to Drake, 82: objected to
sign false document regarding
Aminchand’s demand, 87.

Warrs, Mr., English agent at
Kiésimbdzdr, 86, 87 : at Kalnd,
92: his letter to Clive with
news of Mir Jafar’s faithless-
ness, 92 : denounced as spy, 92
sent to Madhupur, I11.

‘WEDDERBURN, Mr., able lawyer
and ally of Clive, 198 Solicitor-
General, 203.

‘WELLESLEY, Marquess, mentioned,
122.

‘WHaEELER, Talboys, quoted, 177
and n., 178 n.

‘WHITE TOWN, a division of Madras,

19.
‘WiLson, Prof. H. H., quoted,

37

WiLsoN, Commodore, sent by
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Clive to demand apology from
the Dutch, failing which, to
attack their squadron, 130:
Dutch refusal and consequent
attack, 130: completely defeated
Duteh, 131.

WRITER in the service of the East
India Company, duties of, 12:
Clive appointed, 10, 11,12 : not
congenial to Clive, 12.

Yir Lurr KHAN, a commander
in Sirdj-ud-dauld’s army, 86:
offered to join Clive to displace
Sirdj-ud-dauld, and to become
himself Stdbahddr, 86, 107:
position of his troops at Plassey,

97-

ZAMiNDARI, conferred on Clive by
Mir Jafar, 123.

THE END.
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the Mughal Emperors; The Life of Stratford Canwing ;
Catalogue of Indian Coins in the British Musewm, d&c.
[Puablished.]

1V. MADHAVA RAO SINDHIA : and the Hind Reconquest, of
India, by H.G.KgENE, Esq., M.A., C.LE., Author of The
Moghul Empire, &e. [Published.]

V. LORD CLIVE: and the Establishment of the Englisk in India,
by Cononer MarLeson, C.S.I.  [Published.]

VI. DUPLEIX : and the Struggle for India by the European
Nations, by CoLoNiL MaLLeson, C.S.I, Author of The
History of the French in India, &c. [Published.] Third
thousand.

VII. WARREN HASTINGS: and the Founding of the British
Administration, by CapTAIN L. J. TRoTTER, Author of India
under Victoria, &c. [Published.] Third thousand.

VIII. THE MARQUESS CORNWALLIS: and the Consolida-
tion of DBritish Rule, by W. S. SEroN-KARR, Esq., sometime
Toreign Secretary to the Government of India, Author of
Selections from the Calcutta Gazettes, 3 vols. (1784-1805).
[Published.] Third thousand.

IX. HAIDAR ALI AND TIPU SAHEB : and the Struggle with
the Muhammadan Powers of the South, by LEWIN BENTHAM
Bowring, Ksq., C.S.1., sometime Private Secretary to the
Viceroy (Lord Canning) and Chief Commissioner of Miysore.
Author of Eastern Eaperiences.

X. THE MARQUESS WELLESLEY : and the Development of
the Company into the Supreme Power in India, by the Rev.
W. H. Hurron, M.A., Fellow and Tutor of St. John’s
College, Oxford. [Ready.])

XI. THE MARQUESS OF HASTINGS: and the Final Overthrow

¥ of the Mardthé Power, by MaJor Ross OF BLADENSBURG,
(.B., Coldstream Guards; F.R.G.S. [Published.]

XII. MOUNTSTUART ELPHINSTONE : and the Making of
South- Western. India, by J. S. Corrox, Esq., M.A., formerly
Fellow of Queen’s College, Oxford, Author of 7%e Decennial
Statement of the Moral and Material Progress and Condition
of India, presented to Parliament (1885), &c. [Published.]



RuLERs oF INDIA SERIES (continued).

XIII. SIR THOMAS MUNRO : and the British Settlement of the
Madras Presidency, by JoEN BRADSHAW, Esq., M.A., LL.D.,
H.M.’s Inspector of Schools, Madras. [In the Press.]

XI1V. EARL AMHERST: and the British Advance eastwards
to Burma, chiefly from unpublished papers of the Amherst
family, by T. W. RicaMoNDp RircHIe, Esq., of the India
Office. )

XV.LORD WILLIAM BENTINCK : and the Company as a
Governing. and Non-trading Power, by DEMETRIUS BOULGER,
Esq., Author of England and Russia in Central Asia: The
History of China, &e. [Published.]

XVI EARL OF AUCKLAND : and the First Afghan War, by
CaPTAIN L, J. TROTTER, Author of India under Victoria, dec.
[Published. ]

XVILVISCOUNT HARDIN GE : and the Advance of the British
Dominions into the Punjab, by his Son and Private Secretary,
the Right Hon. Viscount HARDINGE. [Published.] Third
thousand.

XVIIL. RANJIT SIN GH : and the Sikh Barrier between our Growing
Empire and Central Asia, by Sir Leper GrirriN, K.C.8.1.,
Author of 7he Punjab Chiefs, &c. [Published.]

XIX.THE MARQUESS OF DALHOQUSIE: and the Final
Development of the Company’s Rule, by SIR WiLLIAM WILSON
Hunter, K.C.S.I., M.A. [Published.] Fourth thousand.

XX.CLYDE AND STRATHNAIRN : and the Suppression of
the Great Revolt, by MAJOR-GENERAL Sik OWEN TUDOR
Burng, K.C.S.I., sometime Military Secretary to the Com-
mander-in-Chief in India. [Published.] Third thousand.
XXI. EARL CANNING : and the Transfer of India from the
Company to the Crown, by SIR HENRY S. CUNNINGHAM,
K.C.LE., M.A., Author of British India and its Rulers, d&c.
[Published.] Third thousand.
XXII. LORD LAWRENCE : and the Reconstruction of India under
the Crown, by Sk CHARLES UMPHERSTON A1TcHISON, K.C.S.1.,
LL.D., formerly Foreign Secretary to the Government of India,
and late Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, [Published.]
XXIIIL.THE EARL OF MAYO: and the Consolidation of the
Queen’s Rule in India, by S1k WiLLiam WinsoN HUNTER,
K.C.8.1, M.A,, LL.D. [Published.] Third thousand.

SUPPLEMENTARY VOLUMES,

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE INDIAN PEOPLELS,
by Sz Winniam Winson Hunmer, K.C.S.I. Twentieth
Edition ; 78th thousand. Price 3s. 64. [Published.]

JAMES THOMASON : and the British Settlement of North-
Western India, by Sik RicHARD TEMPLE, Bart., M.P., formerly
Lieutenant-Giovernor of Bengal, and Governor of Bombay.
Price 3s. 6d. [Published. ]



Dpiniong of the Press
ON
SIR WILLIAM HUNTER'S ‘DALHOUSIE’

¢ An interesting and exceedingly readable volume. .. . . Sir William
Hunter has produced a valuable work about an important epoch in
English history in India, and he has given us a pleasing insight into
the character of a remarkable Englishman. The ¢ Rulers of India ”
series, which he has initiated, thus makes a guccessful beginning in his
hands with one who ranks among the greatest of the great names which
will be associated with the subject.’—The Times.

<To no one is the credit for the improved condition of public intelli-
gence [regarding India] more due than to Sir William Hunter, From
the beginning of his career as an Indian Civilian he has devoted a rare
literary faculty to the task of enlightening his countrymen on the subject
of England’s greatest dependency . ... By inspiring a small army of
fellow-labourers with his own spirit, by inducing them to conform to his
own method, and shaping a huge agglomeration of facts into a lucid and
intelligible system, Sir W. Hunter has brought India and its innumer-
able interests within the pale of achievable knowledge, and has given
definite shape to the truths which its history establishes and the
problems which it suggests. . .. Such contributions to literature are apt to
be taken as a matter of course, because their highest merit is to conceal
the labour, and skill, and knowledge involved in their production ; but
they raise the whole level of public intelligence, and generate an
atmosphere in which the baleful influences of folly, ignorance, prejudice,
and presumption dwindle and disappear.’—=Saturday Review.

¢ Admirably calculated to impart ina concise and agreeableform a clear
general outline of the history of our great Indian Empire.’— Economist.

¢ A gkilful and most attractive picture. . . . The author has made good
use of public and private documents, and has enjoyed the privilege of
being aided by the deceased statesman’s family. His little work is,
consequently, a valuable contribution to modern history.'—d cademy.

¢ The book should command a wide circle of readers, not only for its
author's sake and that of its subject, but partly at least on account of
the very attractive way in which it has been published at the moderate
price of half-a-crown. But it is, of course, by its intrinsic merits alone
that a work of this nature should be judged. And those merits are
everywhere conspicuous. ... A writer whose thorough mastery of all
TIndian subjects has been acquired by years of practical experience and
patient research,'—T'he Atheneum.

¢ Never have we been so much impressed by the great literary abilities
of Sir William Hunter as we have been by the perusal of “The Marquess
of Dalhousie.” . . . The knowledge displayed by the writer of the motives
of Lord Dalhousie’s action, of the inner working of his mind, is so com-
plete, that Lord Dalhousie himself, were he living, could not state them
more clearly. . . . Sir William Hunter’s style is so clear, his language
g0 vivid, and yet so simple, conveying the impressions he wishes so per-
spicuously that they cannot but be understood, that the work must have
a place in every library, in every home, we might say indeed every
cottage.'— Fvening News.

«Sir William Hunter has written an admirable little volume on
«The Marquess of Dalhousie ” for his series of the Rulers of India.”
It can be read at a sitting, yet its references—expressed or implied—
suggest the study and observation of half alife-time.'— The Daily News.



Dpinions of the JPress
ON
SIR WILLIAM HUNTER’S ‘LORD MAYO.

‘Sir William W. Hunter has contributed a brief but admirable
biography of the Earl of Mayo to the series entitled * Rulers of India,”
edited by himself (Oxford, at the Clarendon Press).’—The Times.

‘In telling this story in the monograph before us, Sir William
Hunter has combined his well-known literary skill with an earnest
sympathy and fulness of knowledge which are worthy of all commenda-
tion. . . . The world is indebted to the author for a fit and attractive
record of what was eminently a noble life.’— The Academy.

‘The sketch of The Man is full of interest, drawn as it is with com-
plete sympathy, understanding, and appreciation. But more valuable
is the account of his administration. No one can show so well and
clearly as Sir William Hunter does what the policy of Lord Mayo con-
tributed to the making of the Indian Empire of to-day.’—The Scotsman.

¢ Sir William Hunter has given us a monograph in which there is a
happy combination of the essay and the biography. We are presented
with the main features of Lord Mayo’s administration unencumbered
with tedious details which would interest none but the most official of
Anglo-Indians ; while in the biography the man is brought before us,
not analytically, but in a life-like portrait.’—Vanity Fair.

¢ The story of his life Sir W, W. Hunter tells in well-chosen language
—clear, succinct, and manly. Sir W. W. Hunter is in sympathy with
his subject, and does full justice to Mayo’s strong, genuine nature.
Without exaggeration and in a direct, unaffected style, as befits his
theme, he brings the man and his work vividly before us.’—Z%he
Glasgow Herald.

¢ All the knowledge acquired by personal association, familiarity with
administrative details of the Indian Government, and a strong grasp of
the vast problems to be dealt with, is utilised in this presentation of
Lord Mayo’s personality and career. Sir W, Hunter, however, never
overloads his pages, and the outlines of the sketch are clear and firm.’
—The Manchester Fapress.

¢ This is another of the ** Rulers of India” series, and it will be hard
to beat. . . . Sir William Hunter’s perception and expression are here at
their very best.’—T'he Pall Mall Gazette.

¢The latest addition to the ¢ Rulers of India ” series yields to none of
its predecessors in attractiveness, vigour, and artistic portraiture. . . .
The final chapter must either be copied verbally and literally—which
the space at our disposal will not permit—or be left to the sorrowful
perusal of the reader. The man is not to be envied who can read it with
dry eyes.’—Allen’s Indian Mail.

“ The little volume which has just been brought out is a study of Lord
Mayo’s career by one who knew all about it and was in full sympathy
with it. ... Some of these chapters are full of spirit and fire. The
closing passages, the picture of the Viceroy’s assassination, cannot fail
to make any reader hold his breath. We know what is going to
happen, but we are thrilled as if we did not know it, and were still
held in suspense, The event itself was so terribly tragic that any
ordinary description might seem feeble and laggard. But in this
volume we are made to feel ag we must have felt if we had been on
the spot and seen the murderer * fastened like a tiger ” on the back of
the Viceroy,’—Daily News, Leading Article. ;



Dpinions of the Press

ON
MR.W.S.SETON-KARR’S‘CORNWALLIS.

‘ This new volume of the *“ Rulers of India ” series keeps up to the
high standard set by the author of # The Marquess of Dalhousie.” For
dealing with the salient passages in Lord Cornwallis’s Indian career no
one could have been better qualified than the whilom foreign secretary
to Lord Lawrence.'—Z%e Atheneum.

‘ Lord Cornwallis has been very properly included in the list of those
““Rulers of India” whose biographies are calculated to illustrate the
past growth and present development of the English administration in
that country. His name is connected with several great measures,
which more, perhaps, than any others have given a special colour to our
rule, have influenced the course of subsequent legislation, and have made
the Civil Service what it at present is. He completed the administrative
fabric of which Warren Hastings, in the midst of unexampled difficulties
and vicissitudes, had laid the foundation.'—7The Saturday Review.

‘We hope that the volumes on the “Rulers of India” which are
being published by the Clarendon Press are carefully read by a large
section of the public. There is a dense wall of ignorance still standing
between the average Englishman and the greatest dependency of the
‘Crown ; although we can scarcely hope to see it broken down altogether,
some of these admirable biographies cannot fail to lower it a little. . . .
Mr. Seton-Karr has succeeded in the task, and he has not only pre-
sented a large mass of information, but he has brought it together in an
attractive form, . . . We strongly recommend the book to all who wish
to enlarge the area of their knowledge with reference to India.'—New
York Herald,

‘The ‘““Rulers of India” series. This outcome of the Clarendon
Press grows in value as it proceeds. The account of Cornwallis is from
the pen of Mr. W. Seton-Karr, who was formerly Foreign Secretary to
the Government of India, and whose acquaintance with Eastern affairs
has been of obvious service to him in the compilation of this useful
manual.'—T%e Globe.

‘ One might almost say that the history of our great Indian Empire
might be read with comparative ease in the excellent “ Rulers of India
Series,” published at the Clarendon Press at Oxford. ... Of Cornwallis
it might be said he transformed the East India Company’s servants
from merchants to administrators, and determined to place them above
jobbery, which he despised.’—The Independent.

¢ We have already expressed our sense of the value and timeliness of
the series of Indian historical retrospects now issuing, under the editor-
ship of Sir W. W. Hunter, from the Clarendon Press. Itis somewhat
less than fair to say of Mr. Seton-Karr’s monograph upon Cornwallis
that it reaches the high standard of literary workmanship which that
series has maintained. . . . His accurate and lucid summary of the necessi-
ties which dictated Cornwallis’s policy, and the methods by which he
initiated and, to a great extent, effected, the transformation of our rule
in India from the lines of an Oriental despotism to those with which we
are now familiar, is as attractive as it is instructive.’—The Literary
World.



Dpinions of the Press

ON

COLONEL MALLESON’S ‘DUPLEIX.

‘In the character of Dupleix there was the element of greatness
that contact with India seems to have generated in so many European
minds, French as well as English, and a broad capacity for govern-
ment, which, if suffered to have full play, might have ended in giving
the whole of Southern India to France. Even as it was, Colonel
Malleson shows how narrowly the prize slipped from French grasp.
In 1783 the Treaty of Versailles arrived just in time to save the
British power from extinction.’— Z%mes.

‘One of the best of Sir W. Hunter’s interesting and valuable series.
Colonel Malleson writes out of the fulness of familiarity, moving with
ease over a field which he had long ago surveyed in every nook and
corner. To do a small book as well as this on Dupleix has been done,
will be recognised by competent judges as no small achievement.
When one considers the bulk of the material out of which the little
volume has been distilled, one can still better appreciate the labour
and dexterity involved in the performance.'—Academy.

‘A most compact and effective history of the French in India in a
little handbook of 180 pages.'—Nonconformist.

¢ Well arranged, lucid and eminently readable, an excellent addition
to a most useful series.'—Record.

COLONEL MALLESON’S ‘AKBAR.

¢ Colonel Malleson’s interesting monograph on Akbar in the ‘“ Rulers
of India” (Clarendon Press) should more than satisfy the general
reader. Colonel Malleson traces the origin and foundation of the
Mughal Empire ; and, as an introduction to the history of Muhamma-
dan India, the book leaves nothing to be desired.—St. James's Gazette.

¢ This volume will, no doubt, be welcomed, even by experts in
Indian history, in the light of a new, clear, and terse rendering of an
old, but not worn-out theme., It is a worthy and valuable addition
to Sir W. Hunter’s promising series.’—A theneum.

¢ Colonel Malleson has broken ground new to the general reader.
The story of Akbar is briefly but clearly told, with an account of what
he was and what he did, and how he found and how he left India. . . .
The native chronicles of the reign are many, and from them it is still
possible, as Colonel Malleson has shown, to construct a living portrait
of this great and mighty potentate.’—Scofs Observer.

‘The brilliant historian of the Indian Mutiny has been assigned in
this volume of the series an important epoch and a strong personality
for critical study, and he has admirably fulfilled his task. . . . Alike in
dress and style, this volume is a fit companion for its predecessor.’—
Manchester Guardian.



Dpinions of the JPress

ON

CAPTAIN TROTTER'S ‘WARREN HASTINGS.

‘The publication, recently noticed in this place, of the “ Letters,
Despatches, and other State Papers preserved in the Foreign Depart-
ment of the Government of India, 1772-1785,” has thrown entirely new
light from the most authentic sources on the whole history of Warren
Hastings and his government of India. Captain L. J. Trotter’s
WaARREN HASTINGS, a volume of the ¢ Rulers of India” series, edited
by Sir W. Hunter (Oxford, at the Clarendon Press), is accordingly
neither inopportune nor devoid of an adequate raison d’é¢tre. ‘ The
present volume,” says a brief preface, ¢ endeavours to exhibit for the
first time the actual work of that great Governor-General, as reviewed
from the firm stand-point of the original records now made available to
the students of Indian history.” Captain Trotter is well known as a
competent and attractive writer on Indian history, and this is not the
first time that Warren Hastings has supplied him with a theme.,'—
The Times.

¢ He has put his best work into this memoir . . . Captain Trotter’s
memoir is more valuable [than Sir A. Lyall’s] from a strictly historical
point of view. It contains more of the history of the period, and it
embraces the very latest information that casts light on Hastings’ re-
markable career . .. His work too is of distinct literary merit, and is
worthy of a theme than which British history presents none nobler.
It is a distinct gain to the British race to be enabled, as it now may,
to count the great Governor-General among those heroes for whom
it need not blush.’—Secotsman.

¢ Captain Trotter has done his work well, and his volume deserves
to stand with that on Dalhousie by Sir William Hunter. Higher
praise it would be hard to give it.'—New York Herald.

This is an able book, written with candour and discrimination.—
Leeds Mercury.

¢ Captain Trotter has done full justice to the fascinating story of the
splendid achievements of a great Englishman.'— Manchester Guardian.

¢ This neat little volume contains a brief but admirable biography of
the first Governor-General of India. The author has been fortunate in
having had access to State papers which cover the period of the
entire rule of Warren Hastings.’—7Z'he Newcastle Chronicle.

‘In preparing this sketch for “The Rulers of India,” Captain
Trotter has had the advantage of consulting the * Letters, Despatches,
and other State Papers preserved in the Foreign Department of the
Government of India, 1772-85,” a period which covers the entire
administration of Warren Hastings, The present volume, therefore,
may truly claim that it “ exhibits for the first time the actual work of
the great Governor-General, as reviewed from the firm stand-point of
original records.” It is a book which all must peruse who desire to
be “up to date” on the subject.—Z%e Globe.



Dpiniong of the JPress

ON

VISCOUNT HARDINGE'S ‘LORD HARDINGE.

f An exception to the rule that biographies ought not to be entrusted
to near relatives. Lord Hardinge, a scholar and an artist, has given
us an accurate record of his father’s long and distinguished services.
There is no filial exaggeration. The author has dealt with some con-
troversial matters with skill, and has managed to combine truth with
tact and regard for the feelings of others’—Z7"%e Saturday Review.

‘This interesting life reveals the first Lord Hardinge as a brave,
just, able man, the very soul of honour, admired and trusted equally
by friends and political opponents. The biographer . . . has produced a
most engaging volume, which is enriched by many private and official
documents that have not before seen the light.—7%4e Anti-Jacobin.

¢ Lord Hardinge has accomplished a grateful, no doubt, but, from
the abundance of material and delicacy of certain matters, a very
difficult task in a workmanlike manner, marked by restraint and
lucidity.’—7"%e Pall Mall Gazette.

¢ His son and biographer has done his work with a true appreciation
of proportion, and has added substantially to our knowledge of the
Sutlej Campaign.’— Vanity Fair.

¢ The present Lord Hardinge is in some respects exceptionally well
qualified to tell the tale of the eventful four years of his father’s
Governor-Generalship.’—7%e Times.

‘It containg a full account of everything of importance in Lord
Hardinge’s military and political career; it is arranged ... so as to
bring into special prominence his government of India ; and it gives a
lifelike and striking picture of the man.’—Academy.

‘The style is clear, the treatment dispassionate, and the total result
& manual which does credit to the interesting series in which it figures.’
—The Globe,

¢ The concise and vivid account which the son has given of his
father’s career will interest many readers.'—The Morning Post.

¢ Eminently readable for everybody. The historyis given succinetly,
and the unpublished letters quoted are of real value,—Zhe Colonies
and India.

¢ Compiled from public documents, family papers, and letters, this
brief biography gives the reader a clear idea of what Hardinge was,
both as a soldier and as an administrator.”—7T%e Manchester Examiner,
¢ An admirable sketch.’—The New York Herald.

‘The Memoir is well and concisely written, and is accompanied by
an excellent likeness after the portrait by Sir Francis Grant,’—T%e
Queen,



Dpinions of the IPress

ON

MAJOR-GENERAL SIR OWEN BURNE’S
‘CLYDE AND STRATHNAIRN.

“In “Clyde and Strathnairn,” a contribution to Sir William Hunter’s
excellent * Rulers of India” series (Oxford, at the Clarendon Press),
Sir Owen Burne gives a lucid sketch of the military history of the
Indian Mutiny and its suppression by the two great soldiers who give
their names to his book. The space is limited for so large a theme, but
Sir Owen Burne skilfully adjusts his treatment to his limits, and rarely
violates the conditions of proportion imposed upon him.” . . . ¢ Sir Owen
Burne does not confine himself exclusively to the military narrative.
He gives a brief sketch of the rise and progress of the Mutiny, and
devotes a chapter to the Reconstruction which followed its suppression.’
... —well written, well proportioned, and eminently worthy of the
geries to which it belongs.’—7%e Times.

¢Sir Owen Burne who, by association, experience, and relations with
one of these generals, is well qualified for the task, writes with know-
ledge, perspicuity, and fairness.'—Saturday Review.

¢ As a brief record of a momentous epoch in India this little book is
a remarkable piece of clear, concise, and interesting writing.’—T%e
Colonies and India.

‘Sir Owen Burne has written this book carefully, brightly, and
with excellent judgment, and we in India cannot read such a book
without feeling that he has powerfully aided the accomplished editor
of the series in a truly patriotic enterprise.’—Bombay Gazette.

“The volume on “Clyde and Strathnairn” has just appeared and
proves to be a really valuable addition to the series. Considering its
size and the extent of ground it covers it is one of the best books about
the Indian Mutiny of which we know.'—Englishman.

¢Sir Owen Burne, who has written the latest volume for Sir William
Hunter’s ¢ Rulers of India” series, is better qualified than any living
person to narrate, from a military standpoint, the story of the suppres-
gion of the Indian Mutiny.'—Dazly Telegraph.

¢Sir Owen Burne's book on “Clyde and Strathnairn” is worthy to
rank with the best in the admirable series to which it belongs.’—
Manchester Examiner.

¢The book is admirably written; and there is probably no better
sketch, equally brief, of the stirring events with which it deals.’
Scotsman.

¢ Sir Owen Burne, from the part he played in the Indian Mutiny, and
from his long connexion with the Government of India, and from the
fact that he was military secretary of Lord Strathnairn both in India
and in Ireland, is well qualified for the task which he has undertaken.’—
The Athenceum.



Dpiniong of the 1Press
MR. KEENE'S ‘MADHAVA RAO SINDHIA.

¢The life of such a man should be interesting to all those who have en-
tered, however remotely, into theinheritanceof his labours: and Mr. Keene
is well qualified, both by his knowledge of Indian historyand his literary
dexterity in its treatment, to do justice to his subject.’—T%e Z'imes.

¢Mr. Keene has the enormous advantage, not enjoyed by every
producer of a book, of knowing intimately the topic he has taken up.
He has compressed into these 203 pages an immense amount of informa-
tion, drawn from the best sources, and presented with much neatness and
effect . . . Such a life was worth tracing in connection with the general
history of the times; and that is the task which Mr. Keene has so well
fulfilled in this concise, yet attractive, little volume.’—The G'lobe.

¢ In this brief monograph Mr, Keene goes over the ground already tra-
versed by him in his ¢ Fall of the Moghul Empire.” But the particular
work which gives Sindhia his place in Indian history. .. is here made
more clearly manifest,while the book deals almost as much in general his-
tory as in biography . . It is valuable as bringing out the originality as well
as the greatness of the unacknowledged ruler of Hindustan ... The book
is interesting . .. and forms a valuable addition to the series.'—Scotsman.

¢ Mr. Keene tells the story with knowledge and impartiality, and also
with sufficient graphic power to make it thoroughly readable. The

. recognition of Sindhia in the * Rulers” series is just and graceful,

and it cannot fail to give satisfaction to the educated classes of our
Indian fellow-subjects.’—North British Daily Mail.

¢This is probably the most romantic volume in the whole series, and
the Sindhia’s difference in attitude towards De Boigne and Warren
Hastings is very interestingly stated. The history of the foundation of
our Indian Empire receives much elucidation from this admirable
volume.” — Liverpool Mercury.

¢Mr. H.G. Keene, C.I.LE., M.A., has added a very acceptable volume to
the popular half-crown series of works on former potentates in England's
vast Indian dependency . . . From the signal defeat of the Marathas at
Panipat, in 1761, in which engagement Sindhia, after fighting valiantly,
very nearly lost his life, until his death in 1794, his varying fortunes are
traced. The important affairs in which he figured so prominently, as also
the intrigues and machinations that were directed against him, are re-
corded, whilst the desirable effect of his policy in assuaging the fierce
passions and civilising the habits of the people is depicted. The volume
bears incontestable proofs of the expenditurg of considerable research
by the author, and sustains the reputation he had already acquired
by his ““ Sketch of the History of Hindustan,”’—Freeman’s Journal.

¢ Among the eighteen rulers of India included in the scheme of Sir
William Hunter only five are natives of India, and of these the great
Madhoji Sindhia is, with the exception of Akbar, the most illustrious.
Mr. H. G. Keene, a well-known and skilful writer on Indian questions,
is fortunate in his subject, for the career of the greatest bearer of the
historic name of Sindhia covered the exciting period from the capture
of Delhi, the Imperial capital, by the Persian Nadir Shah, to the occu-
pation of the same city by Lord Lake. ... Mr. Keene gives a lucid
description of his subsequent policy, especially towards the English
when he was brought face to face with Warren Hastings. The conclu~
sion of his hostility to us was the real beginning of his own political
career in India.’— Zhe Daily Graphic.



Dpiniong of the JPress

SIR HENRY CUNNINGHAM'S ‘EARL
CANNING.

¢The life of Earl Canning, the Viceroy of the Indian Mutiny, affords
an excellent subject for a biographer who knows his business, and
therefore we need hardly say that ¢ Earl Canning,” by Sir H. S.
Cunningham, K.C.I.E., is an admirable contribution to the series of
the ‘““Rulers of India” edited by Sir W. W. Hunter (Oxford, at the
Clarendon Press). Sir Henry Cunningham’s rare literary skill and his
knowledge of Indian life and affairs are not now displayed for the first
time, and he has enjoyed exceptional advantages .in dealing with his
present subject. Lord Granville, Canning’s contemporary at school
and colleague in public life and one of his oldest friends, furnished his
biographer with notes of his recollections of the early life of his friend.
Sir Henry Cunningham has also been allowed access to the Diary of
Canning’s private secretary, to the Journal of his military secretary,
and to an interesting correspondence between the Governor-General
and his great lieutenant, Lord Lawrence. Of these exceptional ad-
vantages he has made excellent use, and the result is a biography
second in interest to none in the series to which it belongs.’—1'ke Tmes.

¢Sir Henry Cunningham’s “Harl Canning ” is a model monograph.
The writer knows India, as well as Indian history, well ; and his story
has a vividness which none but an Anglo-Indian could so well have
imparted to it. It has also the advantage of being founded to a large
extent on hitherto unused material.’—The Globe.

‘Sir H. S. Cunningham has succeeded in writing the history of a
critical period in so fair and dispassionate a manner as to make it
almost a matter of astonishment that the motives which he has se
clearly grasped should ever have been misinterpreted, and the results
which he indicates so grossly misjudged. Nor is the excellence of his
work less conspicuous from the literary than from the political and
historical point of view. The style is clear and vivid, the language
well chosen and vigorous, the disposition of details and accessories
striking and artistic, and, indeed, under whatever aspect the work be
considered, it reaches the high standard of workmanship which, from
the outset, has been a distinguishing feature of the series.’— Glasgow
Herald.

¢Sir H. S. Cunningham was fortunate, in a literary sense, in the
particular Viceroy and period of Indian history allotted to his pen in
the important and valuable series of biographical volumes on ¢ Rulers
of India,” being published at the Clarendon Press, Oxford, under the
editorship of Sir William Wilson Hunter. In Zarl Canning, first
Viceroy of India, Sir H. S. Cunningbam had a subject sufficiently
inspiring to all who admire honour, courage, patience, wisdom, all the
virtues and qualities which go to the building up of the character of an
ideal English gentleman ; while the episode of the Mutiny, culminating
in the fall of Lucknow, lends itself to the more picturesque and
graphic description. Sir H. S. Cunningham has treated his subject ade-
quately. In vivid language he paints his word-pictures, and with calm
judicial analysis he also proves himself an able critic of the actualities,
causes, and results of the outbreak, also a temperate, just appreciator
of the character and policy of Earl Canning.’—7"he Court Journal.
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Dpinions of the JPress

ON
MR. DEMETRIUS BOULGER'S ‘LORD
WILLIAM BENTINCK.

¢The “ Rulers of India” series has received a valuable addition in
the biography of the late Lord William Bentinck. The subject of this
interesting memoir was a soldier as well as a statesman. He was
mainly instrumental in bringing about the adoption of the overland
route and in convincing the people of India that a main factor in Eng-
lish policy was a disinterested desire for their welfare. Lord William’s
despatches and minutes, several of which are textually reproduced in
Mr. Boulger’s praiseworthy little book, display considerable literary
skill and are one and all State papers of signal worth.’—Daily Tele-
graph.

¢ Mr. Boulger is no novice in dealing with Oriental history and
Oriental affairs, and in the career of Lord William Bentinck he has
found a theme very much to his taste, which he treats with adequate
knowledge and literary skill'—Z%e Times.

¢ His frontier policy was conciliatory, but full of foresight. His minute
on the subject of Afghanistan and the advance of Russia in Asia may
be read with advantage to-day, nearly sixty years after it was written.
Similarly, his observations on the armies of India have lost by no means
all of their force, and Mr. Boulger has done a public service in printing
the document.’—Daily News.

¢ How all this was effected has been clearly and forcibly set forth by
Mr. Boulger. Though concisely written, his memoir omits nothing
really essential to a thorough understanding and just appreciation of
Bentinck’s work, and of the results which flowed from it, even after he
had ceased to be at the head of Indian affairs. Mr. Boulger’s estimate
of the statesman is eminently fair and dispassionate, based on a
thorough knowledge of his administration in all its details. Altogether
the little work is a valuable addition to a most useful series.’—Glasgow
Herald.

¢ Mr. Boulger writes clearly and well, and his volume finds an ac-
cepted place in the very useful and informing series which Sir William
Wilson Hunter is editing so ably.’—Independent.

¢ Lord William Bentinck occupies a distinet place among Indian
Governors-General. His rule may be regarded as the commencement of
an epoch. Mr. Boulger has not to tell a stirring story of war and conquest,
but the record of Lord William Bentinck’s domestic reforms, by which he
began the regeneration of India,is as deeply interesting and certainly
as well worth studying as any chapter of preceding Indian history.
Mr. Boulger has produced an excellent brief history of the period, and
a capital life of the Governor-General, The volume is one of the series
of ¢ Rulers of India,” and none of them is better worthy of perusal.’—
The Scotsman.

¢ Mr. Boulger, it should be added, has done his work with care and
judgment,’— Globe.



Dpinions of the JPress
ON
SIR LEPEL GRIFFIN’S ‘RANJIT SINGH.’

¢Sir Lepel Griffin treats his topic with thorough mastery, and his
account of the famous Mahdrdjd and his times is, consequently, one of
the most valuable as well as interesting volumes of the series of which
it forms a part.’—T%he Globe.

¢ We can thoroughly praise Sir Lepel Griffin’s work as an accurate
and appreciative account of the beginnings and growth of the Sikh
religion and of the temporal power founded upon it by a strong and
remorseless chieftain.’—7%e TWmes.

¢ One of the best books recently published on any Indian question.’—
The Manchester Guardian.

¢ The reading public has here the essence of all that is worth know-
ing about the period.’—T%e Glasgow Evening News.

¢ From first to last it is a model of what such a work should be, and
a classic. The book is one of the most interesting historical sketches
ever given to the public, and illustrated throughout by a unique
aﬁquaintance with the subject, and exquisite point.’—The St. Stephen’s

eview.

¢ Sir Lepel has done justice to one of the most interesting and pic-
turesque episodes of Indian history. In every respect, but perhaps
most of all from the point of view of the general reader who does not
wholly subordinate enjoyment to instruction, the volume is a mosb
acceptable addition to the series.”—71"he Glasgow Herald.

‘The monograph could not have been entrusted to more capable
hands than those of Sir Lepel Griffin, who spent his official life in the
Punjaub, and is an expert in all the knowledge appertaining to a
thorough acquaintance, practical and bookish, with that province. This
is an excellent sketch of Ranjit Singh, his people, and his short-lived
kingdom.'—The Scotsman.

¢At once the shortest and best history of the rise and fall of the
Sikh monarchy.'—Z"he North British Daily Mail.

¢An excellent piece of work—candid, discriminating, and well-
balanced.’—The Yorkshire Post.

¢Not only a biography of the Napoleon of the East, but a luminous
picture of his country ; the chapter on Sikh Theocracy being a notable
example of compact thought. For grasp of subject, careful treatment,
and charm of narration, this volume is second to none in the series. It
may fairly be said to ¢speak volumes,” and possesses an exceptional
value as being by our chief authority on Punjab matters.’—The Liver-
pool Mercury.

¢The career of no Indian ruler since the Moghul Aurungzebe and
the Mahratta Sivaji presents a finer subject for the historian; and it
would be difficult to find a writer better qualified than Sir Lepel Griffin
to deal with such a subject.—T%e St. James’s Gazette.

¢ A truly masterly account of Ranjit Singh and the short-lived Sikh
monarchy of Lahore.'—T%e World.

¢ The sketch is in every respect a masterly one, and proves its author
to be capable of producing something on a larger scale that would be
unsurpassed among histories of our great dependency.’—Z%e Literary
World.
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Dpinions of the Press
ON

MR. J. S. COTTON’S ‘MOUNTSTUART
ELPHINSTONE.

‘Sir William Hunter, the editor of the series to which this book
belongs, was happily inspired when he entrusted the Life of Elphin-
stone, one of the most scholarly of Indian rulers, to Mr, Cotton, who,
himself a scholar of merit and repute, is brought by the nature of his
daily avocations into close and constant relations with scholars. . . . We
live in an age in which none but specialists can afford to give more time
to the memoirs of even the most distinguished Anglo-Indians than will
be occupied by reading Mr. Cotton’s two hundred pages. He has per-
formed his task with great skill and good sense. This is just the kind
of Life of himself which the wise, kindly, high-souled man, who is the
subject of it, would read with pleasure in the Elysian Fields,"—Sir M.
E. Grant Duff, in The Academy.

¢ To so inspiring a theme few writers are better qualified to do ample
justice than the author of ¢ The Decennial Statement of the Moral and
Material Progress and Condition of India.” Sir T. Colebrooke’s larger
biography of Elphinstone appeals mainly to Indian specialists, but
Mr. Cotton’s slighter sketch is admirably adapted to satisfy the growing
demand for a knowledge of Indian history and of the personalities of
Anglo-Indian statesmen which Sir William Hunter has done so much
to create.’—T"he Times.

¢ This is the story of a brilliant life, brilliantly told. Mr. Cotton has
a crisp style, a wide knowledge of Indian history, and a strong sympathy
for his hero—T%he Pall Mall Gazette.

¢ Mr. Cotton’s ¢ Life of Mountstuart Elphinstone” is one of the most
readable of the valuable volumes that have appeared in the series of
‘“Rulers of India.” Mr. Cotton has avoided tediousness by the con-
densation of matter, and has secured the interest and close attention of
his reader by a bright and nimble style which carries him along with
quite exhilarating rapidity, yet without skipping the really salient
features of the period.’—T%e Scotsman.

¢Mr. Cotton has evidently performed a congenial task in writing
this excellent little biography, for he has produced a volume so pleasant
to read that it can scarcely be the result of labour against the grain.
He has given us an account of the public career of a man who, though
he declined the post of Governor-General, well deserves to rank among
the ablest ¢ Rulers of India,” and of those literary pursuits which occu-
pied Elphinstone’s spare time during his period of office, and bore good
and abiding fruit both in his despatches and his historical work.'—Z'he
Journal of Education.

‘The author has evidently taken great pains to make the book what
a monograph of the kind ought to be; and those who are familiar with
Anglo-Indian history during the early part of the current century will
appreciate the praise we offer when we say that he has succeeded in
making it worthy of its subject.’—Z'he World.

¢ A masterpiece of skilful and sympathetic workmanship. , . . Such
a life could scarcely be told without exciting interest: told as it is by
Mr. Cotton, it combines all the qualities of that oft-abused word—fas-
cination.’—T%e Queen,



Dpinions of the JPress

ON

MR. MORSE STEPHENS ‘ALBUQUERQUE.

¢ Mr. Stephens’ able and instructive monograph . .. We may commend
Mr. Morse Stephens’ volume, both as an adequate summary of an
important period in the history of the relations between Asia and
Furope, and as a suggestive treatment of the problem of why Portugal
failed and England succeeded in founding an Indian Empire.’—7T%e
Times.

¢ Mr. H. Morse Stephens has made a very readable book out of the
foundation of the Portuguese power in India. According to the
practice of the series to which it belongs it is called a life of Affonso de
Albuquerque, but the Governor is only the central and most important
figure in a brief history of the Portuguese in the East down to the time
when the Dutch and English intruded on their preserves... A plea-
santly-written and trustworthy book on an interesting man and time.’
—The Saturday Review.

¢ Mr. Morse Stephens’ Albuguerque is a solid piece of work, well put
together, and full of interest.’—Z"%e Atheneum.

¢ Mr. Morse Stephens’ studies in Indian and Portuguese history have
thoroughly well qualified him for approaching the subject . . . He has
presented the facts of Albuquerque’s career, and sketched the events
marking the rule of his predecessor Almeida, and of his immediate
successors in the Governorship and Viceroyalty of India in a compact,
lucid, and deeply interesting form.’—The Scotsman.,

SIR CHARLES AITCHISON'S‘LORD LAWRENCE.

‘No man knows the policy, principles, and character of John
Lawrence better than Sir Charles Aitchison. The salient features
and vital principles of his work as a ruler, first in the Punjab, and
afterwards as Viceroy, are set forth with remarkable clearness.’—
Scotsman.

¢ A most admirable sketch gf the great work done by Sir John
Lawrence, who not only ruled India, but saved it.’—Manchester
Eoaminer.

¢Sir Charles Aitchison’s narrative is uniformly marked by directness,
order, clearness, and grasp; it throws additional light into certain
nooks of Indian affairs; and it leaves upon the mind a very vivid
and complete impression of Lord Lawrence’s vigorous, resourceful,
discerning, and valiant personality.’—Newcastle Daily Chronicle.

¢Sir Charles knows the Punjab thoroughly, and has made this little
book all the more interesting by his account of the Punjab under John
Lawrence and his subordinates.’—Yorkshire Post.



Dpinions of the Press

ON

MAJOR ROSS OF BLADENSBURG’S
‘MARQUESS OF HASTINGS.

¢ Major Ross of Bladensburg treats his subject skilfully and attrac-
tively, and his biography of Lord Hastings worthily sustains the high
reputation of the Series in which it appears.’—7T%e Tmes.

¢ This monograph is entitled to rank with the best of the Series, the
compiler having dealt capably and even brilliantly with his materials.’
—FEnglish Mail.

¢ Instinct with interest.'— GHlasgow Evening News.

¢ As readable as it is instructive.'—Globe.

¢ A truly admirable monograph.'— Glasgow Herald.

¢ Major Ross has done his work admirably, and bids fair to be one of
the best writers the Army of our day has given to the country. ... A
most acceptable and entrancing little volume.’—Daily Chronicle.

‘It is a volume that merits the highest praise. Major Ross of
Bladensburg has represented Lord Hastings and his work in India
in the right light, faithfully described the country as it was, and in
a masterly manner makes one realize how important was the period
covered by this volume.—Manchester Courier.

¢ This excellent monograph ought not to be overlooked by any one
who would fully learn the history of British rule in India.’—Manchester
Lxaminer.

MR. S. LANE-POOLE’S ‘AURANGZIB.

‘There is no period in Eastern history so full of sensation as the
reign of Aurangzib. ... Mr. Lane-Poole tells this story admirably ;
indeed, it were difficult to imagine it better told.’—National Observer.

¢ Mr. Lane-Poole writes learnedly, lucidly, and vigorously. ... He
draws an extremely vivid picture of Aurangzib, his strange ascetic
character, his intrepid courage, his remorseless overthrow of his
kinsmen, his brilliant court, and his disastrous policy ; and he describes
the gradual decline of the Mogul power from Akbar to Aurangzib
with genuine historical insight.’—Z’imes.

‘A well-knit and capable sketch of one of the most remarkable,
perhaps the most interesting, of the Mogul Emperors.—Saturday Review.

‘As a study of the man himself, Mr. Lane-Poole’s work is marked
by a vigour and originality of thought which give it a very exceptional
value among works on the subject.’—Glasgow Herald.

‘The most popular and most picturesque account that has yet
appeared . . . a picture of much clearness and force.”—Globe.

‘ A notable sketch, at once scholarly and interesting.’—English Mail.

‘No one is better qualified than Mr. Stanley Lane-Poole to take up
the history and to depict the character of the last of the great Mogul
monarchs. . . . Aurangzfb’s career is ever a fascinating study.’—
Home News.

¢ The author gives a description of the famous city of Sh{h Jahdn,
its palaces, and the ceremonies and pageants of which they were the
scene. ... Mr. Lane-Poole’s well-written monograph presents all the most
distinctive features of Aurangz{b’s character and career.—Morning Post.



Dpinions of the Press

ON

TROTTER’S ‘EARL OF AUCKLAND’

‘A vivid account of the causes, conduct, and consequences of ¢‘the
costly, fruitless, and unrighteous’ Afghan War of 1838.—S% James’s
Gazette.

¢To write such a monograph was a thankless task, but it has been
accomplished with entire success by Captain L. J. Trotter. He has
dealt calmly and clearly with Lord Auckland’s policy, domestic and
military, with its financial results, and with the general tendency of
Lord Auckland’s rule’— Yorkshire Post.

‘To this distressing story (of the First Afghan War) Captain Trotter
devotes the major portion of his pages. He tells it well and forcibly ;
but is drawn, perhaps unavoidably, into the discussion of many topics
of controversy which, to some readers, may seem to be hardly as yet
finally decided. . .. It is only fair to add that two chapters are devoted
to “ Lord Auckland’s Domestic Policy,” and to his relations with
¢“The Native States of India”.’—7%e Times.

¢ Captain Trotter’s Earl of Auckland is a most interesting book, and
its excellence as a condensed, yet luminous, history of the first Afghan
War deserves warm recognition.’— Scotsman.

Supplementary Volume : price 3s. 6d.
‘JAMES THOMASON, BY SIR RICHARD
TEMPLE.

¢Sir R. Temple’s book possesses a high value as a dutiful and
interesting memorial of a man of lofty ideals, whose exploits were
none the less memorable because achieved exclusively in the field
of peaceful administration.’—Z'imes.

¢ It is the peculiar distinction of this work that it interests a reader
less in the official than in the man himself.’—Scotsman.

‘This is a most interesting book: to those who know India, and
knew the man, it is of unparalleled interest, but no one who has
the Imperial instinct which has taught the English to rule subject
races ‘“for their own welfare” can fail to be struck by the simple
greatness of this character.’—Pall Mall Gazette.

¢ An able and sympathetic memoir of “James Thomason.” The
volume will be gratefully received by all who had the pleasure of
Thomason’s acquaintance.,’—People.

¢Mr. Thomason was a great Indian statesman. He systematised
the revenue system of the North-West Provinces, and improved every
branch of the administration. He was remarkable, like many great
Indians, for the earnestness of his religious faith, and Sir Richard
Temple brings this out in an admirable manner.’—British Weekly.

“The book is “a portrait drawn by the hand of affection,” of one
whose life was ‘“‘a pattern of how a Christian man ought to live.”
Special prominence is given to the religious aspects of Mr. Thomason’s
character, and the result is a very readable biographical sketch.’—
Christian.




: Uniform with the ¢ Rulers of India’ Series, 3s. 6d.
A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE INDIAN
PEOPLES.

SrANDARD EpIrioN (TWENTIETH), REVISED TO 1892.
SEVENTY-EIGHTH THOUSAND,

This Edition incorporates the suggestions received by the author
from Directors of Public Instruction and other educational authorities
in India; its statistics are brought down to the Census of 1891 ; and
its narrative, to 1892, The work has received the emphatic approval
of the organ of the English School Boards, and has been translated
into five languages. It is largely employed for educational purposes in
Europe and America and as a text-book prescribed by the University
of Caleutta for its Entrance Examination from 1886 to 1891.

¢ <A Brief History of the Indian Peoples,” by W. W. Hunter, pre-
sents a sort of bird’s-eye view both of India and of its people from the
earliest dawn of historical records . . . . A work of authority and of
original value.’—7T'he Daily News (London).

¢ Dr. Hunter may be said to have presented a compact epitome of the
results of his researches into the early history of India ; a subject upon
which his knowledge is at once exceptionally wide and exceedingly
thorough."—The Scotsman.

¢ Within the compass of some 250 pages we know of no history of the
people of India so concise, so interesting, and so useful for educational
purposes as this.'—7'"e School-Board Chronicle (London).

¢ For its size and subject there is not a better written or more trust-
worthy history in existence.'—Z%e Journal of Education.

¢ So thoroughly revised as to entitle it to separate notice.’—7he Times.

¢ Dr, Hunter’s history, if brief, is comprehensive. It is a storehouse
of facts marshalled in a masterly style; and presented, as history
should be, without the slightest suspicion of prejudice or suggestion of
partisanship. Dr. Hunter observes a style of severe simplicity, which
i3 the secret of an impressive presentation of details.’—7lhe Duaily
HReview (Edinburgh).

¢ By far the best manual of Indian History that has hitherto been
published, and quite equal to any of the Historical Series for Schools
edited by Dr. Freeman. We trust that it will soon be read in all the
schools in this Presidency.’—Z'%e Times of India.

Extract from a criticism by Edward Giles, Esq., Inspector of Schools,
Northern Division, Bombay Presidency:—¢ What we require is a
book which shall be accurate as to facts, but not overloaded with
them ; written in a style which shall interest, attract, and guide un-
cultivated readers ; and short, because it must be sold at a reasonable
price. These conditions have mever, in my opinion, been realized
previous to the introduction of this book.’

¢ The publication of the Hon, W. W. Hunter’s ‘ School History of
India ” is an event in literary history.—Reis & Rayyet (Calcutta).

¢ He has succeeded in writing a history of India, not only in such a
way that it will be read, but also in a way which we hope will lead
young Englishmen and young natives of India to think more kindly
of each other. The Calcutta University has done wisely in preseribing
this brief history as a text-book for the Entrance Examination.’—7%e
Hindoo Patriot (Calcutta).
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